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IMC EXPLORATION GROUP PLC 
 

(incorporated as a public limited company under the Companies Act 2014, of Ireland with registered number 500487) 

 
Prospectus relating to admission of 240,014,285 ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the Company to the standard 
segment of the Official List and trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market for listed securities 

 
This document, which constitutes a Prospectus for the purpose of the Prospectus Directive, has been prepared in 
connection with the admission of 240,014,285 ordinary shares of €0.001 each ("Ordinary Shares") of IMC Exploration 
Group PLC (the "Company" or "IMC") to the standard segment of the official list (the "Official List") and to trading on the 
London Stock Exchange plc's (the "London Stock Exchange") market for listed securities.  
 
The Central Bank of Ireland is a competent authority under Directive 2003/71/EC (the "Central Bank"). The Central Bank only 
approves this prospectus as  meeting  the requirements  imposed  under  Irish  and  EU  law  pursuant  to  the  Directive 
2003/71/EC. Such  approval  relates  only  to the Ordinary Shares,  which are  to  be  admitted  to  trading  on  a  regulated  
market  for  the  purposes  of Directive  2004/39/EC. 
 
Application will be made (1) to the FCA, in its capacity as competent authority under the FSMA, for a listing of 240,014,285 
Ordinary Shares to be admitted to the Official List of the FCA and (2) to the London Stock Exchange for such Ordinary 
Shares to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market for listed securities, which is a regulated 
market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU (the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II). Admission to the Official 
List and unconditional trading on the London Stock Exchange ("Admission") is expected to take place on or about 30 July 
2018. The Ordinary Shares are expected to be traded under the symbol "IMC". The Ordinary Shares are currently admitted 
to trading on ISDX Growth Market under the symbol "IMCP"; trading on ISDX Growth Market will be cancelled simultaneously 
with admission of the Ordinary Shares to the Official List.  
 
A request has been made to the Central Bank for the Prospectus to be passported to the Financial Conduct Authority in the 
UK under Article 18 of the Prospectus Directive. 
 
This Prospectus is not an offer or invitation to the public to subscribe for Ordinary Shares and has been prepared in order to 
satisfy s85(2) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 of the United Kingdom. This Prospectus is not, and should not 
be construed as an inducement or encouragement to buy or sell any Ordinary Shares. No investment decision relating to the 
Ordinary Shares should be made on the basis of the information contained in this Prospectus. This Prospectus is issued 
solely for the purposes of the admission of the Ordinary Shares to the Official List and to trading on the London Stock 
Exchange's regulated market for listed securities.  
 
This document (including, in particular, the factors described in the "Risk Factors" section of the document) should be read 
as a whole. The distribution of this document in certain jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom may be restricted by law. 
Accordingly, neither this document nor any advertisement may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction except under 
circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this 
document comes should inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. Any failure to comply with these 
restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. This document does not constitute or 
form part of any offer or invitation to sell or issue, or any solicitation of any offer to purchase or subscribe for, any securities 
or any offer or invitation to sell or issue, or any solicitation of any offer to purchase or subscribe for, such securities by any 
person in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. No person has been authorised to give any 
information or make any representations other than those contained in this document and, if given or made, such information 
or representations must not be relied upon as having been so authorised by the Company or the Directors. The Company will 
comply with its obligation to publish a supplementary prospectus containing further updated information if so required by law 
or by any regulatory authority but assumes no further obligation to publish additional information.  
 
IMC’s LEI number is 2138006RYVS4BRW33648, with an annual renewal date of 8 November 2018. 
 
Prospectus dated 12 July 2018.  
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1. Summary  

 
Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as "Elements". These Elements are numbered in Sections A-E 
(A.1 - E.7).  
 
This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and issuer. Because 
some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering sequence of the Elements.  
 
Even though an Element might be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities and issuer, it is 
possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case, a short description of the Element is 
included in the summary with the mention of the words "not applicable".  
 
Section A Introduction and Warnings  

 
Element  
 

   

A.1 Introduction 
and warning  
 

This summary should be read as an introduction to this Prospectus Any decision to 
invest in the securities should be based on consideration of this Prospectus as a 
whole by the investor.  
 
Where a claim relating to the information contained in the prospectus is brought before 
a court, the plaintiff investor might, under the national legislation of the Member 
States, have to bear the costs of translating this Prospectus before the legal 
proceedings are initiated.  
 
Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary, including 
any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate or 
inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the prospectus or if it does not 
provide, when read together with the other parts of the prospectus, key information in 
order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in such securities.  
 

 

A.2 Subsequent 
resale of 
securities or 
final 
placement of 
securities 
through 
financial 
intermediaries  
 

Not applicable  

 

Section B Issuer  
 

Element  
 

   

B.1 Legal and 
commercial 
name 

IMC Exploration Group plc  

B.2 Domicile, legal 
form, legislation 
and country of 
incorporation 

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Ireland. The Company operates under the 
Companies Act 2014, of Ireland with registered number 500487. 

 

B.3 Current 
operations, 
principal 
activities and 
markets 
 

IMC's principal activity is prospecting for gold, silver, base metals and barytes in Ireland, in 
accordance with the terms of the Group’s seven exploration licences. The Group’s main focus is on 
the discovery of gold, silver and base metals with a view to establishing the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable quantities of such metals.  
 

IMC has concluded  an  Agreement on  PL 3850 in Avoca, Co Wicklow with Trove Rehabilitation  
Nominees Limited, a company set up to manage the Agreement, subject to approval from the 
Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment.   
 

 

B.4a Recent trends In October 2017 drilling was carried out in Tulla, Co. Clare on PL 3729.   In early 2018, IMC engaged 
Trove Metal Limited  to commence a feasibility study (the Trove feasibility study)  to report on and 
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detail the potential for a reprocessing project which would extract much of the remaining metal from 
the waste piles on our Avoca licence area PL 3850. This is expected to be completed by end of 
quarter 3,2018. 
 
 

B.5 Group structure IMC Exploration Group PLC is the ultimate holding company of the Group. 
The Company has the following wholly owned subsidiary:  
 

IMC Exploration Limited 
 

 

B.6 Notifiable 
interests, 
different voting 
rights and 
controlling 
interests 

The Company is aware of the following persons who, directly or indirectly, are interested in 3 per 
cent or more of the Ordinary Shares at the date of this document: 
 

Name of shareholder 

Number of 
Ordinary 

Shares 
Percentage of 

share capital  
SVS (Nominees) Limited  
Harewood Nominees Limited 
Trove Rehabilitation Nominees Limited 
Wilhan Limited 
Nial Ring 
Lisa McDonnell 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

50,714,285 
26,000,000 
18,750,000 
15,000,000 
12,833,334 
11,834,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21.12% 
10.83% 
7.81% 
6.24% 
5.34% 
4.93% 

 
 

  
 

   

None of these shareholders has different voting rights from the other holders of Ordinary Shares. As 
far as the Company is aware, it is not controlled by any person, either directly or indirectly.  
 
 

 

B.7 Selected 
historical key 
financial 

The table below sets out the summary audited financial information of the Group for the years ended 
30 June 2015, 2016 and 2017. The information has been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 
 

 Year ended 30 June 
 2017 2016 2015 
 € € € 
Revenue - - - 
Loss for the period (267,507) (410,007) (440,741) 
Loss per share (0.002) (0.004) (0.003) 
Equity attributable to the 
owners of the Company 570,285 565,369 444,230 
Intangible assets 587,665 587,665 524,724 
    
    
    
    
    
    

The table below sets out the summary unaudited financial information of the Group for the six month 
period ended 31 December 2016 and 2017. The information has been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 
 

 Six months 31 December 
  2017 2016 

  € € 
Revenue  - - 
Loss for the period  (74,680) (98,919) 
Loss per share  (0.001) (0.001) 
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Equity attributable to the 
owners of the Company  568,376 466,451 
Intangible assets  587,665 587,665 

 
 

B.8 Selected key 
pro forma 
financial 
information 
 

Not applicable: This Prospectus does not contain pro forma financial information. 
 

 

B.9 Profit forecasts Not applicable: This Prospectus does not contain profit forecasts or estimates. 
 

 

B.10 Qualifications in 
the audit report 

Not applicable: there are no qualifications in the audit reports for the period under review. 
 

 

B.11 Insufficient 
working capital 

The Directors, taking into consideration the requirement to fund the feasibility study currently being 
undertaken by the Group and the Group's spending obligations under the terms of its licences 
(€150,000 in next twelve months), are of the opinion that the Group has sufficient working capital for 
its present requirements and obligations over the next twelve months. Therefore, the Directors 
consider that the Group's minimum expenditure obligations in respect of the ongoing feasibility study 
(€50,000), the minimum expenditure requirements under the terms of the seven licences held 
(€150,000) and its ongoing operational expenses (€100,000) for at least the next twelve months can 
be financed from currently held funds.  
 
 

 

 
Section C Securities  

 
Element  
 

   

C.1 Description of 
type and class 
of securities 
being admitted 
to trading, 
including any 
security 
identification 
number 
 

This Prospectus relates to the application for the Company’s 240,014,285 Ordinary Shares to be 
admitted to the standard segment of the FCA Official List and trading on the London Stock 
Exchange's regulated market for listed securities. 
 
When admitted to trading, the Ordinary Shares will be registered with ISIN IE00B6WC2H62, and it is 
expected that the Ordinary Shares will be traded under the ticker IMC. 
 

 

 

 

 

C.2 Currency of 
securities 
 

The Ordinary Shares are denominated in euro.  

 

 
 
C.3 

 
Number of 
shares issued 
and par value 

 

The nominal value of the total issued share capital of the Company immediately following Admission 
will be € 278,107.00 divided into 240,014,285 ordinary shares of €0.001 each which are issued fully 
paid and 38,093 'A' ordinary shares of €1 each, which are issued partly paid as to €0.25. 
 

 

 

 

 

C.4 Rights attaching 
to the shares 

The Ordinary Shares rank equally for voting purposes. On a show of hands, each shareholder has 
one vote, and on a poll, each shareholder has one vote per Share held.  
 
Each Ordinary Share ranks equally for any dividend declared. Each Ordinary Share ranks equally for 
any distributions made on a winding up of the Company.  
 
As set out in the Company’s articles of association, the calculation of dividends is at the discretion of 
the Directors in such amount as appears to the Directors to be justified by the profits of the 
Company. Periodicity is not relevant, as the payment of dividends is subject to the profits of the 
Company and the judgement of the Directors at the time. It is not in the nature of dividends declared 
on equity share capital to be cumulative. 
 
Each Ordinary Share ranks equally in the right to receive a relative proportion of shares on the event 
of a capitalisation of reserves. 
 
The ‘A’ Ordinary Shares shall entitled the holders thereof to receive notice of, attend but not vote at 
any general meeting of the Company.  
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The ‘A’ Ordinary Shares shall not carry a right for the holders thereof to receive any dividend. 
 
On a distribution of assets arising out of the winding-up of the Company or otherwise the holders of 
the ‘A’ Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to a return of the capital paid up thereon but shall not be 
entitled to participate further in any distribution of surplus assets of the Company. 
 

C.5 Restrictions on 
free 
transferability of 
the Ordinary 
Shares  
 

Not applicable: The Ordinary Shares are freely transferable.  

C.6 Admission Application will be made for the admission of 240,014,285 Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each (the 
“Ordinary Shares”) to the standard segment of the official list and  trading on the London Stock 
Exchange's regulated market for listed securities. Application for admission to the list maintained by 
the FCA in accordance with section 74 (1) of the United Kingdom Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (“Act”) for the purposes of Part VI of the Act (“Official List”).  
 
No application has been made or is currently intended to be made for the Ordinary Shares to be 
admitted to listing or trading on any other exchange.  
 

 

C.7 Dividend policy The Company has never declared or paid a dividend. Neither Irish company law nor the constitution 
of the Company obliges the Company to declare or pay a dividend to its shareholders. The Board 
anticipates that that the Company’s cash resources will be retained for the development of the 
Company’s business. 

 

 
 
 
 
Section D Risks  

 
Element  
 

   

D.1 Information on 
the key risks 
that are specific 
to the Company 
or its industry  
 

Mineral exploration and mining are highly speculative in nature  
Limited Operating History  
Requirement for Substantial Capital Expenditure and further financing 
Operational risks and hazards associated with the mining industry 
Planning and Environmental Issues 
Force Majeure 
Volatility of Mineral Pricing and market fluctuations  
There can be no assurance that the Group’s business model will be commercially viable 
Dependence on Directors 
 
 
 

 

D.3 Information on 
the key risks 
that are specific 
to the  
Ordinary Shares  
 

Dividend Payments 
Share price volatility and limited liquidity associated with the Ordinary Shares 
 
 

 

 
 
 
Section E Offer 

 
Element 
 

   

E.1 Net proceeds 
and expenses 

Not applicable: This Prospectus relates to the application for listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the Official List and admission to trading on the regulated market only. The 
expenses of Admission are expected to amount to €153,000. 
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E.2a Reasons for 
the Offer and 
estimated net 
amount of the 
proceeds 

Not applicable: This Prospectus relates to the application for listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the Official List and admission to trading on the regulated market only. 

 

E.3 Terms and 
conditions of 
the Offer 

Not applicable: This Prospectus relates to the application for listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the Official List and admission to trading on the regulated market only. 
 

 

E.4 Interests 
material to the 
Offer 

Not applicable: This Prospectus relates to the application for listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the Official List and admission to trading on the regulated market only. 
 

 

E.5 Offerors and 
lock-up 
arrangements  
 

Not applicable: This Prospectus relates to the application for listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the Official List and admission to trading on the regulated market only. 

 

E.6 Dilution Not applicable: This Prospectus relates to the application for listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the Official List and admission to trading on the regulated market only. 
 

 

E.7 Expenses Not applicable: This Prospectus relates to the application for listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the Official List and admission to trading on the regulated market only. 

 

 

2. Risk Factors 

 
An investment in the Ordinary Shares involves a high degree of risk. Accordingly, investors should exercise 
particular care in evaluating the risks involved and must decide for themselves after proper consultation whether, 
in light of those risks, their investment is appropriate. The Ordinary Shares should be regarded as a highly 
speculative investment and an investment in Ordinary Shares should only be made by those with the necessary 
expertise to fully evaluate the investment. Prospective investors are advised to consult an independent adviser 
being, if you are in Ireland, a person who is authorised or exempt under the Investment Intermediaries Act 1995 of 
Ireland (as amended) or the Stock Exchange Act, 1995 of Ireland or being, if you are in the United Kingdom, a 
person who is authorised for the purposes of the FSMA. The information set out below does not purport to be an 
exhaustive list or summary of the risks which the Group may encounter and is not set out in any particular order of 
priority.  
 
The Group’s business, financial or operations could be materially and adversely affected by the occurrence of any of 
the risks described below. In such cases, the market price of the Ordinary Shares could decline and investors could 
lose all or part of their investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Directors, or that the 
Directors currently deem immaterial, may also have an adverse effect on the Group. The Directors consider the 
following risk factors to be significant for potential investors, but the list of risks is not intended to be exhaustive nor 
does it comprise all those risks associated with an investment in the Company. Accordingly, investors should exercise 
particular care in evaluating the risks involved and must decide for themselves after proper consultation whether, in 
light of those risks, their investment is appropriate.  
 
(a) Risks relating to the Company and its industry 
 
Mineral exploration and mining are speculative in nature  

 
The business of exploring for and mining minerals involves a degree of risk and only a small proportion of properties 
that are explored worldwide are ultimately developed into producing mines. No success in this respect can be 
guaranteed.  
 
Where exploration has led to increased mineral resources or reserves, the economics of developing mineral properties 
is affected by many factors including the cost of operations, variations of the grade of ore mined, quality and 
availability of geological expertise and such other factors as government regulations.  
 
Due to the speculative nature of exploration and production it may not always be possible for the Group to accurately 
forecast cash flow, operating costs and economic returns. Further, no assurances can be given that any minerals will 
be discovered in economically viable quantities in the geographical locations in which the Group is interested, nor that 
any such reserves can be brought into profitable production. 
 
 
Operating History  

 
The Group has been operating since 2011 and, to date, it has primarily engaged in drilling (29 holes of which 2 relate 
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to PLs relinquished), mapping, geochemistry (soil sampling) and geophysics. Its future success will depend upon the 
Directors’ ability to direct, develop and maximise the potential of the current projects and to identify and take 
advantage of further opportunities which may arise. The Group has no mining interests producing revenues or positive 
cash flow and its ultimate success will depend on its ability to generate cash flow from active mining operations in the 
future and its ability to access equity markets for its development requirements. The Group has not generated profits 
to date and there is no guarantee that it will do so in the future. All of the Group’s activities will be directed to 
exploration and, if warranted, development of its existing properties, the granting of mining licences and to the search 
for and the development of new mineral deposits. Significant capital investment will be required to achieve commercial 
production.  
 
Historical facts, information gained from historic experience, present facts, circumstances and information, and 
assumptions from all or any of these are not a guide to the future. Aims, targets, plans and intentions referred to herein 
are no more than that and do not imply forecasts. The Ordinary Shares should be regarded as a highly speculative 
investment and an investment in Ordinary Shares should only be made by those with the necessary expertise to fully 
evaluate the investment. 
 
Requirement for Substantial Capital Expenditure and further financing 
 
The Company may be unable to obtain needed capital or financing on satisfactory terms or otherwise, which could 
materially adversely affect the business, prospects and financial condition of the Company. The successful extraction 
of mineral resources requires very significant capital investment. Delays in the development of any of the Group’s 
mining projects or drilling projects or other technical difficulties may result in projected target dates for related 
production being delayed and/or further capital expenditure being required.  
 
The Group’s ability to raise further funds will depend on the success of existing and future operations. The Group may 
not be successful in procuring the requisite funds and, if such funding is unavailable, the Group may be required to 
reduce the scope of its operations or anticipated expansion and ultimately the Company may cease to be a going 
concern. In particular, the inability to finance expenditure requirements under the terms of the Group’s licences could 
result in the forfeiture of some, or all, of them. In the event that financing is successful it may mean that new Ordinary 
Shares need to be issued thus diluting the interests of investors at that time.  
 
Significant capital investment will be required to achieve commercial production from the Group’s existing exploration 
projects and from successful exploration effects. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to raise the 
required funds to continue these activities and there can be no guarantee that such funding will ultimately be available. 
 
 
Operational risks and hazards associated with the mining industry 
 
The Group’s exploration activities are, and will be, subject to risks and hazards inherent in the mining industry, 
including but not limited to, variations in grade, deposit size, density, unusual or unexpected rock formations and other 
geological problems, structural cave-ins or slides, seismic activity, flooding, fires, explosions, periodic interruptions due 
to inclement or hazardous weather conditions, environmental hazards, hydrological conditions, delays in installing and 
commissioning plant and equipment, metallurgical and other processing problems, mechanical equipment 
performance problems and other technical problems, the unavailability of materials and equipment including fuel, 
labour force disruptions or shortage of skilled workers, unanticipated interruptions or significant changes in the costs of 
services and supplies including but not limited to water, transport, fuel and power, and unanticipated regulatory 
changes. Should any of these risks and hazards affect any of the Group’s exploration activities, it may cause the cost 
of exploration to increase and may result in a requirement for greater capital or operating expenditure. The cost of 
exploration may also increase to a point where it would no longer be economic to carry out these activities which 
would have a material and adverse effect on the financial condition of the Group. 
 
Problems may also arise due to the quality or failure of locally obtained equipment or interruptions to services (such as 
power, water, fuel or transport or processing capacity) or technical support which results in failure to achieve expected 
target dates for drilling or production activities and/or result in a requirement for greater expenditure. 
 
Planning and Environmental Issues 
 
Under different Acts there are separate but complementary procedures and agencies responsible for land use 
planning control and environmental issues. Whilst the Group has received all necessary environmental and planning 
permissions for its current operations, there can be no guarantee that permissions will be renewed or granted in the 
future. 
 
Force Majeure 

 
The Group’s activities could be impacted by events outside of its control, including acts of God, forces of nature or 
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other natural and unavoidable catastrophes that interrupt the expected course of events, the occurrence of which 
could prevent, restrict or delay the ability of the Group to fulfil its strategy. 
 
Volatility of Mineral Pricing and market fluctuations  
 
The Group’s earnings or other companies that the Group may invest in from time to time may be derived from the 
mining and sale of metals and may, therefore, be related to the market price for those metals. The prices of metals can 
fluctuate significantly and are affected by numerous factors which the Group is unable to control or predict including 
world production levels, international economic trends, the availability of substitute minerals or metals for industrial 
uses, sales and purchases of a particular mineral, forward sales by producers and speculators, levels of mineral 
production and short term changes in international level of supply and demand because of speculative hedging 
activities. 
 
In addition, the profitability of any future mining operations by the Group shall be directly related to the prevailing price 
of the minerals produced. If prices decline for a substantial period below the cost of production at any future mines of 
the Group, it may not be economically feasible to continue production at such mines. A decline in the prevailing price 
of minerals may also require the Group to write-down any mineral resources or mineral reserves, which would have a 
material and adverse effect on future earnings and profitability. 
 
There can be no assurance that the Group’s business model will be commercially viable 
 
The success or otherwise of the Group’s business model can be affected by changes to the industry and /or general 
economic factors. The Board have a defined strategy and are optimistic about the Group’s development prospects; 
however there is no guarantee that the Group’s objectives will be achieved. In addition, actual results of operations 
may require significant modifications to all or part of such model. 
 
 
 
 
Dependence on Directors 

 
The Group is dependent on its current Directors. It has entered into contractual agreements with the aim of securing 
the services of these Directors, however retention cannot be guaranteed. The Group’s business activity and ability to 
fulfil its strategy could be adversely affected by the loss of any Directors.  The recent change of Directors will have no 
adverse effect on the running of the company due to the high calibre, experience and qualifications of the two new 
Directors.   
 

(b) Risks relating to the Ordinary Shares 
 
 

 
Dividend Payments 
 
No dividend has ever been paid by the Group and future profits may be retained for operations to the extent necessary 
to fulfil the Group’s business plan. The Group may not be able to pay cash dividends to its shareholders for the 
foreseeable future, and any decision to pay dividends will depend on the Group’s future profitability, cash availability 
and other factors. The Group has no plans to pay a dividend in the immediate future and no assurance can be given 
that there will ever be any such cash dividend or distribution in future. Any investors who anticipate a need for 
immediate income from their investment should therefore not, purchase any Ordinary Shares.  
 
Share price volatility and limited liquidity associated with the Ordinary Shares 
 
Investors should recognise that the price of securities and the income from them can go down as well as up. The price 
at which the Ordinary Shares may trade and the price which the shareholders may realise for their Ordinary Shares 
will be influenced by a large number of factors, some specific to the Company and some which may affect quoted 
companies generally. These factors could include the performance of the Group’s operations, large purchases or sales 
of Ordinary Shares, liquidity (or absence of liquidity) in the Ordinary Shares, currency fluctuations, legislative or 
regulatory changes and general economic conditions. The value of the Ordinary Shares will therefore fluctuate and 
may not reflect their underlying asset value. 
 
The nature of the Company may result in little or no trading in Ordinary Shares, which may result in shareholders 
being unable to dispose of their shareholdings.  
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There is also no guarantee that the market price of an Ordinary Share will accurately reflect its underlying value. 

3. Responsibility 

 
  

The persons responsible for this document are the Directors of the Company, whose names and functions are set out 
below: 
 
Eamon O’Brien MBA (Chairman) 
Kathryn Byrne ( Director) 
Dr. Glenn Millar MBA (Director / Structural Geologist) 
Andrew (Laz) Fleming (Director / Geologist) 
 

  

Such persons take responsibility for this document and, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the 
case, declare that the information contained in this document is, to the best of their knowledge, in accordance with the 
facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import. 

  

4. Statutory Auditors   

The auditors for the year ended 30 June 2015 were Clifford Desmond & Associates, Chartered Accountants & 
Registered Auditors, 185 Rathmines Road Lower, Dublin 6 and for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2017 were 
O’Leary Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, Whitebeam, 9 Oakglade Crescent, Dublin 24. Both Auditing 
Firms are Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors approved by and under the regulation of Chartered 
Accountants Ireland (The Institute). 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
5. Selected financial information 

  

The following table sets the key audited financial information for the three years ended 30 June 2017 and the key 
unaudited financial information for the six month periods ended 31 December 2016 and 2017: 
 
 

Year ended 30 June  
Audited  

Six months’ ended 
31 December 

Unaudited 

 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 
 € € € € € 
Revenue - - - - - 
Loss for the period (267,507) (410,007) (440,741) (74,680) (98,919) 
Loss per share (0.002) (0.004) (0.003) (0.001) (0.001) 
Equity attributable to the 
owners of the Company 570,285 565,369 444,230 568,376 466,451 
Intangible assets 587,665 587,665 524,724 587,665 587,665 
      
 

  

6. Information on IMC   

6.1 History and development  
 

 

IMC Exploration Group Plc was incorporated on 27 June 2011 in Ireland with registered number 500487 and operates 
under the Companies Act  2014. The Company is a public limited company domiciled in Ireland and is subject to the 
laws of Ireland. The Company’s registered office is 70 Ballybough Road, Ballybough, Dublin 3, Ireland and may be 
contacted on the following telephone number: +353 87 281 9215. 

  
 
 
 

On 10th August 2011 IMC Exploration Group Plc acquired 100% of the entire share capital of IMC Exploration Limited, 
a company incorporated in Ireland on 6th October 2010 with registered number 489863. IMC Exploration Limited, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of IMC Exploration Group Plc, acquired 13 prospecting licences from the Irish government in 
2011: ten licences for base metal exploration in the Irish Base Metal Province and three licences for gold exploration in 
Wicklow/Wexford. 
 
In February and March 2012 the Group was awarded a further eight licences, which it relinquished in January 2015. 
 
On 14 February 2013 the Company announced that it had been awarded two additional prospecting licences in Co. 
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Wicklow. 
 
On 9 September 2015 the Directors announced the completion of an earn-in agreement with Koza Limited, a 
subsidiary of Koza Altin Isletmeleri A.S., following the approval by the Minister for Communications, Minerals and 
Natural Resources.  This agreement related to IMC’s five precious metal exploration licences PL 2551 (Wexford) and 
PL 3849, PL 3850, PL 3857 and PL 2239 (Wicklow).  This agreement has expired. 
 
On 22 January 2018 a Heads of Agreement was concluded with Trove Metal Limited, that has led to an Agreement on 
PL3850, subject to the approval by the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment.  In addition, 
IMC has also engaged Trove Metal Limited to commence a feasibility study (the Trove feasibility study) to report on 
and detail the potential for a reprocessing project which would extract much of the remaining metal from the waste 
piles. The Trove feasibility study is ongoing and is expected to be completed by end of quarter 3, 2018. 
 
In January and February 2018 IMC relinquished eight prospecting licences, PL 3668, PL 3460 and PL 2103 PL 3550, 
PL 3806, PL 3870, PL 3426 and PL 3677, leaving the company in possession of five precious metal licences and two 
base metal licences as detailed in section 6.2 below. 
 
On 11 May 2018 an Agreement was concluded between IMC and Trove Rehabilitation Nominees Limited (Trove) in 
relation to our previously announced Trove Metal Limited desktop study on our mine waste rehabilitation project in 
Avoca (PL 3850).  Following a review of the Agreement and following consultation with the EMD a revised Agreement 
has been prepared, having regard to the Provisions relating to Joint Ventures and Assignments of the Minerals Act 
2017 and has been signed.  It will shortly be submitted to the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment for approval. 
 
 

6.2 Principal investments   

The following table sets out, for each of the three years ended 30 June 2017, the carrying value of IMC's principal 
investments, which comprise mineral prospecting licences in Ireland. It further discloses interim financial information 
as at December 2017 and December 2016: 
 
 As at 30 June As at 31 December 
 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 
 Audited Audited Audited Unaudited Unaudited 
 € € € € € 

Intangible assets 587,665 587,665 524,724 587,665 587,665 
 
During this three year period, direct expenditure on the licences has not been material.  However, sufficient 
expenditure on the PL’s has resulted in the successful renewal and review of the company’s prospecting licences by 
the Minister of Communications, Climate Action and Environment.  

  

 
The following table sets out the licences held by IMC, through its wholly owned subsidiary IMC Exploration Limited, all 
of which are located in Ireland. 
 
Prospecting 
licence ground Licence no. Location 

Area  
(km

2
) Minerals 

Licence Start 
Date Licence End Date 

 
PL 3849 
 
 
 

 
259753062 
 

Wicklow 45.26 

Base Metals 
Barytes 
Gold, Ores of. 
Silver, Ores of. 
 

7 February 2013 
 
6 February 2019 
 

 
 
PL 3850 
 
 

259753103 Wicklow 27.63 

Base Metals 
Barytes 
Gold, Ores of. 
Silver, Ores of. 
 

7 February 2013 
 
6 February 2019 
 

PL 2551 254847692 Wexford 36.83 

 
Gold, Ores of. 
Silver, Ores of. 
Base Metals 
Barytes 
 

12 May 2011 11 May 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



IMC EXPLORATION GROUP PLC   
 

12 
 

PL 2239 254846542 Wicklow 27.58 

 
Gold, Ores of. 
Silver, Ores of. 
Base Metals 
Barytes 
 

12 May 2011 11 May 2023 

PL 3857 254846581 Wicklow 49.85 

 
Gold, Ores of. 
Silver, Ores of. 
Base Metals 
Barytes 
 

12 May 2011 11 May 2023 

       

PL 3729 254847414 Clare 30.79 

 
Barytes 
Silver, Ores of. 
Base Metals 
 

20 April 2011 19 April 2023 

PL 3644 254878125 Clare 23.32 

 
Barytes 
Base Metals 
 

12 May 2011 13 May 2023 

       
 
 
Prospecting licences (PLs) are issued for an initial period of six years for specified minerals with a required minimum 
expenditure. A minimum work programme is required covering each two year phase of the licence, the details of which 
are agreed with the licensee. One month prior to the expiry of each two year phase of the licence, the licensee (if 
wishing the licence to continue in force) shall propose a work programme for the following two year phase for approval 
by the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment. Work reports are required to be submitted to 
EMD every two years, and are held confidential for six years or until surrender of the licence (if earlier). Work Reports 
must include details of all exploration activity carried out in the Licence area during the period covered by the report. If, 
on expiry of the six year period of the licence, the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment is 
satisfied that the licensee has fulfilled all the obligations imposed by the licence and that the licensee continues to 
satisfy the financial, technical, environmental and other requirements of the Minister for Communications, Climate 
Action and Environment, the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment undertakes to grant a 
renewal of the licence to the licensee for a further term as the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment may consider appropriate. 
 
PL 3849 and PL 3850 have been reviewed and PL 2551, PL 3857 and PL 2239 have been renewed for a second six 
year period.  To maintain these precious metal licences in good standing, the Group is obliged to spend an aggregate 
of €210,000 on prospecting work prior to their expiry.  
 
The Group’s two base metal licences have been renewed for a second six year period. To maintain these licences in 
good standing, the Group is obliged to spend an aggregate of €85,000 on prospecting work prior to the expiry date of 
the licences. IMC will fund this expenditure from its own resources.  In summary, the Group’s minimum spending 
obligations on its seven licences amounts to €295,000. 
 
Further information on the Group’s licences is set out in an Independent Competent Person’s Report from SLR 
Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Limited, written in February 2018 (hereinafter referred to as “CPR, February 2018”)  
which is included in Schedule 1 to this document. 
 
The following map shows the location of IMC’s licences; two base metal licences and five precious metal licences. 
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7. Business overview   

IMC's principal activity is prospecting for gold, silver, base metals and barytes in Ireland, in accordance with the terms 
of the Group’s exploration licences, which are its principal assets and on which its prospects are entirely dependent. 
The Group’s main focus is on the discovery of gold, silver and base metals with a view to establishing the existence or 
otherwise of economically recoverable quantities of such metals.  
 
The decision to acquire a licence is initially based on a number of factors, including known geological properties both 
in and adjacent to the licence area, as well as data available for previous exploration activity in the area. Other 
considerations include communications and accessibility, availability of suitable human resources and environmental 
and planning issues. Progress through the exploration phase relies on assessments by suitably experienced experts of 
the results of initial trenching and/or drilling followed by infill exploration to a point where a resource can be identified 
within the parameters of established and internationally accepted standards.  
 
A key factor in establishing a value for such resources, once there is sufficient evidence for their existence, is the 
possible selling price for the metals in question. All of the metals for which IMC is exploring are traded on international 
commodities markets for which ample data exists to enable judgements to be formed on this matter. In some cases, it 
is possible to enter into offtake agreements with particular customers at a known price and for a specific duration, 
which would have the benefit of adding certainty of the amount of future cash flows for the Group if any of its projects 
go into production. Other factors which must be taken into account include likely levels of capital expenditure, 
projected ongoing operating costs and the expected life of the resource. 
 
Whilst metals prices have historically been volatile and largely influenced by demand, IMC is in the early stages of the 
exploration process in its licence areas and expects that such prices will have changed from current levels by the time 
a resource has been established. 
 
In view of its current stage of development, the markets that IMC is actively engaged with comprise geological, drilling 
and assay evaluation resources, which it has and will continue to outsource. IMC contracts with a range of service 
providers, comprising BRG Consultants, Priority Drilling, SLR Consultants, Pelican Mapping, ALS Laboratories and 
Aurum Global Exploration. 
 
Having been awarded 15 prospecting licences in 2011 to 2013, IMC commenced a drilling programme on its various 
licence areas in Counties Wicklow , Wexford, Clare and Limerick, in Southeast and Southwest Ireland. The initial 
indications from the recovered core were highly encouraging and, following the completion of the SLR  Environmental 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
5 
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Consulting (Ireland) Limited   Competent Person's Report (CPR) compiled in January 2016 (hereinafter referred to as 
“CPR, January 2016”),  the company commissioned a technical report from Aurum Global Exploration Ltd which 
provided analysis of the results and recommended a future exploration programme. 
 
To date, IMC has drilled 27 holes on its currently held 7 licence areas (as well as a further 2 holes which relate to 
relate to relinquished licences  (PL 3806 and PL 3550). The CPR, January 2016, concludes that "there remains 
significant potential for exploration success" on the Avoca Block (PL 3849 and PL 3850) and that IMCs work has 
"significantly upgraded the gold potential on the Kilmichael Licence" (PL 2551). The Tulla Licence (PL 3729) contained 
according to the CPR, January 2016  "encouraging indications".   An updated CPR was commissioned by IMC in 
February 2018 (hereinafter referred to as “CPR, February 2018”),  and this CPR, February 2018 concluded that drilling 
results for the Avoca Licences “show some significant mineralised intersections” , as well as confirming that “IMC’s 
work has significantly upgraded the gold potential of the licence (PL 2551). In relation to the Tulla Licence (PL 3729) 
the CPR, February 2018 concludes that the recent drilling programme “appears to have intersected a reverse fault just 
above the base of the hole”. 
 
The drillholes at Avoca "intersected significant base metal mineralisation" and, in 2017 IMC commissioned Trove Metal 
Limited to embark on a desktop study on PL3850 in Avoca, Co. Wicklow to investigate the viability of secondary 
processing of the mine waste at Avoca, using technical analytical methods combined with operational, industry and 
cost analysis. This was as follow up on indications from a Government commissioned report  (CDM - Feasibility Study 
for Management and Remediation of the Avoca Mining Site -December 2008) that "the (Avoca) spoils contain 
significant concentrations of copper (56-11,344 milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg), zinc (44-7,404 mg/kg), lead (112-
41,353 and arsenic (18-3,903 mg/kg)". The Mount Platt spoils (PL 3850 ) indicate "...very high concentration of copper, 
zinc, iron and aluminium". 
 
Following completion of the Trove desktop study, and having regard to the contents of the CPR, January 2016, the 
CPR, February 2018 and Government Report referred to above,  IMC, in early 2018, engaged Trove Metal Limited to 
commence a feasibility study (the Trove feasibility study)  to report on and detail the potential for a reprocessing 
project which would extract much of the remaining metal from the waste piles. The Trove feasibility study is ongoing 
and is expected to be completed by end of quarter 3, 2018. 
 

8. Organisational structure   

IMC is the holding company for its wholly owned exploration subsidiary, IMC Exploration Limited.   

IMC Exploration Limited is incorporated in Ireland. The Company owns 100 per cent. of its share capital and voting 
rights. 
 

  

9. Property, plants and equipment   

The Group's principal assets are described in paragraph 6.2 above. 
 
While the economic benefits of mining are clearly recognised in Ireland, concern about the impact of mining on the 
natural environment has increased in recent years. Both the Irish government and the mining industry have recognised 
this concern, and have acknowledged the importance of their environmental responsibilities by adopting a range of 
protective measures. 
 
Towards this end the Irish government has implemented a suite of pragmatic environmental legislation, which aims to 
secure an expanding future for the mining industry in the context of sustainable development. 
 
Under the provisions of the Minerals Development Acts, 1940-1999, the Minister for Communications, Climate Action 
and Environment is empowered to issue prospecting licences and subsequently, when an economic deposit has been 
defined, a State Mining Facility. Under different Acts there are separate but complementary procedures and agencies 
responsible for land use planning control and environmental issues, namely the relevant Local Planning Authorities 
and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Environment in this context means emissions to air and water, noise 
including vibration, waste storage and disposal. Planning Permission (from the Local Planning Authority) and an 
Integrated Pollution Control Licence (from the EPA) must be obtained before the commencement of commercial 
extraction. 
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10. Operating and financial review   

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the three years ended 30 June 2017 is as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 30 June 
Audited 

Six months ended 31 
December 
Unaudited 

 
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 

 
€ € € € € 

Revenue - - - - - 
Administrative expenses (267,507) (410,007) (221,084) (74,680) (98,919) 

 
────── ────── ────── ________ ________ 

Operating Loss for the period (267,507) (410,007) (221,084) (74,680) (98,919) 
Finance Income - - -  - 
Loss on sale of investment - - (135,164) - - 
Amount written off investment - - (83,400) - - 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Loss for period before tax (267,507) (410,007) (439,648) (74,680) (98,919) 
Income tax expenses - - (1,093) - - 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total comprehensive loss for the period (267,507) (410,007) (440,741) (74,680) (98,919) 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

    
  

Loss attributable to: 
   

  
Equity holders of the Company (267,507) (410,007) (440,741) (74,680) (98,919) 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

Total Comprehensive Loss attributable to: 
   

  
Equity holders of the Company (267,507) (410,007) (440,741) (74,680) (98,919) 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

Earnings per share 
   

  
From continuing operations 

   
  

Basic and Diluted loss per share (cent) (0.002) (0.004) (0.003) (0.001) (0.001) 
 
During the period covered by the financial information set out in the table above, the Directors have continued to 
evaluate the Company's licences and carried out drilling on the most prospective targets, with a view to establishing 
increased value for the licences, and producing sufficient data to add to the prospectivity of its licences. 
 
Administrative expenses 
 
The following table shows, for the three years ended 30 June 2017, certain items comprised in the Group’s 
administrative expenses, as disclosed in the financial statements for each of those years and the balance of other 
administrative expenses. 
 

 
2017 2016 2015 

 
€ € € 

Depreciation of tangible assets -  1,465  1,225  
Auditors remuneration  15,000  14,500  14,500  
Auditors remuneration from non-audit work  -  - - 
Wages (including Directors) -  - -  
Other administrative expenses* 
 
 252,507 394,042 205,359 

 
────── ────── ────── 

 
267,507 410,007 221,084 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ 

 
Administrative expenses rose in 2016 (over 2015) mainly as a result of increased commissions in connection with 
fundraising.  Administrative expenses in 2017 were broadly in line with 2016 figures (excluding commissions). 
 
*Year end June 2017 administrative expenses consist of legal, professional and consultancy (€178,000), travel, 
accommodation costs including rent & rates (€61,000), other (€13,507). Total €252,507.  Half year end December 
2017 consists of legal, professional and consultancy (€35,575), travel, accommodation costs including rent and rates 
(€36,676) and other (€2,429). 
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Year end June 2016 administrative expenses consist  of legal, professional and consultancy (€179,000), travel, 
accommodation costs including rent & rates (€53,000), commissions (€137,000), other (€25,042). Total €394,042.   
Half year end December 2016 consists of legal, professional and consultancy (€61,180), travel, accommodation costs 
including rent and rates (€18,826) and other (€18,913). 
 
 
Year end June 2015 administrative expenses consist of  legal, professional and consultancy (€75,000), travel, 
accommodation costs including rent & rates (€30,000), commissions (€68,000),  other (€32,359). Total €205,359. 
 
Loss on sale of investment 
On 7 March 2014 the company issued 16,000,000 shares to Global Resources Investment Trust plc, an LSE quoted 
company, in return for 320,000 shares (GBP£1 per share) in Global Resources Investment Trust plc. The Company 
has sold all of its shares in Global Resources Investment Trust plc in the following transactions. On 4 November 2014 
the company disposed of 42,729 shares in Global Resources Investment Trust plc for a price of GBP£0.25 per share. 
On 25 February 2015 the company disposed of 10,000 shares in Global Resources Investment Trust plc for a price of 
GBP£0.1785 per share. On 17 March 2015 the company disposed of its remaining holding of 267,271 shares in Global 
Resources Investment Trust plc for a price of GBP£0.13 per share. As set out in the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2015, this resulted in a loss on sale of €135,164.  
 
Amount written off investment 
The amounts written off investments relate to the Company’s holdings in Gold World Resources Inc and Global 
Resources Investment Trust plc and represent the Board’s assessment of the diminution of value in those holdings 
amounting to €83,400 for the year ended 30 June 2015.  
 

1,000,000 Gold World Resources Inc shares were acquired on 26 March 2012 at a cost price of CAD$0.05 per share 
(€38,738).  The value of the shares at 30 June 2012 was CAD$0.005 and an amount of €35,002 was written off the 
value in the 2012 audited accounts.  The remaining €3,736 was written off in the 2015 accounts reflecting the NIL 
value of the shares at that date. 
 
320,000 shares in GRIT were acquired in March 2014 under the share swap described in the previous paragraph (loss 
on sale of investments).  The company wrote off €106,593 in the 2014 unaudited accounts and €79,664 in the 2015  
audited accounts, reflecting the market price of the shares held at each year end.  Following the sale of the final 
shareholding in GRIT the company recorded a loss on the sale of €135,164, also in the 2015 accounts, by which date 
the entire shareholding had been sold. 
 
 
 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
 
The consolidated statement of financial position for each of the three years ended 30th June 2017 and the two six 
month periods ended 31 December 2016 and 2017 are as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 30 June 
Audited 

Six Months ended 
31 December 

Unaudited 
 

 
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 

 
€ € € € € 

Assets 
   

  
Intangible assets 587,665 587,665 524,724 587,665 587,665 
Property, plant and equipment - - 1,465 - - 
Investments - - - - - 

 
────── ────── ────── ________ _______ 

Total Non-Current Assets 587,665 587,665 526,189 587,665 587,665 

 
────── ────── ────── ________ _______ 

Current Assets 
   

  
Trade and other receivables 81,018 95,047 111,671 78,747 88,688 
Cash and cash equivalents (19,464) 61,742 (26,685) (35,362) 300 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total Current Assets 61,553 156,789 84,986 43,385 88,988 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total Assets 649,219 744,454 611,175 631,050 676,654 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

Equity 
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Share Capital 166,610 145,910 112,410 174,110 145,910 
Share premium 2,489,137 2,237,415 1,739,769 2,554,409 2,237,415 
Retained deficit (2,085,462) (1,817,956) (1,407,949) (2,160,143) (1,916,874) 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Attributable to owners of the Company 570,285 565,369 444,230 568,376 466,451 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total Equity 570,285 565,369 444,230 568,376 466,451 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Liabilities – Current 
   

  
Trade and other payables 67,943 168,094  155,954  51,683   199,212  
Current tax liabilities 10,991 10,991  10,991  10,991   10,991  

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total Liabilities 78,934 179,085 166,945 62,674 210,203 

 
────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total Equity and Liabilities 649,219 744,454 611,175 631,050 676,654 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

 
Intangible assets 

 
During this period, direct expenditure on the licences has been minimal and therefore the carrying value of the licences 
has increased only marginally. The carrying value of the licences was not affected by the relinquishment of eight 
licences in January 2015,the three licences in January 2017 or the eight licences in January and February 2018 
because the expenditure on these licences had been negligible and was expensed as incurred. 
 
Investments 
 
The value of the Group’s investments at the end of each of the three years ended 30 June 2017 and the two six month 
periods ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 
 

 

Unaudited six months  
31 December Audited year ended 30 June 

 
2017 2016 2017 2016 2015 

 
€ € € € € 

Balance at beginning of the period - - - - 281,818 
Additions - - - - - 
Diminution in value - - - - (83,400) 
Disposals -  -  (198,418) 
 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 
Balance at the end of the period - - - - - 
 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

 
 
In the year ended 30 June 2015 IMC disposed of all of its holding in Global Resources Investment Trust plc and wrote 
down its remaining investment (Gold World Resources) to nil value. Further details are set out above in this section 
under the headings “Loss on sale of investment” and “Amounts written off investment”. 
 
 
Trade and other receivables 
 
The following table analyses the component elements of the Group’s trade and other receivables for the three years 
ended 30 June 2017. 
 
 

 
2017 2016 2015 

 
€ € € 

Other receivables 8,486 22,515 39,139 
Directors Accounts 43,962 43,962 43,962 
Called up share capital not paid 28,570 28,570 28,570 
Prepayments and accrued income - - - 

 
────── ────── ────── 

 
81,018 95,047 111,671 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ 

 
Trade and other receivables mainly comprise sundry receivables, Directors’ accounts and the uncalled balance of the 
par value of the A ordinary shares. Other receivables consist of reclaimable VAT on expenditure incurred by the Group 
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and in 2015 and 2016 expenditure to be reimbursed by Koza Limited under the terms of the joint venture Agreement.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of each of the three years ended 30 June 2017 and the two six month periods 
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 
 

 
Audited year ended 30 June 

Unaudited six months 
ended 31 December  

 
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 

 
€ € € € € 

Cash and cash equivalents (19,464) 61,742 (26,685) (35,362) 300 
 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

 

The net increase in cash and cash equivalents between year ended 2015 and 2016 of €88,427 primarily arose from 
the €531,146 gross proceeds of the issue of 33,500,000 shares in the period being only partly offset by administrative 
expenses of €410,007, payments to acquire intangible assets of €62,941 and minor movement in receivables 
(€16,624), payables (€12,140) and depreciation (€1,465). 
 
 
The overdrawn balance at year end June 2017 of €19,464 represents a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of 
€81,207 between year end 2016 and 2017.  Gross proceeds from the issue of 20,700,000 shares in the period was 
€272,422. However, Administrative expenses amounted to €267,507 and the net movement in trade receivables and 
parables of €86,122 resulted in the overall decrease in cash and cash equivalents of €81,207 in the period.  The 
components of the year end figures, and explanation thereof, are included under consolidated statement of cash flows 
below. 
 
The overdrawn balance at half year end December 2017 of €35,364, reflects the administrative expenses for the 
period not being fully offset by the funds raised through the share issue of 30

 
October 2017, as well as small changes 

in receivables and payables in the period. 
 
 
 
Retained deficit 

 
The retained deficit at the end of each of the three years ended 30 June 2017 and at the end of the two six month 
periods ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 
 

 

Unaudited as at 31 
December Audited at 30 June 

 
2017 2016 2017 2016       2015 

 
€ € € €             € 

Balance at beginning of the period (2,085,463) (1,817,956) (1,817,956) (1,407,949)   (967,208) 
Total loss for the period (74,680) (98,918) (267,506) (410,007)   (440,741) 
 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 
Balance at the end of the period (2,160,143) (1,916,874) (2,085,462) (1,817,956) (1,407,949) 
 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

 
The movements in the retained deficit are generated by the loss for each of the three years ended 30 June 2017 and 
for the two six months period ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the components of which are discussed in detail 
above in this section under the heading “Consolidated statement of income”,. 
 
Share capital and share premium 
 
In the year ended 30 June 2015 the Company issued 5,008,212 new Ordinary Shares at an aggregate premium of 
€62,992 for non-cash consideration.  
 
In the year ended 30 June 2016 the Company issued 33,500,000 new Ordinary Shares at an aggregate premium of € 
497,646 for cash consideration.  
 
In the year ended 30 June 2017 the Company issued 20,700,000 new Ordinary Shares at an aggregate premium of 
€152,179 for cash consideration (15,000,000 shares) and €99,953 for non-cash consideration (5,700,000 shares).  
 
In the six months ended 31 December 2017 the Company issued 7,500,000 new Ordinary Shares at an aggregate 
premium of €65,272 for cash consideration. 
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Current liabilities 
 
The following table analyses the component elements of the Group’s trade and other payables for the three years 
ended 30 June 2017. 
 

 
2017 2016 2015 

 
€ € € 

Corporation tax 10,991 10,991 10,991 
Other taxes and social welfare costs - - - 
Other payables 3,008 107,958 79,160 
Accruals and deferred income 64,935 60,136 76,794 

 
────── ────── ────── 

 
78,934 179,085 166,945 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ 

 
 
The decrease in other payables relates primarily to applications for subscriptions for shareholdings made, not 
exercised and refunded.  At 31 December 2017 current liabilities amounted to €62,674 (31 December 2016 amounted 
to €210,203 reflecting similar activities). 
 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 

The consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years ended 30 June 2017 are as follows: 

 
2017 2016 2015 

Cash flows from operating activities 
   

    
Loss for the year 

        
(267,507) 

        
(410,007) 

        
(222,177) 

    Adjustments for: 
   Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss -              -  1,093  

Depreciation -   1,465   1,225  

 
────── ────── ────── 

Cash from operations before changes in working capital 
        

(267,507) 
        

(408,542) 
        

(219,859) 

    
Movement in trade and other receivables 

                
14,029  16,624  

          
(268) 

Movement in trade and other payables  (100,151)  
            

12,140 
          

(94,492) 

 
────── ────── ────── 

Net cash flow from operating activities 
        

(353,629) 
          

(379,778) 
        

(125,635) 

    Cash flows from investing activities 
   Interest received - -  -  

Proceeds from sale of investments    - 63,254 
Taxation - -             - 
Acquisitions and disposals - (62,941)         - 

 
────── ────── ────── 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  _   (62,941)  63,254 

 
────── ────── ────── 

Cash flows from financing activities 
   Proceeds from the issue of new shares  272,422  531,146 68,000 

Finance income/(expense) - - - 

 
────── ────── ────── 

Net cash generated by financing activities  -  531,146 68,000 

 
────── ────── ────── 

    
Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (81,207)  

          
(88,427)         5,619 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
          

61,742 (26,685)  (32,304)  

 
────── ────── ────── 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 
          

(19,464) 
          

61,742  (26,685)  

 
══════ ══════ ══════ 



IMC EXPLORATION GROUP PLC   
 

20 
 

 
Cash flows from operating activities  
 

The loss for the year has been reduced or increased by non-cash items included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, comprising income tax expense in the year end 2015 and depreciation charge in 2015 and 
2016. 
 

The following tables give a breakdown of the changes in working capital during the three years ended 30 June 2017: 
 

Movement in trade and other receivables 

 
2017 2016 2015 

 
€ € € 

Other receivables 14,029 16,624  (268) 
Directors Accounts -  -  - 
Called up share capital not paid -  -  -  
Prepayments and accrued income -  -  -  

 
────── ────── ────── 

 
14,029 16,624  (268) 

 
══════ ══════ ══════ 

The movement in trade and other receivables in the three year period was not significant.  The movement in trade and 
other receivables in the two six month periods ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 was €9,941 and 
again was not significant. 
 
 
Movement in trade and other payables 
 

 
2017 2016 2015 

 
€ € € 

Other taxes and social welfare costs -  - - 
Other payables (104,950) 28,798 76,160  
Accruals and deferred income 4,799 (16,658) 18,332 

 
────── ────── ────── 

 
(100,151)  12,140 94,492 

 

══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 

Other payables in 2017 reflect refunds for subscriptions for shares not completed.  The movement in trade and other 
payables in the two six month periods ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 also reflected this. 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
 
In the year ended 30 June 2015 the Group generated cash of €63,254 from the sale of shares in Global Resources 
Investment Trust plc.   All shares in GRIT were disposed of in the period.  On 4 November 2014 42,729 GRIT shares 
were sold at 25p sterling, on 25 February 2015 10,000 GRIT shares were sold at 17.85p (sterling) and on 17 March 
2015 267,271 GRIT shares were sold at 13p (sterling). 
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
 
In the year ended 30 June 2015 €68,000 was raised from the issue of new Ordinary Shares for cash.   In the year 
ended 30 June 2016 €531,146 and in the year ended 30 June 2017 €167,179 was raised (and €105,653 non-cash).  In 
the six months to 31 December 2017 €72,772 was raised from the issue of new ordinary shares for cash. 
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11. Capital resources   

At 30 June 2017 IMC's balance sheet showed shareholders' equity of €570,285.  Its principal source of capital is 
equity, which has historically been provided through the ISDX Growth Market.  During the three years to 30 June 2017, 
the company has issued shares as follows:  30 June 2015, 5,008,212 shares issued with gross proceeds € 68,000 
(non-cash); 30 June 2016, 33,500,000 shares issued with gross proceeds €531,146 (cash) and 30 June 2017, 
20,700,000 shares issued with gross proceeds €272,422 (€152,179 (cash), €120,243 (non-cash). In the six month 
period ended 31 December 2017, the company issued 7,500,000 shares with gross proceeds €84,937 (cash). 
 
Post half year end December 2017 the company has issued shares as follows: 1 February 2018, 7,500,000 shares 
issued with gross proceeds €85,755 (cash) and 19 February 2018, 3,775,000 shares issued with gross proceeds 
€42,657 (non-cash),30 April 2018, 57,008,281 shares issued with gross proceeds of €644,161 (non-cash) and on 14 
June 2018, 35,714,285 shares issued with gross proceeds of €280,898 (cash). 
 
 Net cash flows for the last three financial years are as follows: 
 Year ended 30 June 
 2017 2016 2015 

 € € € 
Net cash flow from operating activities (353,651) (379,778) (122,700) 
Cash flow from investing activities - - 63,254 
Acquisitions and disposals 
Cash flow from financing activities 

- 
272,422 

(62,941) 
531,146 

- 
68,000 

 ────── ────── ────── 
 81,207 88,427 8,554 
 ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
Cash flow from operating activities represents the cash consumed by the operations of the Group the period and 
reflects the pre revenue nature of the business of the Group.  
 

During the year to 30 June 2014, the Company issued 16,000,000 new Ordinary Shares to Global Resources 
Investment Trust plc, an investment trust listed on the FCA Official List in the United Kingdom, in consideration for the 
issue to the Company of 320,000 new ordinary shares in Global Resources Investment Trust plc, all of which it then 
disposed of for cash consideration of €63,254. 
 

Cash flow from financing activities in the years ended 30 June 2015, 2016 and 2017 and the six months ended 31 
December 2017 represents funds raised through the issue of new Ordinary Shares for cash and non-cash during 
those periods.   
 
The Board objectives in respect of funding and treasury activities are to maximise returns on cash balances within the 
limits of acceptable risk parameters. Where applicable and when determined to be economically viable, the Board will 
mitigate risks arising in the ordinary course of business from foreign exchange rate and interest rate movements. The 
Board reviews the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate and interest rate movements on at least a quarterly 
basis. To date, the Board is satisfied that the Group's interest rate exposure, being in Euro and minimal and that the 
Group has no material foreign exchange exposure. Therefore the Board has determined that the materiality of the 
exposure does not warrant mitigation by way of risk limiting mechanisms at this stage. However, the policy is, as 
stated, reviewed on a regular basis. The Group’s financial instruments and financial risk management are further 
described in Note 24 to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017, which are included in this document. 
 
The Directors, taking into consideration the requirement to fund the feasibility study currently being undertaken by the 
Group and the Group's spending obligations under the terms of its licences (€150,000 in next twelve months), are of 
the opinion that the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements and obligations over the next 
twelve months. Therefore, the Directors consider that the Group's minimum expenditure obligations in respect of the 
ongoing feasibility study (€50,000), the minimum expenditure requirements under the terms of the seven licences held 
(€150,000) and its ongoing operational expenses (€100,000) for at least the next twelve months can be financed from 
currently held funds.  
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12. Administrative, management, and supervisory bodies and senior management   

The administration and management of the Company is carried out by the Board of Directors, whose names and 
functions are as follows: 
 
Eamon O’Brien MBA (Chairman) 
Kathryn Byrne ( Director) 
Dr. Glenn Millar MBA (Director / Geologist) 
Andrew (Laz) Fleming (Director / Geologist) 
 
Dr. Glenn Millar and Andrew (Laz) Fleming have been on the Board of the Company since 28 June 2011.  Eamon 
O’Brien and Kathryn Byrne joined the board on 11 May 2018. 
 
The founders of the Company are as follows: 
Glenn Millar 
Andrew (Laz) Fleming 
Liam McGrattan 
Nial Ring 
Hugh Gibney 
Thomas Davitt 
Gareth Jones 
 
The business address of the persons named above is 70 Ballybough Road, Ballybough, Dublin 3, Ireland. 
 
 
The relevant management expertise and experience of each of the Directors is as follows: 
 
Eamon O’Brien B.Sc. H.D.E., MBA (63) 
 

Eamon O’Brien, after graduating with an MBA, worked on Wall Street with Quick & Reilly, a specialised U. S. 
stockbroking firm. On returning to Ireland, he joined NCB Stockbrokers in Dublin before moving to Davy Stockbrokers. 
He has since served as a consultant on various projects, including retail management, software projects and property 
development. 

 
He was a founding member and CFO of Eurocommerce, a payments processing company, now owned by Mastercard. 
Eamon graduated from University College Dublin with a B.Sc. which included chemistry and geology. He later gained 
an MBA.  
 
Kathryn Byrne (52) 
 
Kathryn Byrne is a Director of a communications consultancy company based in Dublin. Taking a lead role in project 
management and event management, her expertise includes PR both corporate and consumer, media relations and 
public affairs. Kathryn takes an active role in the wider business and civic community. Kathryn served as a government 
appointed board member of An Board Altranais and as a council member of Gaisce – the President’s Award.  She is 
involved in the Networks for Women in Business..  

 
Kathryn is a Fellow of the Public Relations Institute of Ireland (PRII). She is former Honorary Secretary and board 
member of the PRII. She is also a Global Affiliate of the Chartered Institute of Public Relations.  Kathryn holds an 
honours post-graduate diploma in public relations and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries & 
Administrators. 
 
 
Glenn Millar (55) 
 
Glenn Millar was awarded a PhD in Structural Geology from Queen’s University in 1990 as well as an MBA from Open 
University UK in 2007. His research for his PhD focused on structures in the Irish Carboniferous terrain. He has 
eighteen years professional experience as a geological consultant to the mining and hydrocarbon exploration 
industries worldwide. He has managed geological projects in Europe, Middle East, Australia, North and South 
America.  
 
Glenn formed Exploration Mapping Solutions (ExMap), was a business development manager of eSpatial Solutions 
Limited and was senior consultant at ERA-Maptec during a professional career which has given him expertise and 
proficiency in all aspects of geology and management.    His research has been widely cited and he has contributed to 
several geological and mapping publications. 
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Andrew (Laz) Fleming (68) 
 
Laz Fleming BSc, H.Dip. Ed., P. Geo, has 40 years’ experience in various sectors of the minerals and mining industry, 
covering a wide spectrum, including 27 years’ experience in Brazil. He has acted as country manager of Canadian 
companies (South Western Gold Corp and Hillsborough Resources Corp.) during the 90’s and Irish Company (Ovoca 
Resources plc) during the 80’s and early 90’s.  
 Laz has directed and supervised exploration programmes in Brazil, leading to the discovery of additional diamond and 
gold resources in Mato Grosso, Minas Gerais and Goias States. Laz has carried out, as an independent consultant, 
geological due diligence investigations on various mineral properties in Brazil, Bolivia, Angola, Guinea, Portugal and 
Turkey. Presently Laz is active in project generation identifying various mineral investment and exploration 
opportunities in Brazil, Portugal and Ireland.  
  
Laz is a Euro Geologist (EurGeol) and a professional member of the Institute of Geologists of Ireland (IGI). He is also 
a founding member in 1973 of the Irish Association for Economic Geology (IAEG). Laz has been a competent person 
for the Canadian standard for reporting on mineral resources and reserves (National Instrument 43/101 – Standards of 
Disclosure for Mineral Projects) , AIM, a market operated by London Stock Exchange plc, and ISDX Growth Market. 
He is fluent in Portuguese and has a good working knowledge of Spanish. 
 
The directorships and partnerships held or previously held by the Directors, in addition to that in the Company and its 
Subsidiary, within the five years prior to the date of this document are as follows:  
 

Name of Director Current Directorships 
Past Directorships held within five years of 
the date of this document 

Eamon O’Brien  National Handball and Croke Park 
Community Centre CLG. 
GAA Supporters CLG. 
 

Croke Park Streets Committes Limited 
I Took Control Association Limited 
 

Kathryn Byrne Limelight Communications  
 

None 

Glenn Millar None 
 

None 
 

Andrew (Laz) Fleming None 
 

None 
 

 
None of the persons named above has in the five years preceding the date of this document:  
  
- any convictions relating to fraudulent offences; or  
 
- had any bankruptcy order made against him or entered into any individual voluntary arrangement;  
 
- been a Director of a company which has been placed in receivership, compulsory liquidation, creditors’ voluntary 
liquidation, administration, or which has entered into any company voluntary arrangement or any composition or 
arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of its creditors, whilst he was a Director of that company or within 
12 months after he had ceased to be a Director of that company;  
 
- been a partner in any partnership which has been placed in compulsory liquidation, administration or entered into a 
partnership voluntary arrangement, whilst he was a partner in that partnership or within 12 months after he ceased to 
be a partner in that partnership;  
 
- been involved in receivership of any of his assets or of a partnership of which he was a partner at the time of or within 
12 months preceding such events;  
 
- been officially incriminated or sanctioned in public by statutory or regulatory authorities (including designated 
professional bodies); or  
 
- been disqualified by a court from acting as a Director of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of 
the affairs of any company. 
 

There are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties to the Company, of the persons referred to above, and 
their private interests and or other duties. 
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13. Directors' remuneration 

 
The amount of remuneration paid (including any contingent or deferred compensation), and benefits in kind granted to 
the persons referred to above by the Company and its subsidiaries for services in all capacities to the Company and its 
subsidiaries by any person in the three years ended 30 June 2017 was as follows: 
 
Eamon O’Brien €- 
Kathryn Byrne  €- 
Glenn Millar €- 
Andrew (Laz) Fleming €- 
 
The total amounts set aside or accrued by the Company or its subsidiaries to provide pension, retirement or similar 
benefits is €nil. 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
14. Board practices 

 
The Group has established audit and remuneration committees with formally delegated duties and responsibilities as 
follows: 
 

  
 
 
 
 

Audit Committee  

The Audit Committee comprises Eamon O’Brien (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming. It may examine any matters 
relating to the financial affairs of the Group and the Group’s audits. This includes reviews of the annual financial 
statements and announcements, internal control procedures, accounting procedures, accounting policies, , the 
appointment, independence, objectivity, terms of reference and fees of external auditors and such other related 
functions as the Board may require. 
 
Remuneration Committee  
The Remuneration Committee comprises Glenn Millar (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming. It determines the terms 
and conditions of employment and annual remuneration of the Executive Directors. It consults with the Chief Executive 
Officer, takes into consideration external data and comparative third party remuneration and has access to 
professional advice outside the Company.  
  
The key policy objectives of the Remuneration Committee in respect of the Company’s Executive Directors are:  
 
- To ensure that individuals are fairly rewarded for their personal contribution to the Company’s overall performance; 
and  
 
- To act as the independent committee ensuring that due regard is given to the interest of the Company’s shareholders 
and to the financial and commercial health of the Company. 

  

The Directors recognise the importance of sound corporate governance and the Group and has, since the Company's 
admission to the ISDX Growth Market, complied with the Quoted Companies Alliance Guidelines insofar as they are 
appropriate given the Group’s size and stage of development. The Company has not been required to comply with the 
corporate governance regime in Ireland but its corporate governance practices comply with such aspects of the regime 
as are appropriate to its size and stage of development. Following Admission, the Company will be required to comply 
with Listing Principle 1 of the Listing Rules, which, inter alia, requires compliance with DTR 7.2. The Directors intend to 
comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council insofar as they are 
appropriate to the Group's size and development. 
 
The Board is responsible for the supervision and control of the Company and is accountable to the shareholders. The 
Board has reserved decision-making on a variety of matters, including determining strategy for the Group, reviewing 
and monitoring executive management performance and monitoring risks and controls. The Directors hold meetings at 
least every quarter and at other times as and when required. The Board met formally eight times during the year 
ended 30th June 2017. An agenda and supporting documentation was circulated in advance of each meeting. 
 
At present, as the Board is small, no formal nomination committee has been established. The authority to nominate 
new Directors for appointment vests in the Board of Directors. All Directors co-opted to the Board during any financial 
period are subject to election by shareholders at the first opportunity following their appointment. Consideration to 
setting up a nomination committee is under continuous review. 
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15. Employees   

The average number of employees (including Directors) in each of the last three financial years was as follows: 
 
 Year ended 30 June 

 2017 2016 2015 
 Number Number Number 
Directors 4 4 4 
Employees 0 0 0 
 

  

 
Directors' Interests 
 
The interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Shares as at 13 June 2018, being the last practicable date prior to the 

date of this document, are as follows: 
 
Name 
 

Number of Ordinary Shares Per cent. of Ordinary Shares in 
issue 

Eamon O’Brien 
 

1,900,000 .79% 

Kathryn Byrne  
 

1,025,000 .42% 

Glenn Millar 
 

3,600,001 1.50% 

Andrew (Laz) Fleming 
 

3,615,001 1.50% 

 
 

  
 

16. Major shareholders   

The Company is aware of the following persons who, directly or indirectly, are interested in 3 per cent or more of the 
Ordinary Shares at the date of this document: 
 
Name 
 

Number of Ordinary 
Shares 

Per cent. of Ordinary Shares in 
issue 

SVS (Nominees) Limited  
Harewood Nominees Limited 
Trove Rehabilitation Nominees Limited 
Wilhan Limited 
Nial Ring 
Lisa McDonnell 
 

50,714,285 
26,000,000 
18,750,000 
15,000,000 
12,833,334 
11,834,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 

21.12% 
10.83% 
7.81% 
6.24% 
5.34% 
4.93% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

   
    

   
All shareholders have the same voting rights. The Directors are not aware of any person who owns or controls the 
Company, directly or indirectly. 
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17. Related party transactions 

 
In the three years ended 30 June 2017 the following related party transactions were entered into by the Company or 
its subsidiary: 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2015 the Company drew down €76,160 pursuant to a convertible loan facility of 
€200,000 provided by Wilhan Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Liam McGrattan. The convertible loan is 
unsecured, carries a coupon of nil per cent. and can be converted at Wilhan Limited’s election into Ordinary Shares of 
2p per share at any time up to 5 March 2017. Wilhan Limited has indicated its intention to exercise its conversion 
rights in respect of this loan. The amount drawn under the facility was due to be repaid or converted into Ordinary 
Shares on or before 5 March 2016. On 1 March 2016 Wilhan Limited agreed to extend the duration of the facility by a 
further 12 months to 5 March 2017 because at the original expiry date the rules of the ISDX Growth Market did not 
permit Wilhan Limited to exercise its conversion rights. On 24 February 2017 IMC issued 3.2m ordinary shares to 
Wilhan Limited, converting its loan note at the agreed conversion price 2p sterling.  
 

  

18. Financial information 
 
18.1 Historical financial information 
 
The Company has included the following financial information in Schedule 2 to this Prospectus:  
 
● the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 and auditors' report 

thereon (the "2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements");  
 
● the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 and auditors' report 

thereon (the "2016 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements"); and  
 
● the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 and auditors' report 

thereon (the "2015 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements"  
       (together, the "Audited Consolidated Financial Statements"), and:  
 
●    the Company’s unaudited interim  financial results for the six months ended 31 December 2017 (which contain    

comparative  data for the six months ended 31 December 2016). 
 
●     the Company’s unaudited interim  financial results for the six months ended 31 December 2016 (which contain 

comparative data for the six months ended 31 December 2015). 
 
●     the Company’s unaudited interim  financial results for the six months ended 31 December 2015 (which contain     

comparative data for the six months ended 31 December 2014). 
 
The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The 
2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and 2016 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements were audited 
by the Company's independent auditors during that period, O’Leary Chartered Accountants & Registered auditors. The 
2015 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements were audited by the Company's independent auditors during that 
period Clifford Desmond Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors. 
 
Interim accounts are all published for investors by the company via PR Newswire who distribute on behalf of the 
company and the NEX Market to various investor platforms e.g. Bloomberg, Reuters etc. 2015 interim accounts 
published for investors on 31 March 2016,  2016 interim accounts published for investors on 30 March 2017 and 2017 
interim accounts published for investors on 12 March 2017 (all in line with NEX market rules: NEX Exchange Growth 
Market - Rules for Issuers - January 2017 - Rule 44a "interim results in respect of the first half of each financial year 
(beginning with the six month period following the end of the last period for which audited accounts have been 
published on admission) must be announced as soon as possible and in any event not later than three months after 
the end of the relevant period".) Interims also published on NEX Exchange Website (www.nexexchange.com) and 
company's website (www.imcexploration.com). 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18.2 Dividend policy 
 
The Company has never declared or paid a dividend. Neither Irish company law nor the constitution of the Company 
obliges the Company to declare or pay a dividend to its shareholders. The Board anticipates that that the Company’s 
cash resources will be retained for the development of the Company’s business.  

  
 

http://www.nexexchange.com/
http://www.imcexploration.com/
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18.3 Legal and arbitration proceedings 

 
There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or 
threatened of which the Company is aware), which may have, or have had, during the 12 months preceding the date of 
this document significant effects on the Group's financial position or profitability. 
 

  

18.4 No significant change  

 
There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Company since 31 December 2017, 
being the end of the last financial period of the Company for which historical financial information is included in this 
document. 
 

  

19. Additional information   

19.1 Share capital 
 
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company as at close of business on 31 December 2017  (being the 
date of the most recent balance sheet included in the historical financial information) and the changes in the issued 
share capital during the preceding three years are as follows: 
 
 Amount € Number of shares 

Authorised (at 30 June 2017)   
Ordinary shares of €0.001 each, fully paid 400,000 400,000,000 
'A' ordinary shares of €1.00 each, paid up as to €0.25 per share 50,000 50,000 
 ══════ ══════ 
Issued and fully paid   
Ordinary shares of €0.001 each    
At 1 July 2014 69,309 69,308,507 
Issued during the year ended 30 June 2015 5,008 5,008,212 
 ────── ────── 
 74,317 74,316,719 
Issued during the year ended 30 June 2016 33,500 33,500,000 
 ────── ────── 
 107,817 107,816,719 
   
Issued during the year ended 30 June 2017 20,700 20,700,000 
 ────── ────── 
As at 30 June 2017 128,517 128,516,719 
   
Issued during the half year ended 31 December 2017 7,500 7,500,000 
As at 31 December 2017 136,017 136,016,719 
 ══════ ══════ 
   
'A' ordinary shares of €1.00 each 
 38,093 38,093 
 - - 
Issued during the year ended 30 June 2015 - - 
Issued during the year ended 30 June 2016 - - 
Issued during the year ended 30 June 2017 ────── ────── 
As at 30 June 2017 38,093 38,093 
 ══════ ══════ 
 
No application is being made for the ‘A’ Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on any recognised investment 
exchange nor has any application for admission been made nor are there intended to be any other arrangements for 
there to be dealings in the ‘A’ Ordinary Shares. 
 
 
 
 

SHARE PLACEMENT AND WARRANTS  
 
Ordinary Shares in issue at 30th June 2014 amounted to 69,308,507 Shares. 
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On 24 March 2015 the Company issued 5,008,212 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company ("Ordinary 
Shares") in consideration for services provided to the Company. 
 
On 22 July 2015 IMC raised £85,000 by way of a placing of 8,500,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the 
company (‘Ordinary Shares’)  at 1p sterling per share. 
 
On 15 September 2015 IMC raised £150,000 by way of a placing of 15,000,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in 
the company (‘Ordinary Shares’)  at 1p sterling per share. 
 
On 10 May 2016 IMC raised £150,000 by way of a placing of 10,000,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the 
company (‘Ordinary Shares’)  at 1.5p sterling per share. 
 
On 4 January 2017 IMC raised £150,000 by way of a placing of 15,000,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the 
company (‘Ordinary Shares’)  at 1p sterling per share. 
 
On 24 February 2017 the Company issued 5,700,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company ("Ordinary 
Shares") in consideration for services provided to the Company. 
 

On 30 October 2017 IMC raised £75,000 by way of a placing of 7,500,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the 
company (‘Ordinary Shares’)  at 1p sterling per share (‘placing shares’) (‘the placing’).  For each placing share 
subscribed for, the investors are also receiving one warrant to subscribe for an additional ordinary share at a price of 
2p (sterling) exercisable for one year from 30 October 2017. 
 
On 1 February 2018 IMC raised £75,000 by way of a placing of 7,500,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the 
company (‘Ordinary Shares’)  at 1p sterling per share (‘placing shares’).  For each placing share subscribed for, the 
investors are also receiving one warrant to subscribe for an additional ordinary share at a price of 2p (sterling) 
exercisable for one year from 1 February 2018. 
 
On 19 February 2018 the Company issued 3,775,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company ("Ordinary 
Shares") in consideration for services provided to the Company. 
 
On 11 May 2018 the company issued 57,008,281 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company (“Ordinary 
Shares”) as follows: 18,750,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company ("Ordinary Shares") as part of the 
Trove Agreement,  1,000,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company ("Ordinary Shares") to each of the 
two new Directors, Kathryn Byrne and Eamon O’Brien,  2,000,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company 
("Ordinary Shares") to each of the two current Directors, Glenn Millar and Laz Fleming,  6,458,281 new ordinary 
shares of €0.001 each in the company ("Ordinary Shares") in consideration for services provided to the Company, 
8,600,000  new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company ("Ordinary Shares") in consideration for services 
provided by two former Directors, Nial Ring and Liam McGrattan  (held on Liam McGrattan’s behalf in Wilhan Limited, 
a company wholly owned by Liam McGrattan),  8,600,000 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the company 
("Ordinary Shares") in consideration for services provided to the Company by Lisa McDonnell, Consultant. 
 
On 14 June 2018 IMC raised £250,000 by way of a placing of 35,714,285 new ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the 
company (‘Ordinary Shares’)  at 0.7p sterling per share.  A further 7,142,857 warrants at a price of 1p (sterling) will be  
exercisable for one year from 14 June 2018 in lieu of professional fees. 
 
The Directors of IMC can state that all new issues of securities have been, and always will be, formally approved by 
resolution at a properly constituted meeting of the Board of Directors. Following board approval, a signed extract from 
the board meeting, showing the resolution and allotee details, is forwarded to our registrars (Neville Registrars Ltd., 
Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen B62 8HD, UK), who then issue the share certificates, update the register 
and confirm same to the company. This procedure is in line with company policy as well as the registrars 
requirements. The announcement to the market takes place simultaneously. 
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19.2 Memorandum and Articles of Association    

Memorandum of Association  
The principal object of the Company as set out in clause 3 of its memorandum is: (1) (a) To explore for, obtain, 
produce, exploit, develop, refine, store, render suitable for market or trade, smelt, calcine, blend, handle, carry away, 
sell and otherwise distribute merchant petroleum and other mineral oils, natural gas, and hydrocarbons of all kinds and 
their products, geo-thermal energy, uranium, precious metals, ores, fuels and mineral and vegetable substances of 
every description in any part of the world. 
 
In December 2016 in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014, the Company updated its 
Memorandum & Articles of Association to comprise the Constitution of the Company. 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Articles of Association   

Directors 
 
The number of Directors shall not be less than two. The Company may by Ordinary Resolution from time to time 
increase the minimum number and likewise may by Ordinary Resolution fix and from time to time vary the maximum 
number of Directors. 
 
The remuneration of the Directors shall from time to time be determined by an Ordinary Resolution of the Company 
and shall (unless such resolution otherwise provides) be divisible among the Directors as they may agree or, failing 
agreement. equally, except that any Director who shall hold office for part only of the period in respect of which such 
remuneration is payable shall be entitled to rank in such division for a proportion of the remuneration related to the 
period during which he has held office. The Directors may also be paid all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly 
incurred by them in attending and returning from meetings of the Directors or any committee of the Directors or 
general meetings of the Company or in connection with the business of the Company. 
 
If any Director shall be called upon to perform extra services which in the opinion of the Directors are outside the 
scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, the Company may remunerate such Director either by a fixed sum or by a 
percentage of profits or otherwise as may be determined by a resolution passed at a meeting of the Directors and such 
remuneration may be either in addition to or in substitution for any other remuneration to which he may be entitled as a 
Director. 
 
A Director of the Company may be or become a Director or other officer of or otherwise interested in any company 
promoted by the Company or in which the Company may be interested as shareholder or otherwise, and no such 
Director shall be accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other benefits received by him as a Director or 
officer of, or from his interest in, such other company unless the Company otherwise directs. 
 
A Director who is anyway, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or proposed contract with the 
Company shall declare the nature at his interest at a meeting of the Directors in accordance with section 194 of the Act 
as amended. 
 
Subject to certain exceptions, a Director shall not vote in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other proposal 
whatsoever in which he has any material interest otherwise than by virtue of his interests in shares or debentures or 
other securities of or otherwise in or through the Company. 
 
At every Annual General Meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors (other than the Managing Director and any 
Director holding an executive office with the Company) or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the 
number nearest one-third shall retire from office A Director retiring at a meeting shall retain office until the close or 
adjournment of the meeting. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. 
 
 
 

  

Share capital 
 
The Authorised Share Capital of the Company is €450,000.00 divided into 400,000,000 ordinary shares of 0.001 Euro 
each and 50,000 ‘A’ ordinary shares of €l.00 each. Except as set out below the Ordinary Shares and the ‘A’ Ordinary 
Shares shall rank pari passu in all respects. 
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The Ordinary Shares rank equally for voting purposes. On a show of hands, each shareholder has one vote, and on a 
poll, each shareholder has one vote per Ordinary Share held.  
 
Shareholders recorded on the register of members are entitled to receive notice of and attend general meetings 
convened by the Company. 
 
Each Ordinary Share ranks equally for any dividend declared. Each Ordinary Share ranks equally for any distributions 
made on a winding up of the Company. The Ordinary Shares carry no rights to a fixed dividend. The Company in 
general meeting may declare dividends, but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Directors. 
The Directors may from time to time pay to the members such interim dividends as appear to the Directors to be 
justified by the profits of the Company.  
 
As set out in the Company’s articles of association, the calculation of dividends is at the discretion of the Directors in 
such amount as appears to the Directors to be justified by the profits of the Company. Periodicity is not relevant, as the 
payment of dividends is subject to the profits of the Company and the judgement of the Directors at the time. It is not in 
the nature of dividends declared on equity share capital to be cumulative. 
 
A shareholder may not claim unclaimed dividends more than six years after the dividend is declared and the amount of 
any unclaimed dividends shall revert to the benefit of the Company.  
 
Irish Dividend Withholding Tax (DWT) is deducted from dividends paid by the Group, unless a shareholder, either 
resident or non-resident, is entitled to an exemption. If the shareholder is to avail of the exemption for DWT a properly 
completed exemption form will need to be submitted to the Group’s Registrars. The Group’s auditors and taxation 
agents will verify the authenticity of exemption before payment is made. 
The Directors are empowered pursuant to sections 23 and 24(l) of the Companies (Amendment) Act I983 to allot 
equity securities within the meaning of the said section 23 for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the Articles 
of Association as if section 23 (1) of the said Act did not apply to any such allotment. This power shall expire five years 
from the date of incorporation of the company. 
 
The ‘A’ Ordinary Shares shall entitled the holders thereof to receive notice of, attend but not vote at any general 
meeting of the Company. The ‘A’ Ordinary Shares shall not carry a right for the holders thereof to receive any 
dividend. 
 
On a distribution of assets arising out of the winding-up of the Company or otherwise the holders of the ‘A’ Ordinary 
Shares shall be entitled to a return of the capital paid up thereon but shall not be entitled to participate further in any 
distribution of surplus assets of the Company. 
 
The entitlement of the holders of Ordinary Shares to share in the profits of the Company is pro rata to the number of 
Ordinary Shares held out of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue. 
 
If the Company is wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of a Special Resolution of the Company and any 
other sanction required by the Act, divide among the members in specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets of 
the Company and may determine how such division shall be carried out as between the members. 
 
The Company may, subject to the Companies Act 2014, redeem its shares. 
 
The liability of the shareholders is limited to the fully paid up amount of the issued share capital. 
 
The Company may by Ordinary Resolution convert any paid up shares into stock, and reconvert any stock into paid up 
shares of any denomination. 
 
Such of the regulations of the Company as are applicable to paid up shares shall apply to stock, and the words "share" 
and "shareholder" therein shall include "stock" and "stockholder". 
 
 

Alteration of capital 
 
If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes of shares the rights attached to any class may, whether 
or not the Company is being wound up, be varied or abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of three-
fourths of the issued shares in that class, or with the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a separate general 
meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. To every such separate general meeting the provisions of these 
regulations relating to general meetings shall apply but so that the necessary quorum shall be two persons at least 
holding or representing by proxy one-third of the issued shares of that class. If at any adjourned meeting of such 
holders a quorum as above defined is not present within thirty minutes of the time appointed for the adjournment 
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meeting those members who are present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum. Any holders of shares of that class 
present in person or by proxy may demand a poll. 
 
The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution increase the share capital by such sum, to be divided into 
shares of such amount, as the resolution shall prescribe. 
 
The Company may by Special Resolution reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve Fund or any share 
premium account in any manner and with and subject to any incident authorised, and consent required, by law. 

Meetings 
 
The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its Annual General Meeting in addition to any other 
meeting in that year, and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it: and not more than fifteen months 
shall elapse between the date of one Annual General Meeting of the Company and that of the next. The location of the 
Annual General Meeting shall be within the State unless agreed otherwise by shareholders at the previous Annual 
General Meeting. 
 
The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an Extraordinary General Meeting, and Extraordinary General 
Meetings shall also be convened on such requisition, or in default, may be convened by such requisition, as provided 
in section 132 of the Act. 
 
Subject to sections 133 and 141 of the Act, an Annual General Meeting and a meeting called for the passing of a 
Special Resolution shall be called by 2l days‘ notice in writing at the least and a meeting of the Company (other than 
an Annual General Meeting or a meeting for the passing of a Special Resolution) shall be called by 14 days‘ notice in 
writing at the least. 
 
No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present at the time when the meeting 
proceeds to business. Three members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum. 
 
At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is 
(before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded. 
 
Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting for the time being attached by or in accordance with the articles 
to any class of shares, on a show of hands every member present in person and every proxy shall have one vote, but 
so that no one member shall on a show of hands have more than one vote in respect of the aggregate number of 
shares of which he is the holder, and on a poll every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote 
For each share of which he is the holder. Votes may be given either personally or by proxy. The instrument appointing 
a proxy shall be prepared in the manner and format set out in the articles. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

19.3 Material contracts   

The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, have been entered into by 
members of the Group within the two years immediately preceding the date of this document and are, or may be, 
material:  
 
 
In 2017 IMC engaged Trove Metal Limited to embark on a desktop study on PL 3850 in Avoca, Co. Wicklow. Trove 
Metal Limited conducted an investigation into the viability of secondary processing of the mine waste at Avoca, using 
technical analytical methods combined with operational, industry and cost analysis.  Due to the initial positive 
indications of the desktop study undertaken in 2017 (referred to above), Trove Metal Limited  has now commenced a 
feasibility study (the Trove feasibility study) to report on and detail the potential for a reprocessing project which would 
extract much of the remaining metal from the waste piles. This feasibility study is ongoing and is expected to be 
completed by end of quarter 3, 2018. 
 
On 22 January 2018 IMC concluded a Heads of Agreement with Trove Metal Limited, that has led to an Agreement on 
PL3850, subject to the approval by the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment.  
 
On 11 May 2018 an Agreement was concluded between IMC and Trove Rehabilitation Nominees Limited (Trove) in 
relation to our previously announced Trove Metal Limited desktop study on our mine waste rehabilitation project in 
Avoca (PL 3850).  Following a review of the Agreement and following consultation with the EMD a revised Agreement 
has been prepared and signed, having regard to the Provisions relating to Joint Ventures and Assignments of the 
Minerals Act 2017, and will be shortly be submitted to the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment for approval. 
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19.4. Experts' consents   

SLR Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Limited of 7 Dundrum Business Park, Windy Arbour, Dublin 14, having taken 
all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, confirms that its report, which is included in this document at 
Schedule 1, is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its 
import. SLR Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Limited takes responsibility for its report and has given and not 
withdrawn its written consent to the references to its name and the inclusion of its report in this document in the form 
and context in which they appear. As set out on page i of the report, it was prepared on behalf of SLR Environmental 
Consulting (Ireland) Limited by Deirdre Lewis PGeo in February 2018. 

  

 
 
 

  

19.5 Documents on display   

The following documents are available for inspection, electronically, on the Company's website, 
http://www.imcexploration.com and, in physical format, at the Company's registered office, 70 Ballybough Road, 
Ballybough, Dublin 3, Ireland: 
 
(a) the memorandum and articles of association; 
 
(b) the audited accounts for the years’ ended 30 June 2015, 2016 and 2017 and the interim for half years’ ended 31 
December 2015.2016 and 2017.  
 
(c) the CPR, February 2018 by SLR Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Limited. 
 
 

  

20. Working capital 

Directors 
The Directors, taking into consideration the requirement to fund the feasibility study currently being undertaken by the 
Group and the Group's spending obligations under the terms of its licences, are of the opinion that the Group has 
sufficient working capital for its present requirements and obligations over the next twelve months. Therefore, the 
Directors consider that the Group's minimum expenditure obligations in respect of the ongoing feasibility study, the 
minimum expenditure requirements under the terms of the seven licences held and its ongoing operational expenses 
for at least the next twelve months can be financed from currently held funds.  
 
Up to now IMC has accessed funding primarily through the issue of shares through our London brokers, who 
specialise in promoting and raising capital on behalf of exploration companies. The Directors have continued to source 
funding this source, as evidenced by the recent fundraising rounds in October 2017, February 2018 and most 
recently June 2018. This funding has given the Group sufficient cash for the expenditure commitments described 
heretofore. 
 
The Directors can state that access to senior capital markets which has facilitated implementation of a comprehensive 
works programme to date, up to and including the commencement of the feasibility study on the Avoca spoils/tailings, 
gives them comfort in the fundraising capabilities of the Directors, brokers and advisers on behalf of the Group beyond 
the next twelve months when further working capital will be required.  
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21. Capitalisation and indebtedness  

 
The following table sets the capitalisation and indebtedness of the Group as at 31 December 2017. On 1 February 
2018 the company raised £75,000 (net €71,775), and on the 14 June 2018 the company raised £250,000 (net 
€252,808). Since 31

st
 December 2017, save for the issue of new Ordinary Shares described in this paragraph, there 

has been no material change in the information set out below. Following the cash funds raised as detailed heretofore 
the Group is now in the position to state that it has sufficient working capital for its present requirements and 
obligations over the next twelve months. 
 
 € 
Total current debt 98,036 
Of which: 
 - Guaranteed nil 
 - Secured nil 
 - Unguaranteed and unsecured 98,036 
 
Shareholders’ Equity 
Share capital at 31 December 2017 2,728,519 
Retained deficit at 31 December 2017 (2,160,143) 
 ────── 
Total capitalisation and indebtedness 597,338 
 ══════ 
 
Net indebtedness is as follows: 
 

A. Cash Nil 
B. Cash equivalent (Detail) Nil 
C. Trading securities Nil 

 
────── 

D. Liquidity (A) + (B)+(C)  Nil 

 
────── 

E. Current Financial Receivable  78,747 

 
────── 

F. Current Bank debt  35,362 
G. Current portion of non current debt  - 
H. Other current financial debt  62,674 

 
────── 

I. Current Financial Debt (F)+(G)+(H)  98,036 

 
────── 

J. Net Current Financial Indebtedness (I)-(E)-(D)  19,289 

 
────── 

K. Non current Bank loans Nil 
L. Bonds Issued  Nil 
M. Other non current loans Nil 

 
────── 

N. Non current Financial Indebtedness (K)+(L)+(M).  Nil 

 
────── 

O. Net Financial Indebtedness (J)+(N) 19,289 

 
══════ 

 
Disclosure of Indirect and Contingent Indebtedness. 
 
The Group is aware of indirect and contingent indebtedness as follows: 
Prospecting Licences awarded by the Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment are for a six 
year period. When being offered to the Group, the Department sets out various conditions under which the licences 
may be awarded. Acceptance of these conditions is necessary before the licence will issue. One of the conditions, 
which vary with each licence, is an agreed minimum expenditure for the first two year phase of each licence.  The 
expenditure requirement under each of IMC’s licences is set out in the CPR, February 2018  (Page 14, Section 8.0, 
and Table 8.1). The review/renewal of our licences is contingent on these amounts being spent and therefore we 
would consider that the Group has a contingent indebtedness in respect of these licences of €295,000.  
 

  

22. Information concerning the securities to be admitted to trading 

 
22.1. Application for admission to the standard segment of the FCA Official List and trading on the London Stock 
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Exchange's regulated market for listed securities will be made in respect of the Ordinary Shares but not in respect of 
the 'A' Ordinary Shares, which is expected to take place on or about 30 July  2018. When admitted to trading, the 
Ordinary Shares will be registered with ISINIE00B6WC2H62, and it is expected that the Ordinary Shares will be traded 
under the ticker IMC.  
 
The Ordinary Shares were admitted to trading on ISDX Growth Market on 12 October 2011. It is expected that the 
Ordinary Shares will be withdrawn from ISDX Growth Market simultaneously with admission of the Ordinary Shares to 
the Official List. 
 
22.1.2. The Ordinary Shares have been created pursuant to the Companies Acts 2014, of Ireland.  
 
22.1.3 The Ordinary Shares are issued in registered form and title is evidenced either by certificate or recorded on 
the register of members of the Company as being held in uncertificated form in CREST and title to which, by virtue of 
the CREST Regulations, may be transferred by means of an instruction issued in accordance with the rules of CREST. 
The Company’s registrars act as CREST depositary and paying agent. 
 
22.1.4. The Ordinary Shares are denominated in Euro 
 
22.1.5. On 20th July 2011 an EGM was held whereby it was resolved that the authorised share capital of the 
Company be €250,000.00 divided into 200,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each and 50,000 ‘A’ Ordinary Shares of 
€1.00.At the AGM held on 22

nd
 December 2016, it was approved that the Authorised Share Capital of the Company be 

and is hereby increased by the addition of 200,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each. 
 
The nominal value of the total issued share capital of the Company immediately following Admission will be 
€278,107.00 divided into 240,014,285 ordinary shares of €0.001 each which are issued fully paid and 38,093 'A' 
ordinary shares of €1 each, which are issued partly paid as to €0.25. 
 
22.1.6 Mandatory bids, Squeeze-out and Buy-out Rules  
 
(a) The Irish Takeover Rules applies, inter alia, to all public companies registered in Ireland which are admitted to 
trading on the Irish Stock Exchange and certain overseas markets, including the markets operated by London Stock 
Exchange and PLUS Stock Exchange plc and as such, from Admission, the Irish Takeover Rules will apply to the 
Company.  
 
(b) Under the Irish Takeover Rules, where a person acquires Ordinary Shares which, if taken together with Ordinary 
Shares already held by that person and by concert parties, amount to 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights in the 
Company, that person and, depending on the circumstances, its concert parties, would be required (except with the 
consent of the Irish Takeover Panel) to make a general offer to acquire the shares of all other shareholders. This 
obligation to make a general offer is also imposed on a person (or persons acting in concert) who holds 30 per cent or 
more of the voting rights in the Company and who increases that stake by more than 0.05 per cent in any 12 month 
period. The offer must be in cash, or accompanied by a full cash alternative, at not less than the highest price paid by 
the offeror or any of its concert parties in the previous twelve months.  
 
(c) Rule 9 of the Irish Takeover Rules further provides that, inter alia, where a single holder, who holds over 50 per 
cent. of the voting rights in the Company, acquires additional shares which carry voting rights, then they will not 
generally be required to make a general offer to the other shareholders to acquire the balance of the shares not held 
by that holder.  
 
(d) Squeeze-out  
Under the Act if an offeror were to acquire 80 percent of the Ordinary Shares in issue within four months of making its 
offer, it could then compulsorily acquire the remaining 20 percent. It would do so by sending a notice to outstanding 
shareholders telling them that it would compulsorily acquire their shares and then, unless the High Court of Ireland 
determined otherwise one month later, it would execute a transfer of the outstanding shares in its favour and pay the 
consideration to the Company, which would hold the consideration on trust for outstanding shareholders. Where the 
offeror already owns more than 20 percent of the Company at the time that the offeror makes an offer for the balance 
of the shares, then the compulsory acquisition rights only apply if the offeror acquires at least 80 per cent of the 
remaining shares which also represent at least 75 percent in number of the holders of the accepting shareholders. 
 
(e) Buy-out  
The Act also gives minority shareholders in the Company a right to be bought out in certain circumstances by an 
offeror who has made a takeover offer. If a takeover offer related to all the Ordinary Shares in the Company and at any 
time before the end of the period within which the offer could be accepted, the offeror held or had agreed to acquire 
not less than 80 percent of the Ordinary Shares, any holder of shares to which the offer related who had not accepted 
the offer could by a written communication to the offeror require it to acquire those shares. The offeror would be 
required to give any shareholder notice of his right to be bought out within one month of that right arising. 
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22.1.7 Taxation  
 
Irish taxation  
 
The following paragraphs are intended as a general guide only for shareholders who are resident and ordinarily 
resident in Ireland for tax purposes, holding Ordinary Shares as investments and not as securities to be realised in the 
course of a trade, or by reason of their or another person’s employment, or as collective investment schemes, or as 
insurance companies, and are based on current legislation and Irish Revenue Commissioners practice. Any 
prospective purchaser of Ordinary Shares who is in any doubt about his/her tax position or who is subject to taxation in 
a jurisdiction other than Ireland should consult his own professional adviser immediately.  
 
Withholding tax  
 
Withholding tax at the standard rate of income tax (currently 20 per cent) applies to dividend payments and other profit 
distributions by an Irish resident company. Certain categories of Irish resident shareholder are exempt from 
withholding tax if they make an appropriate declaration of entitlement to exemption to the Company in advance of 
payment of any relevant distribution, including (but not limited to):  
 
• An Irish resident company;  
 
• An Irish pension fund or an exempt Irish charity approved by the Irish Revenue Commissioners;  
 
• A qualifying fund manager in an approved retirement fund or an approved minimum retirement fund or qualifying 
savings manager in accordance with section 172C (2) (ba) of the Irish Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 (“TCA”), who is 
receiving the relevant distribution as income arising in respect of assets held;  
 
• A Personal Retirement Savings Account (“PRSA”) administrator who is receiving the relevant distribution as income 
arising in respect of PRSA assets;  
 
• A qualifying employee share ownership trust;  
 
• A collective investment undertaking;  
 
• A designated broker receiving the distribution for a special portfolio account;  
 
• A person who is entitled to exemption from income tax under Schedule F on dividends in respect of an investment in 
whole or in part of payments received in respect of a civil action or from the Personal Injuries Assessment Board for 
damages in respect of mental or physical infirmity;  
 
• Certain qualifying trusts established for the benefit of an incapacitated individual and/or persons in receipt of income 
from such a qualifying trust;  
 
• A person entitled to exemption to income tax under Schedule F by virtue of section 192 (2) of the TCA; and  
 
• A unit trust to which section 731(5)(a) of the TCA applies.  
  
Certain categories of non-resident shareholders are exempt from withholding tax if they make an appropriate 
declaration of entitlement to exemption to the Company in advance of payment of any dividend, including (but not 
limited to):  
 
• Persons (other than a company) who (i) are neither resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland and (ii) are resident for 
tax purposes in (a) a country which has in force a tax treaty with Ireland (a “tax treaty country”) or (b) an EU Member 
State other than Ireland;  
 
• Companies not resident in Ireland which are resident in an EU Member State or a tax treaty country, by virtue of the 
law of a tax treaty  country or an EU Member State, and are not controlled, directly or indirectly, by Irish residents; 
 
• Companies not resident in Ireland which are directly or indirectly controlled by a person or persons who are, by virtue 
of the law of a tax treaty country or an EU Member State, resident for tax purposes in a tax treaty country or an EU 
Member State other than Ireland and who are not controlled, directly or indirectly, by persons who are not residents for 
tax purposes in a tax treaty  country or an EU Member State;  
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• Companies not resident in Ireland the principal class of shares of which is substantially and regularly traded on a 
stock exchange in Ireland, on one or more than one recognised stock exchange in a tax treaty country or in another 
EU Member State or such other stock exchange as may be approved of by the Minister for Finance; or  
 
• Companies not resident in Ireland that are 75 per cent subsidiaries of a single company, or are wholly-owned by two 
or more companies, in either case the principal class(es) of shares of which is/are substantially and regularly traded on 
a stock exchange in Ireland, on one or more than one recognised stock exchange in a tax treaty country or in another 
EU Member State or such other stock exchange as may be approved of by the Minister for Finance.  
  
In the case of a non-resident shareholder resident in an EU Member State or tax treaty country, with the exception of 
corporate shareholders, the declaration must be accompanied by a current certificate of residence from the revenue 
authorities in the shareholder’s country of residence.  
 
The Company will assume responsibility for the withholding of taxes at source for UK shareholders who do not qualify 
for the exemptions set out above or fail to provide the relevant certification. 
 
Taxation of dividends  
 
Irish resident shareholders who are individuals will be subject to income tax, PRSI and Universal Social Charge (USC) 
on the aggregate of the net dividend received and the withholding tax deducted. The withholding tax deducted will be 
available for offset as a credit against the individual’s income tax liability. A shareholder may claim to have the 
withholding tax refunded to him to the extent it exceeds his income tax liability.  
 
An Irish resident shareholder which is a company will not be subject to Irish corporation tax on dividends received from 
the Company and tax will not be withheld at source by the Company provided the appropriate declaration is made. A 
company, which is a close company as defined under Irish legislation, may be subject to a corporation tax surcharge 
on dividend income to the extent that it is not distributed.  
 
Capital gains tax  
 
The Company’s Ordinary Shares constitute chargeable assets for Irish capital gains tax purposes and accordingly 
shareholders who are resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland, depending on their circumstances, may be liable to Irish 
tax on capital gains on a disposal of Ordinary Shares. The Irish capital gains tax rate is currently 33 per cent. 
Shareholders of the Company who are neither resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland and who do not hold the 
Ordinary Shares for the purposes of a trade carried on in Ireland should not be subject to Irish tax on capital gains 
arising on the disposal of the Ordinary Shares, on the basis that the shares will be quoted on a stock exchange. An 
Irish resident individual, who is a shareholder who ceases to be an Irish resident for a period of less than five years 
and who disposes of Ordinary Shares during that period, may be liable, on a return to Ireland, to capital gains tax on 
any gain realised.  
 
Stamp duty  
 
Irish stamp duty will be charged at the rate of 1 per cent on the amount or value of the consideration on any 
conveyance or transfer on sale or voluntary disposition of Ordinary Shares. In relation to a conveyance or transfer on 
sale or voluntary disposition of Ordinary Shares under the CREST System, Irish stamp duty at the rate of 1 per cent 
will be payable on the amount or value of the consideration. 
 
The person accountable for the payment of stamp duty is generally the transferee. Stamp duty is normally payable 
within 30 days following the date of execution of the transfer. Late or inadequate payments of stamp duty will result in 
a liability for interest, penalties and surcharges.  
 
No stamp duty or capital duty will generally be payable on the issue of new Ordinary Shares by the Company.  
 
Irish Capital Acquisitions Tax  
 
Irish Capital Acquisitions Tax (“CAT”) applies to gifts and inheritances  
 
(i) where either the person making or receiving the gift or inheritance is resident or ordinary resident in Ireland at the 
date of the gift or inheritance; or  
  
(ii) to the extent that the property of which the gift or inheritance consists is situated in Ireland at the date of the gift or 
inheritance.  
  
CAT is primarily payable by the person who receives the gift or inheritance. All taxable gifts in the same class 
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relationship (see below) are aggregated and only the excess over a certain tax free threshold is taxed. The tax free 
threshold is dependent on the relationship between the donor and donee and the cumulative previous gifts and 
inheritances from the donors of the same class. The tax free threshold amounts currently in force are:  
 
(i) €310,000 in the case of gifts and inheritances received from a parent and in the case of certain inheritances 
received by a parent from a child.  
  
(ii) €32,500 in the case of gifts and inheritances received from a brother, sister or from a brother or sister of a parent or 
from a grandparent; and  
  
(iii) €16,250 in the case of persons who are not related to one another.  
  
CAT is charged at a rate of 33 per cent in the case of gifts and inheritances. Gifts and inheritances passing between 
spouses are exempt from CAT.  
 
 
Ordinary Shares will be regarded as located in Ireland if the Company is required to maintain its ordinary share 
register in Ireland which is and will continue to be the case. Accordingly, a liability to CAT may arise on the gift or 
inheritance of an ordinary share notwithstanding the fact that the holder may be domiciled and/or resident outside of 
Ireland.  
 
United Kingdom - taxation for UK investors  
 
The following paragraphs are intended as a general guide only for shareholders who are resident and ordinarily 
resident in the UK for tax purposes, holding Ordinary Shares as portfolio investments and not as securities to be 
realised in the course of a trade. They do not purport to be comprehensive nor to describe all potential relevant 
considerations. They are based on current legislation and HM Revenue & Customs' practice relating to the taxation of 
foreign source dividends at the date of this Document.  
 
Any shareholder who is any doubt about his tax position or who is subject to taxation in a jurisdiction other than the UK 
should consult his or her own professional adviser immediately.  
 
UK tax on capital gains  
 
If an individual shareholder disposes of all or some of his Ordinary Shares, a liability to tax on chargeable gains may 
arise, depending on the shareholder’s circumstances and available exemptions and reliefs. In the absence of any 
exemptions and reliefs the current rate of tax on gains made by individuals resident in the UK is 10 per cent for basic 
rate tax payers and 20 per cent for higher rate tax payers.  
 
In general, gains of companies, as reduced by indexation relief (which increases the cost of the asset by reference to 
the movement in the RPI index over the period of ownership), are subject to corporation tax at the company’s relevant 
rate.  
 
UK Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax  
 
Other than in respect of arrangements for depositary receipts and clearance services (to which special rules apply) no 
UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax (“SDRT”) will generally be payable on the issue of new Ordinary Shares by 
the Company.  
 
A charge to stamp duty will arise only on the transfer of Ordinary Shares where there is a matter or thing to be done in 
the UK or where the document or transfer is executed in the UK. Where the transfer is within the charge to stamp duty 
the rate of tax is 0.5 per cent. of the actual consideration paid (rounded up to the nearest multiple of £5). Where a 
stamp duty liability arises, this is payable within 30 days of the date on which the stampable transfer is executed. 
Interest and penalties are normally charged if stamp duty is paid after the due date.  
 
On the basis that the Ordinary Shares are not registered in a register which is kept in the United Kingdom then no 
SDRT will be charged on the transfer of Ordinary Shares. (See section on Irish taxation for details of Irish stamp duty).  
 
Dividend withholding taxes in Ireland  
 
Dividends paid to investors resident for tax purposes in the UK may be subject to a reduced withholding tax of 15 per 
cent of the gross dividend in Ireland in accordance with the provisions of the UK and Ireland Double Taxation Treaty. 
For most UK individual investors this withholding tax should be creditable against their UK tax liability. For both 
individuals and companies having insufficient taxable income to give rise to a UK tax charge, investors should be able 
to elect to treat Irish withholding tax as an expense to be deducted from the gross dividend so that the taxable receipt 
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is reduced to the amount of the dividend net of withholding tax.  
 
It is possible for most non-Irish resident persons to claim exemption from Irish Dividend Withholding Tax on making an 
appropriate declaration to the Company (see section on Irish taxation).  
 
Non UK domiciled individuals  
 
Where the individual is resident but not domiciled in the UK it is recommended that such individuals should consult his 
or her own professional adviser in relation to the UK taxation of dividends received from the Company. 
 
UK taxation of foreign dividend income  
 
Dividends paid by a Company resident for tax purposes in Ireland will constitute “relevant foreign income” for UK 
income tax purposes when received by individuals or trustees of a discretionary trust who are tax resident in the UK. 
Dividends received by a UK tax resident corporate investor will form part of that Company’s profits chargeable to 
corporation tax.  
 
Individual shareholders who are resident in the UK for tax purposes will be taxed on the aggregate of the gross 
dividend received (net dividend plus any withholding tax deducted in Ireland) plus its associated tax credit. Such tax 
credit is 10 per cent of the combined amount of the gross dividend and the tax credit (i.e. the tax credit will be one-
ninth of the gross dividend). This dividend income will be treated as the top slice of an individual’s income and will be 
subject to tax at a rate of 32.5 per cent where the individual is liable at the higher rate or 10 per cent where liable at 
other rates (the lower or basic rate). The tax credit will discharge in full the income tax liability of any taxpayer other 
than a higher rate or additional rate taxpayer, who will have an additional liability. The special rate of tax for higher rate 
taxpayers who receive dividends is 32.5 per cent., this rate being applied to the combined amount of the gross 
dividend and the tax credit. Any withholding tax deducted on payment of the dividend will be credited against the 
resulting UK income tax liability. After taking into account the 10 per cent tax credit and Irish withholding tax deducted 
at 15 per cent of the gross dividend, such a taxpayer would have to account for an additional 10 per cent of the 
combined amount of the gross dividend and tax credit. Unutilised withholding tax is not repayable.  
 
A new additional tax rate of 45 per cent will apply to dividend income for individuals with income in excess of 
£150,000.  
 
Corporate shareholders will be liable to UK corporation tax on foreign dividends unless the dividends fall within an 
exempt class.  
 
Subject to the rules applying to the first £1,000 of income, UK resident trustees of discretionary or accumulation trusts 
are liable to income tax on UK company dividends at 42.5 per cent. of the gross dividend. Any withholding tax 
deducted will be credited against this liability resulting in a net income tax liability equivalent to 27.5 per cent. of the 
gross dividend.  
 
UK Inheritance Tax  
 
UK domiciled individuals are chargeable to UK Inheritance Tax in respect of property situated anywhere in the world. 
Non-UK domiciled individuals are chargeable only to UK inheritance tax in respect of property situated in the UK.  
 
The UK Inheritance Tax legislation contains no specific rules for determining where property is situated therefore the 
normal situs rules apply. As regards registered shares, they are generally situated where they are registered unless 
they are transferable to more than one jurisdiction and in such cases they are situated in the country in which they are 
likely to be dealt with in the normal course of affairs.  
 
Where property is regarded as situated in the UK for UK Inheritance Tax purposes, a gift of such property by, or on the 
death of an individual holder of such property may (subject to certain exemptions and reliefs in particular, Business 
Property relief) give rise to a liability to UK Inheritance Tax. This is regardless of whether or not the individual holder is 
domiciled or deemed to be domiciled in the UK and whether or not the holder is resident and/or ordinarily resident in 
the UK for tax purposes. For Inheritance Tax purposes a transfer of assets at less than full market value may be 
treated as a gift and particular rules apply where the donor reserves or retains some interest or benefit in the property 
being transferred. Subject to any exemptions or reliefs, a gift of an asset is potentially exempt from UK Inheritance Tax 
and falls outside the individual's estate provided the donor lives for 7 years. 
 

22.1.8 General  
 
The expenses of Admission are expected to amount to €153,000 of which €106,000 has been discharged. 
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Keith Bayley Rogers & Co. Limited has assisted IMC in the submission of this document to the Central Bank for 
approval as a prospectus and in applying to the FCA for admission to the Official List. Keith Bayley Rogers & Co. 
Limited is not responsible for the contents of this document and accepts no liability whatsoever for the accuracy of any 
information or opinions contained in this document, or for the omission of any material information, for which the 
Directors are solely responsible. Keith Bayley Rogers & Co. Limited is acting for the Company and no-one else in 
relation to the Admission and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company for providing the protections 
afforded to clients of Keith Bayley Rogers & Co. Limited, or for advising any other person in connection with the 
Admission.   
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DEFINITIONS 

 
In this document, unless the context requires otherwise, the words and expressions set out below shall bear  
the following meanings: 
 

“Act”  
 

The Companies Act, 2014of Ireland  which replaced 
Companies Acts 1963-2013,consolidating the 1963-
2013 Acts as well as introducing new provisions. 
 

“Admission” 
 
 
 
 
“Agreement” 

admission of the Ordinary Shares to the standard 
segment of the Official List and trading on the London 
Stock Exchange's regulated market for listed 
securities 
 
The negotiated document between Trove 
Rehabilitation Nominees Limited, (a company set up 
to manage the Agreement) and IMC on PL 3850 in 
Avoca, Co Wicklow, which is subject to approval from 
the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment.   
 
 

“‘A’ Ordinary Shares” 
 

‘A’ Ordinary Shares of €1 each in the capital of the 
Company 
 

“Barytes” 
 

A colourless or white mineral consisting of barium 
sulphate 
 

“Base metals” In the context of Irish minerals regulation: zinc, lead, 
copper, nickel, cobalt, manganese, cadmium, 
molybdenum, vanadium, chromium, tantalum, tin, 
tungsten, gallium, indium, thallium, bismuth, arsenic, 
antimony, tellurium and germanium.  
 

“Central Bank” 
 

Central Bank of Ireland 
 

“Companies Act” 
 

The Companies Act, 2014of Ireland  which replaced 
Companies Acts 1963-2013,consolidating the 1963-
2013 Acts as well as introducing new provisions. 
 

“Company” or “IMC” 
 
 
“CPR” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
“CPR, January 2016” 
 
 
 
 
“CPR, February 2018” 
 
 
 
 
 
“Constitution of the company” 
 

IMC Exploration Group plc, a public company limited 
by shares and incorporated in Ireland 
 
A Competent Person’s Report (CPR) is an 
independent technical report on the mineral assets of 
a company. The aim of a CPR is to provide a 
responsible, unbiased and independent opinion on the 
technical aspects of the company, with the ultimate 
purpose of informing and protecting investors.  
 
 
Independent Competent Person’s Report (CPR) 
prepared on behalf of SLR Environmental Consulting 
(Ireland) Limited by EurGeol Professor Dr. Garth Earls 
PGeo in January 2016. 
 
Independent Competent Person’s Report (CPR) 
prepared on behalf of SLR Environmental Consulting 
(Ireland) Limited by Deirdre Lewis PGeo in February 
2018. 
 
 
"Constitution" under the Companies Act 2014 replaces 

the term - "Memorandum and Articles of Association". 
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A PLC will have a Memorandum and Articles of 

Association but these will together comprise its 

Constitution. 

 
“CREST” 
 

The computer based settlement system and 
procedures which enable title to securities to be 
evidenced and transferred without a written instrument 
and which is operated by Euroclear 
 

“Directors” or “the Board” 
 

The Directors of the Company at the date of this 
document, whose names are set out on page 10 of 
this document 
 

“EMD” The exploration and mining division of  the 
Department of Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment 
 

“FCA” 
 
“Feasibility Study” 

Financial Conduct Authority of the UK 
 
An assessment of the practicality of and detail of the 
potential for a reprocessing project which would 
extract much of the remaining metal from the waste 
piles on IMC’s Avoca licence area PL 3850.   
 

“FSMA” 
 
 
“Government Report” 
 

The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 of the 
UK, as amended 
 
A Government commissioned report  (CDM - 
Feasibility Study for Management and Remediation of 
the Avoca Mining Site - December 2008)”. 
 

“Group” 
 

The Company and its Subsidiary, IMC Exploration 
Limited, at the date of Admission 
 

“IMC Exploration Limited” 
 

IMC Exploration Limited, a company incorporated in 
Ireland on 6th October 2010 with registered number 
489863 and a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company 
 

“Irish Base Metal Provence” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
“Irish Takeover Rules” 

The Irish Base Metal Province is an internationally-
recognised, highly prospective area within the Irish 
midlands and mid-west, hosted in Lower 
Carboniferous limestones. 
 
The Irish Takeover Panel Act 1997, the Irish Takeover 
Rules 2007, the Substantial Acquisition Rules 2007 
and the European Communities (Takeover Bids 
(Directive 2004/25/EC) Regulations 2006 
 

“ISDX Growth Market” 
 

The primary market segment operated by ICAP 
Securities & Derivatives Exchange Limited for 
dealings in unlisted securities 
 

 
“LEI” 
 

 
Legal Entity Identifier 

“London Stock Exchange” 
 

London Stock Exchange plc 

“Official List” 
 
 
 
“Ordinary Resolution” 

The Official List of the UK Listing Authority 
 
 
 
An ordinary resolution is a resolution passed by the 
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 shareholders of the company by a simple or bare 
majority (for example more than 50% of the vote) at a 
properly convened meeting of the shareholders. 
 
 
 
 

“Ordinary Shares” 
 

Ordinary shares of €0.001 each in the capital of the 
Company 
 

“Ore” A naturally occurring solid material from which a metal 
or mineral can be extracted  
 

"QCA" 
 

The UK Quoted Companies Alliance, the 
independent membership organisation that champions 
the interests of small to mid-size quoted companies. 
 

“Prospectus Rules” 
 
“Reverse Fault” 

The rules issued pursuant to Section 73A of the FSMA 
 
A reverse fault has the opposite movement to a 
normal fault, i.e. the hanging wall moves up rather 
than down. Reverse faults in the Carboniferous are 
believed to have occurred when older normal faults 
were subject to compression. 
 

“UK” The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland 
 

“UKLA” 
 

The UK Listing Authority which is the Financial 
Services Authority acting in its capacity as the 
competent authority for the purposes of Part VI of 
FSMA 
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The Directors 
IMC Exploration Group PLC, 

70 Ballybough Road,  
Ballybough, 
Dublin 3, 
Ireland. 

 
Competent Persons Report on Prospecting Licences held by IMC Exploration  

in the Republic of Ireland 
SCOPE AND PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

SLR Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Limited ('SLR') of 7 Dundrum Business Park, Windy Arbour, Dublin 14, Ireland, has 
been commissioned by IMC Exploration Group PLC (‘IMC’) to complete a Competent Persons Report (the ‘February 2018 
CPR’) on IMC’s exploration properties in Ireland. 
 
The February 2018 CPR has been prepared on behalf of SLR of 7 Dundrum Business Park, Windy Arbour, Dublin 14, Ireland 
by Dr Deirdre Lewis, PhD EurGeol PGeo. Dr Lewis is a Technical Director of SLR Consulting Ireland with more than 28 years 
of professional experience in the exploration and minerals industry internationally. She manages precious and base metals 
exploration and feasibility projects in Ireland, Australia, South America, Africa and Mongolia.  She has project managed a 
range of multi-disciplinary projects for EU and World Bank throughout Africa and other developing countries to build 
institutional capacity in minerals and resources management.  She prepares independent Competent Person’s Reports and 
valuations of exploration projects for stock exchange listings.  She contributed to the United Nations World Investment Report 
(2007) on transnational corporation activity in the extractive industries and impacts on development. Her brief includes 
promotion of responsible development of natural resources; social impact assessment and stakeholder engagement for 
development projects. 
Dr Lewis’s experience includes: 

 Mineral exploration, Ireland, Europe, Africa, South America, Mongolia, PNG; 

 Gold, base metals, critical minerals project appraisal & assessment; 

 Independent Valuation & CPR of range of precious and base metal projects for AIM / 43-101 markets 
CPR (Serbia/India/ Europe/ Africa/ Ireland, private); 

 Valuation of exploration property portfolios (international); 

 Gold exploration in Lake Victoria Goldfields and Lupa Goldfields of Tanzania; and 

 Management of porphyry copper-gold PNG / copper-molybdenum projects Ireland. 

 
SLR Consulting (Ireland) Ltd. has extensive experience of independent expert studies and has completed Expert Reports 
and Valuations for listings on the London, Copenhagen, Dublin, Vancouver, Luxembourg and Australian Stock Exchanges.  

 
Pursuant to its engagement, SLR has relied upon and assumed the accuracy and fair representation of all third party 
geological notes, reports and information supplied by IMC, many of which come from publically available sources.  Subject to 
the exercise of professional judgement and except as expressly described herein, SLR has not verified the original data 
compiled in these reports. 
 
INDEPENDENCE OF SLR 
Other than for the purposes of completing the February 2018 CPR, neither SLR nor any SLR staff involved in its preparation 
has any commercial interest in IMC.  Neither SLR nor any SLR staff will receive any interest in IMC or its associated 
companies as a result of undertaking the February 2018 CPR.  SLR will be paid normal professional rates for preparing the 
February 2018 CPR for IMC as laid down in SLR Assignment Quotation P44287 and SLR Project Number 501.00231.00003.  
Fees paid to SLR will not be influenced by the content of the February 2018 CPR. 
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Yours faithfully 
SLR Consulting Ireland 
 
 

 
Dr Deirdre Lewis PhD EurGeol PGeo 
Technical Director 
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 Executive Summary 1.0

IMC Exploration Group PLC (IMC) holds seven prospecting licences (PLs), issued by the Exploration and Mining 
Division (EMD) of the Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment (DCCAE) of the Irish 
Government.  Five of these are licensed for base metal and gold exploration in southeast Ireland and the 
remaining two licences for base metal exploration in the Irish Midlands.   
IMC has undertaken an exploration programme that includes a comprehensive historical data compilation and 
review, geochemical sampling, geophysical data capture/processing and drilling based on analysis of the 
aforementioned datasets.  The company has conducted a review of historic mineral exploration data utilising the 
extensive experience, knowledge and expertise of the team.  IMC considers their licences to be amongst the most 
prospective exploration licences currently available in Ireland.  This Competent Person’s Report (CPR) reviews 
and outlines the conclusions and criteria used by IMC in the selection of prospecting licences. 

Gold 
IMC’s five gold prospecting licences are in the southeast of Ireland.  Four of these are within the well-known 
Avoca volcanogenic massive sulphide (VMS) mineralised belt in Co. Wicklow, an area having highly anomalous 
gold (Au) values in bedrock and stream sediments.  Historic extraction of alluvial gold was undertaken in this area 
and gold occurrences have been found in trenching with grades of up to 42.5g/t Au.  It is therefore considered that 
this area has excellent exploration potential.  
The fifth licence for gold exploration is located in north Co. Wexford, where a mineralised quartz vein 0.6m in 
width is present, which returned an analytical value of 18.24g/t Au (Irish Marine Oil, 1999). Historic drilling has 
intersected vein quartz with visible gold at 26m depth which assayed 35.04g/t Au over 0.7m (Deevy, 2002) and 
drilling by IMC has intersected exceptionally high grade gold over potentially mineable widths (1.5m grading 
354g/t Au). 

Base Metals 
IMC’s base metal licences are situated within the world class Irish Base Metal Province which hosts a number of 
world class zinc-lead (Zn-Pb) mines such as Navan and Lisheen, as well as the more recently discovered 
Kilbricken and Pallasgreen deposits. 
In conclusion, given the exploration friendly policies promoted by the Irish Government, the country’s 
infrastructure, the previous success of other operators in Ireland together with the materials, criteria and rationale 
used by IMC for the selection of these prospecting licences, it is considered that these licences have sound and 
proper potential for the discovery of economic base metal deposits. 
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 Introduction and Scope 2.0

This report updates the 2016 CPR prepared for IMC by SLR (the 2016 SLR CPR) and includes work completed 
by IMC up until the end of 2017. This report should be read in conjunction the 2016 SLR CPR. At the time of 
writing this report, IMC had surrendered eight PLs since 2016, and had focused attention on the Avoca Block (see 
Section 8.2), where it believes that there is potential for a reprocessing operation on the spoil heaps of the historic 
Avoca copper mine. 
Ireland is a stable Republic where the government encourages mineral exploration through security of tenure, 
simple regulatory framework, low regulatory overheads and the provision of free historical exploration data 
through an online ‘open file’ system.  This is recognised by the annual independent survey by Canada’s Fraser 
Institute, where Ireland consistently ranks in the top ten international jurisdictions for mining investment and in the 
top three for exploration policy

1
.  

Ireland has a long mining tradition that continues to the present day, with a diverse geology and excellent mineral 
potential, together with a highly developed infrastructure.   
IMC holds seven Prospecting Licences (PLs), issued by EMD.  Five are licensed for base metal, barytes, silver 
and gold exploration and two are licenced for base metal, barytes and silver exploration.  IMC has been 
undertaking an exploration programme that includes historical data compilation and review, geochemical soil 
sampling, geophysical data capture/processing and drilling based on interpretation of the aforementioned 
datasets. 
Since the 2016 SLR CPR, IMC entered into a prospective joint venture (JV) with Koza Ltd. (Koza) on the five 
licences permitted for gold exploration. IMC reports that the JV has since been set aside. IMC also reports that 
both parties are in ongoing discussions regarding future arrangements. As this review is technical in nature, a 
legal review of the JV and subsequent arrangement between IMC and Koza is outside the scope of the report. 
Ireland is host to one of the great base metal ore fields of the world.  Since 1960, 16 significant zinc-lead (Zn-Pb) 
deposits of greater than 1 million tonnes (>1 Mt) have been discovered in the Carboniferous carbonate 
succession of the Irish Midlands.  Ireland is ranked first in the world in terms of zinc discovered per square 
kilometre, and second in the world with respect to lead. Large tracts of Ireland are also underlain by 
metasediments and metavolcanics of Proterozoic and Lower Palaeozoic age which contain significant 
volcanogenic massive sulphide (VMS) mineralization, (e.g. Avoca, 16Mt grading 0.6% Cu; Williams et. al., 1986) 
and auriferous mesothermal quartz veins. 
The suitability of Ireland for mineral exploration and development is proven by the discovery and development of 
five world class and numerous other smaller base metal deposits since the early 1960s. 
Data verification of the work carried out since the SLR 2016 CPR has taken place as follows: 

 Koza work reports have been reviewed and drill logs compared with the drill cores, all of 
which are retained by IMC; and 

 A selection of assay results from IMC’s database has been compared with the certified assay 
results provided by ALS laboratories in Galway. 

 The drill core from the Tulla drillhole was reviewed. 

No discrepancies were noted. 
The following sections present a review of the technical exploration programme carried out over the term of IMC’s 
licences to the end of 2017. 
 

                                                           
1
 https://www.fraserinstitute.org/studies/annual-survey-of-mining-companies-2016 
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 Geography and Infrastructure 3.0

Ireland is, in logistical terms, a relatively easy jurisdiction in which to conduct exploration, given its climate, terrain 
and infrastructure. 

3.1 Physical Features 

The Republic of Ireland is located in Western Europe, occupying five-sixths of the island of Ireland in the North 
Atlantic Ocean, west of Great Britain.  The total area is 70,273km

2
, comprising 68,883km

2 
land and 1,390km

2 

water.  Elevation ranges from Atlantic sea level to the summit of Carrauntoohil in the southwest at 1,041m.   
The Irish Base Metal Province is characterised by a terrain that is a level to rolling interior plain.  This land is 
mostly in use for agriculture and peat harvesting.  This plain is surrounded by rugged hills and low mountains in 
which the Irish Gold Province is located.  All areas are easily accessed by a well-developed road system. 

3.2 Climate 

Ireland’s climate is classified as temperate maritime; modified by the North Atlantic Gulf Stream with mild winters 
and cool summers; consistently humid and overcast about half the time. 
The mean annual temperature is around 10°C.  The temperature drops below freezing only intermittently during 
winter, and snow is scarce.  The coldest months are January and February, when daily temperatures range from 
4° to 8°C, with 7°C the average.  In summer, temperatures during the day are a comfortable 15° to 20°C.  During 
the warmest months, July and August, the average is 16°C.  There are about 18 hours of daylight daily during 
June and July. 
Ireland receives significant precipitation, some areas having as many as 270 days of rain during the year.  The 
southeast is the driest, enjoying a more continental climate. 

3.3 Transportation 

Ireland is situated in a strategic location on major air and sea routes between North America and northern 
Europe.  The island is easily accessible internationally on a daily basis. 
Ireland has 40 airports, 16 having paved runways and 24 unpaved, the majority of the latter being less than 900m 
long.  All base metal licences areas in the west are easily accessible through Shannon airport, while gold licences 
in the east can be easily accessed through Dublin airport.   
Transportation is facilitated by:  

 An excellent road network with over 96,000km of paved roadways.  Individual licence areas have good 
road access; 

 Three principal ports, from where ore and infrastructure can be shipped, include Cork in the south, 
Dublin in the east and Shannon Foynes in the west; 

 Over 3000km of railways, the majority of which are broad gauge.   
 

3.4 Communications 

The Irish telephone system is a modern digital system using cable and microwave radio relay.  Ireland has 2.02 
million main line telephones in use with 4.9 million mobile phones. 
Increasing levels of broadband access totals 3.9 million users connected directly to the internet.  Ireland is the 
landing point for the Hibernia-Atlantic submarine cable with links to the US, Canada, and UK. 
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Copper mineralisation in drill core at Avoca, Co Wicklow 
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 Exploration and Development Licensing Regulations 4.0

Exploration and mining legislation in Ireland is clear, and the Mining Development Act enacted in 2017 has 
consolidated previous legislation and regulatory conditions to provide further clarity. 

4.1 Prospecting Licences 

Prospecting Licences (PLs) are issued for a period of six years for specified minerals with a required minimum 
expenditure.  A minimum work programme is required, the details of which are agreed by the DCCAE with the 
licensee.  Work reports are required every two years, and are held confidentially for six years or until surrender of 
the licence (if earlier).  Third party insurance is required for the period of the licence, but need not be licence 
specific in that the same insurance policy may cover all ground held by the licensee. 

4.2 Fees 

Fees are payable as part of the permitting process; 

 there is an application fee of €190 for each PL area; and 

 For each six year licence, a Consideration Fee (holding charge) is payable in installments of between €375 
and €1,500.   

4.3 Permitting of Minerals Development 

Minerals can be in State ownership or privately owned.  Regardless of ownership, minerals development requires 
a State Mining Facility from the Minister.  As a matter of policy, the Minister will only accept an application for a 
State Mining Licence or Permission from the holder of a valid PL over the area in question. 

4.4 Environmental & Social Issues 

The Irish system has evolved over many years following a typical progression from concern mainly with economic 
development to a greater consideration of the need for environmental and social protection. 
It is emphasised in the Minerals Development Regulations, as set out by the Minister for Communications, 
Climate Action and Environment, that environmental issues are a priority during exploration and extraction of 
minerals.   
All development of minerals governed by the Minerals Development Acts is subject to environmental impact 
assessment through the planning process.  Therefore, any Planning Applications for such developments must be 
accompanied by an Environmental Impact Statement.  In addition, all mining developments require an Integrated 
Pollution Prevention and Control Licence which is obtained from the Environmental Protection Agency.  
Increasingly, under the Minerals Development Acts, there is a requirement for appropriate stakeholder 
engagement in advance of exploration or mine development, in accordance with the principles of the international 
Aarhus Convention, of which Ireland is a signatory.  
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 Mineral Exploration in Ireland 5.0

The Republic of Ireland has a notably diverse geology that is prospective for a range of mineral deposits (Figure 
1).   
The Lower Carboniferous carbonate rocks of the Irish Midlands are host to one of the great ore fields of the world 
(the Irish Base Metal Province).  Since 1960, 17 significant (recorded tonnage

2
 >1Mt) Zn-Pb deposits have been 

discovered, including the world-class ore body at Navan (>112Mt grading 9.8% Zn+Pb; Ashton et al., 2016).  

Ireland is ranked first in the world in terms of zinc discovered per square kilometre, and second in the world with 
respect to lead.  The high grade, shallow occurrence and clean metallurgy of the ore bodies result in a relatively 
low cost of mining for the Irish-type Zn-Pb deposits. 
Large tracts of Ireland are underlain by metasediments and metavolcanics of Proterozoic and Lower Palaeozoic 
age.  These lithologies contain significant VMS mineralization (e.g. Avoca, 16Mt grading 0.6% Cu) and auriferous 

mesothermal quartz veins.   
The latter style of mineralization has been the focus of extensive exploration efforts across the island of Ireland 
and in 1999, an opencast gold mine associated with shear-hosted quartz veins, was established at Cavanacaw in 
Co. Tyrone.  The most recent JORC-compliant resource at Cavanacaw is 78,000t grading 6.35g/t Au (Measured), 
463,000t grading 5.02g/t Au (Indicated) and 1,229,000t grading 8.23g/t Au (Inferred)

3
.   

The Curraghinalt deposit in Co. Tyrone has NI 43-101 - compliant proven and probable reserves of 5.24 Mt at 
8.54g/t Au and 3.9g/t Ag

4
.   

The Clontibret deposit in Co. Monaghan has JORC-compliant resources of 4.9 Mt grading 1.64 g/t Au and 6.8 Mt 

grading 1.56 g/t (Inferred)
5
.  

                                                           
2
 Compliance with mineral reporting codes not stated 

3
 www.galantas.com 

4
 www.dalradian.com 

5
 www.conroygoldandnaturalresources.com 
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Figure 5.1:  Geology of Ireland showing Mineral Deposits (Exploration and Mining Division, DCCAE, 
Ireland).   

Note the Galmoy and Lisheen ‘active’ mines are now closed (since 2012, 2015, respectively)  
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 GEOLOGY OF IRISH GOLD MINERALISATION 6.0

In 1795, the discovery of gold nuggets near Woodenbridge in Co. Wicklow precipitated Ireland's only indigenous 
gold rush.  The Exploration and Mining Division (EMD) of the DCCAE records that some 9,600 ounces of gold 
were recovered from the gravels of what became known as the Gold Mines River.  The most prolific location was 
below Ballinagore Bridge at the 'Red Hole'.  Gold was recovered here from an ancient river channel exposed 
beneath a capping of glacially derived material.  Prospectors failed to find a convincing bedrock source. 
Exploration companies have found many gold occurrences throughout Ireland since the mid-1980s. Up to 300 
gold occurrences are documented by the Geological Survey of Ireland (GSI)’s ‘Minlocs’ database. 

6.1 Gold Occurrences 

Gold has been known in Ireland since the Neolithic period, and occurs mainly in the coastal regions. 

6.1.1 Southeast Ireland 

In the Lower Palaeozoic rocks of southeast Ireland, gold is associated both with VMS mineralization in Co. 
Wicklow and with metasedimentary and metavolcanic sequences in Co. Wexford.  IMC is currently focussing on 
the gold potential of this region.  Drilling in Ordovician metasediments at Kilmacoo, adjacent to Avoca, has 
confirmed the existence of significant bedrock gold.  Although no compliant resource has been published, up to 
0.5Mt grading 1.5 to 2g/t Au over a strike length of 125m has been suggested by geologists (Milner and McArdle, 
1992).  

6.1.2 West of Ireland 

In the Lower Palaeozoic rocks of the west of Ireland, in Co. Mayo, gold is found both in quartz veins at Lecanvey 
and in a major shear zone at Cregganbaun.  The east-west trending Cregganbaun Shear Zone in south Co. Mayo 
crosses tuffs and metasediments of Ordovician age.  Gold has been found at many localities along the 33km 
length of the structure following the discovery of gold in bedrock in 1988.  Drilling at the western end of the Shear 
Zone has indicated 0.53Mt

6
 grading 6g/t Au, to a depth of 80m (Gold in Ireland, EMD publication 2003). 

At Bohaun, northwest of Galway, visible gold with values of 40 - 190g/t Au over widths of up to one metre have 
been found in a silicified breccia in Silurian metasediments.  In the same area, an intersection of 0.17oz/t Au over 
4.6m (15 feet) was drilled in massive pyrrhotite amphibolite pods in a Dalradian volcano-sedimentary sequence 
(Ovoca Gold, 1987, Gold in Ireland, EMD publication 2003). 

6.1.3 County Monaghan 

At Clontibret in Co. Monaghan, gold is found associated with arsenopyrite-stibnite veining in Lower Palaeozoic 
greywackes. The most recent JORC compliant resource is 4.9 Mt grading 1.64 g/t Au and 6.8 Mt grading 1.56 g/t 
(Inferred) totalling 601,104 oz Au (Conroy Gold & Natural Resources).  Significant gold mineralisation occurring in 
a sequence of argillites and arenites with quartz stockwork has been discovered in a drilling programme north 
east of Clontibret at Clay Lake, Co. Armagh, with 98.6m grading 0.57 g/t Au (including 11.5m grading 1.44g/t Au) 
reported (Conroy Gold & Natural Resources). 

6.1.4 County Kildare 

In Co. Kildare, the 1993 discovery of visible gold in quartz float, southwest of Dublin, has stimulated interest in this 
new target area of Lower Palaeozoic greywackes.  Drilling intersected a number of auriferous shear zones, the 
best being 1.3m grading 3.33 g/t Au at 52m depth (Colthurst, 1999). 

6.1.5 Northern Ireland 

Exploration has proved the presence of bedrock gold in two different geological terrains.  Attention has largely 
been focused on (i) vein-hosted quartz veins and shear zone targets in Dalradian (Pre-Cambrian) metasediments.  
The discovery of gold deposits at Curraghinalt in Co. Tyrone in 1983 and Cavanacaw in 1987 resulted in an 
upsurge of gold exploration.  (ii) Significant gold values also occur in the Ordovician volcanic rocks of Co. Tyrone 
(3.63m grading 30.51g/t Au; Clifford et al 2002). 
The most recent JORC compliant resource at Cavanacaw is 78,000t at 6.35g/t Au (Measured), 463,000t at 
5.02g/t Au (Indicated) and 1,229,000t at 8.23g/t Au (Inferred).  The Curraghinalt deposit in Co. Tyrone has NI 43-
101 - compliant proven and probable reserves of 5.24 Mt at 8.54g/t Au and 3.9g/t Ag. 

                                                           
6 Compliance with mineral reporting codes has not been checked by SLR  
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 Geology of Irish Base Metal Mineralisation 7.0

Within the Irish Midlands, the Lower Carboniferous carbonate rocks occur in a number of sub-basins where 
mineralisation exhibits well-constrained stratigraphic and structural controls.  Figure 7.1 presents the associations 
between the main mineralisation-containing sequences and their regional occurrence.   
A summary of the main host Carboniferous formations and their key deposits is presented in the following section.  
The figures and many of the resource estimates in this section are from the EMD publication “Zinc and Lead in 
Ireland”.  

7.1 Stratigraphic Controls  

Shallow-water carbonates of the Navan Group (50-400m thick) host the Navan deposit and several sub-economic 
deposits in the northern part of the Irish Base Metal Province.   
The Waulsortian limestone is a carbonate mudbank complex up to 1,500m thick, which thins to the north into 
isolated units, set in an argillaceous bioclastic limestone envelope. The Waulsortian is host to the Tynagh, 
Silvermines, Galmoy, Lisheen, Kilbricken, Pallasgreen and Harberton Bridge deposits, respectively.  Significant 
mineralisation has also been found in underlying sub-Waulsortian strata (Silvermines, Lisheen).   
The overlying shelf limestone facies of the supra-Waulsortian strata, host cross-cutting deposits at Harberton 
Bridge.   
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Figure 7.1: Schematic Cross-Section through the Carbonate Stratigraphy of the Irish Midlands 
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7.2 Structural Controls 

The structural pattern of widespread normal faulting is favourable, in that the majority of the deposits are 
associated with NE-SW (Caledonian) trending fault systems. The latter appear to have acted as conduits for 
hydrothermal fluids and are interpreted to be controlled by deep basement lineaments.  Other regions, such as 
the Lower Carboniferous Northwest Basin, also have potentially favourable geological settings.   

7.3 Mineralisation 

The two most significant styles of mineralization are: 

 stratabound (and stratiform) deposits, hosted in the Navan Group and Waulsortian limestone (the so-
called ‘Irish type’).  The stratabound deposits are preferentially located in the stratigraphically lowest, 
non-argillaceous, carbonate strata.  At Navan the mineralization occurs as stacked stratabound lenses, 
while the Waulsortian-hosted deposits have a variety of forms, with regular (Lisheen, Garrycam) or 
irregular tabular lenses (Galmoy, Upper Silvermines), cross-cutting epigenetic zones (Lower 
Silvermines) or discrete pods (Tynagh, Ballinalack).  Enhanced zones of mineralization are associated 
with NE or ENE trending faults or mineralized fractures; and 

 

 cross-cutting deposits, typically found in the Waulsortian and supra-Waulsortian lithologies.  The form of 
the deposits varies from tabular, dome, or pipe style, but typically occur in tabular bodies at the base of 
the Waulsortian, which in some cases extend up to 500m into overlying strata. 

7.4 Individual Base Metal Deposits 

In the modern era, five base metal deposits have been brought into production in Ireland (see Table 7.1) 

Table 7.1: Main Base Metal (Zn-Pb) Deposits in Ireland (Source: EMD) 

Deposit Year of Discovery Tonnage (Mt) Grade (Zn+Pb) Status 

Navan 1970 112.0 9.8% Operating Underground 

Lisheen 1990 22.8 14.10% Closed Underground 

Galmoy 1986 9.7 16.20% Closed Underground 

Silvermines 1963 17.7 8.90% Closed Underground 

Tynagh 1961 9.2 11.2% Closed Pit/Underground 

7.4.1 Galmoy 

The Galmoy Zn-Pb deposit was discovered in 1986.  Production commenced in early 1997 and the mine closed in 
2012.  Production from 1997 to end March 2005 was 4.57 Mt grading 11.1% Zn and 2.1% Pb.  Reserves (at end 
March 2005) were 4.02Mt grading 13.6% Zn and 4.0% Pb. 
The Zn-Pb orebodies occur approximately 70m below surface and are hosted in basal (Lower Carboniferous) 
Waulsortian limestones.  The host rock has been extensively dolomitized and brecciated.  The mineralisation is 
regarded as being replacive and stratabound.  There are several areas of high-grade mineralization with the G-
orebody being a classic “Irish type” deposit occurring in the hanging wall of a major NE fault.   

7.4.2 Lisheen 

The carbonate-hosted Zn-Pb deposit at Lisheen was discovered in 1990 and closed in 2015.  The most recent 
figures show that since mining was initiated in 1999, approximately 21.04Mt grading 11.82% Zn and 1.98% Pb 
had been mined at Lisheen.  The last official Resource and Reserve Statement issued by Lisheen in March 2014 
showed remaining reserves amounting to 1.67Mt at 10.46% Zn and 1.72% Pb, with additional resources of 
2.07Mt grading 14.26% Zn and 2.40% Pb (EMD). 
Mineralisation occurs as massive stratiform sulphide lenses at the base of dolomitized (Lower Carboniferous) 
Waulsortian in the hanging wall of an ENE trending fault zone (see Figure 7.2).   
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Figure 7.2: Cross-section through the Lisheen Deposit 

(red zones represent zinc-lead sulphide mineralisation) 
 

7.4.3 Silvermines 

In 1963, a drilling programme intersected ore-grade Zn-Pb mineralisation in Lower Carboniferous carbonates in 
the hanging wall of a northerly-downthrown, east trending fault zone at Silvermines, Co Tipperary.  The mine 
produced some 17.7Mt grading 8.9% Zn+Pb until closure in 1982. 
Mineralisation occurs as both stratabound lenses and as cross cutting veins.  The stratabound lenses typically 
occur at the base of the Waulsortian.   
There is also an underlying epigenetic zone (veins, breccias) representing a feeder to the upper mineralised zone.  
The upper zone contained 12.94Mt grading 6.78% Zn and 2.55% Pb, while the lower zone contained 4.74Mt 
grading 5.49% Zn and 2.44% Pb. 

7.4.4 Tynagh 

This Lower Carboniferous, carbonate-hosted, stratiform lead-zinc-copper-silver-barite orebody at Tynagh, Co 
Galway, was found in 1961, using conventional shallow soil geochemistry and geophysics (EM and IP).  The mine 
commenced production in 1965 and the orebody was worked out by 1980.  The deposit contained approximately 
9.2Mt grading 11.2% Pb+Zn. 
The primary sulphide mineralisation (galena, sphalerite and chalcopyrite) was hosted mainly as lenticular bodies 
in Waulsortian limestone in the hanging-wall of an east trending fault.  The higher grades of mineralisation were 
found adjacent to the fault and towards the base of the Waulsortian limestone.   

7.4.5 Navan 

The Navan deposit, the largest zinc mine in Europe and the eighth largest in the world, was discovered in 1970. It 
is estimated that the total pre- mining resource, as currently known, was in excess of 112Mt grading 7.9% Zn and 
1.9% Pb.  At the end of 2014, JORC classified Mineral Resources comprised 11Mt grading 6.3% Zn and 2.1% Pb 
and Ore Reserves comprised an additional 15.3Mt grading 6.6%Zn and 1.5% Pb (Ashton et al., 2016). 
This deposit is hosted in basal Carboniferous shallow-water carbonates and comprises a stacked series of 
massive stratiform and stratabound sulphide lenses aligned approximately NE and parallel with major faulting 
(see Figure 7.3).   
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Figure 7.3: Cross Section through the Navan Deposit 

(red zones represent zinc-lead sulphide mineralisation) 
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 Prospecting Licence areas currently held by IMC 8.0

 
IMC currently holds seven PLs in Ireland.  Five of these are in southeast Ireland, licensing exploration for base 
metals, barytes, gold and silver, while the remaining two licences are in the Irish Midlands, licensing exploration 
for ores of base metals, barytes and silver. 
 
The following table and maps show the location of IMC’s PLs with reference numbers (PL area No.) as defined by 
the EMD, together with exploration blocks (groups of licences) as defined by IMC (see Table 8.1). 

Table 8.1:  IMC licences in Ireland (source: EMD & IMC) 

PL 
No. 

Block County  Km2 
Centre 

X 
Centre 

Y 
Commodity  Issue Date Renewal Date 

€ Expenditure 
requirement 

3849 Avoca Wicklow 45.3 324291 184059 Bm, b, s, g 07/02/2013 06/02/2019 60k 

3850 Avoca Wicklow 27.6 320661 182961 Bm, b, s, g 07/02/2013 06/02/2019 60k 

2239 
Goldmines 
River Wicklow 27.6 320409 173283 Bm, b, s, g 12/05/2011 11/05/2023 30k 

3857 
Goldmines 
River Wicklow 49.9 315075 176136 Bm, b, s, g 12/05/2011 11/05/2023 30k 

2551 Kilmichael Wexford 36.8 308340 159731 Bm, b, s, g 12/05/2011 11/05/2023 30k 

3644 Shannon Clare 23.3 137393 162364 Bm, b, s 12/05/2011 13/05/2023 30k+15k 

3729 Tulla Clare 30.8 154773 184413 Bm, b, s 20/04/2011 19/04/2023 40k 

Bm: Base Metals; b: Barytes; s: Silver; g: Gold 
 

Figure 8.1 shows the position of the PL areas relative to major Irish cities and topographical features, while 

Figure 8.2 shows the PL areas overlain on a simplified bedrock geological map (EMD, 2003). 
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Figure 8.1: Location Map of the PLs currently held by IMC Exploration Ltd 

 

 

Figure 8.2: Location of PLs currently held by IMC relative to simplified bedrock Geology of Irish 
Midlands 
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8.1 Drilling by IMC post January 2016 

IMC has drilled six drillholes (totalling 1086.9m) on two licences since the issuance of the previous SLR CPR 
(January, 2016) and this current update (February, 2018), see Table 8.2, below, for details. 

Table 8.2 Drillhole location and depths drilled by IMC (January 2016 – February 2018). 

Hole ID Block PL GR Easting Northing Azi Dip (deg) Depth (m) 

17-3729-05 Tulla 3729 IG 154615 182880 0 -90 161 

15-3850-03 Avoca 3850 IG 321476 183908 309 -55 217.95 

15-3850-04 Avoca 3850 IG 321452 183821 309 -55 189.1 

15-3850-05 Avoca 3850 IG 321271 184013 129 -50 201 

15-3850-06 Avoca 3850 IG 321134 182969 309 -55 131.85 

15-3850-07 Avoca 3850 IG 321478 183947 309 -55 186 

 
 
 

 
 
  

Goldmines River Valley 
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8.2 Avoca Block - Prospecting Licences 3849 & 3850  

The Avoca Block, consisting of PLs 3849 and 3850 (Figure 8.3) is located wholly in Co. Wicklow. The licences 
cover the historic Avoca copper mine and associated mine structures, workings and spoil heaps.   
In the opinion of IMC, the licences have untested potential for primary gold mineralisation.  Since the SLR 2016 
CPR, IMC have completed five drillholes, to the northeast of the historic mine site. The drillholes intersected 
significant base metal mineralisation. 
IMC has also undertaken preliminary grab-sampling of the waste piles at the Avoca mine site, confirming the 
presence of gold, silver, lead, copper and zinc. In IMC’s opinion, there is potential for a reprocessing project 
which would extract much of the remaining metal from the waste piles. IMC believes that this option is deserving 
of further investigation, particularly as it could have the added benefit of reducing the environmental hazard on 
the historic mine site. 
A review by SLR of documentation held by IMC demonstrated that the Avoca Block licences are in good 
standing. The Avoca Block was included in the now set-aside Koza joint-venture project. 

 

Figure 8.3 Geology of the Avoca Block, Co Wicklow 

8.2.1 Avoca Block Geology/ Structure 

The primary stratigraphic and structural features of the Avoca Block are as follows: 

 the licence block lies on the Avoca mineralised belt, and on its interpreted SW extension located in the core 
of the Caledonian para-tectonic belt of SE Ireland; 

 the Lower Palaeozoic rocks of the region were deposited in the major NE trending Leinster depositional 
basin; 

 the rocks of the Avoca district have undergone a complex structural history, largely or exclusively during the 
Caledonian Orogeny of late Silurian to early Devonian age; 

 the dominant geological structure present is a penetrative cleavage which affects all lithologies and is 
accompanied by low grade regional metamorphism which attains greenschist facies in many places; 

 the potential exists for vein, shear-hosted and stratabound gold mineralisation; and 

 the gold mineralisation is associated with tuff units of mid-Ordovician age, consisting of chloritic tuffs, sericitic 
tuffs and coarse pyritic/ chalcopyritic felsic tuffs.   
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8.2.2 Avoca Block Mineralisation 

In the opinion of IMC, the anomalous bedrock zones of interest have considerable untested strike potential.  The 
mineralisation in the block is summarised below: 

 

 grab samples from trenches returned values of between 3.45 to 42.5g/t Au.   

 Rock chip sampling of two zones of primary gold mineralisation at the McLaren zone resulted in various 
values in the range 1.18g/t Au to 12.55g/t Au. (McKillen, Tyler and Associates, 2009); and 

 Two shallow holes, DDH1 to 46.2m and DDH2 to 32.0m, were drilled.  Neither of these holes reached their 
target due to equipment failure (Brotzen, 1999). 

 

8.2.3 Avoca Block Mineralisation – IMC Work Highlights 
 
An independent expert report (Sheppard, 2013) on PL 3850 in the northeast of the area at Kilmacoo, confirmed 
the reports of very significant previous drill intersections including: 

o 19.8m grading 5.03g/t Au in drillhole KG01  
o 10.0m grading 12.95g/t Au in drillhole KG08  
o 10.2m grading 3.31g/t  Au in drillhole KG12  

 
Base metal massive sulphide drill intersections include: 

o 8.3m grading 10.1% Zn, 5.73% Pb, 0.48% Cu and 284g/t Ag in drillhole KG08  
o 4.15m grading 15.91% Zn, 7.47% Pb, 0.75% Cu and 64g/t Ag in drillhole KG11  

 
The report concluded that significant potential for exploration success remains within the Kilmacoo area, 
particularly to the southwest of the previous intersections.  

 Drillhole 15-3850-01 intersected a 11m zone (26m - 37m) grading 3.16g/t Au including a 6m interval (31m-
37m) grading 4.4g/t Au and a 1m interval (31m -32m) grading 12g/t Au. 

 Eight drillholes tested parts of PL 3857 to a maximum depth of 192.0m (Figure 7).  Selected sections of 
each drillhole were sampled and analysed.  The best value returned was 1.8m grading 0.04g/t Au (12-
3857–01; 44.20- 46.00m) 

 

Drilling since 2013 
Since the Sheppard report above (2013), Koza drilled five further holes in the vicinity of the historic Avoca mine 
(see Figure 8.4) as part of the IMC JV. Monthly reports were submitted by Koza to IMC from May to November 
2015, with the exception of October. Summary drillhole logs included in the reports show some significant 
mineralised intersections, summarised in Table 8.3, below. The drillholes were briefly reported in the 2016 SLR 
CPR and further detail is provided below. 

Table 8.3  Summary visual estimates and assays for Avoca drilling. 

Drillhole From To Cpy % Gal % Sph % Au g/t 

15-3850-03 73 80 1.5 
 

1.0 0.01 - 0.06 

15-3850-03 155 156 3 
   15-3850-03 165 170 0.5 - 3.0 

   15-3850-03 185 193 0.5 - 2.5 
   15-3850-04 72 87 0.5 - 1.5 
   15-3850-04 114 117 0.5 - 3.0 
   15-3850-04 116 120 

 
0.2 

  15-3850-05 80 95 
  

0.4 - 2.0 
 15-3850-05 91 99 1.0 - 5.0 0 - 2.0 

  15-3850-06 104.5 110 
  

0.1 - 0.3 
 15-3850-06 107 119 0.2 - 0.5 

   15-3850-07 55 77 
  

0.1 - 0.3 
 15-3850-07 73 75 0.1 - 0.2 

    
Chalcopyrite (Cpy), Galena (Gal) and Sphalerite (Sph) grades are visual estimates. Gold (Au) is an assayed 
value. Au values were not yet available for drillholes other than 15-3850-03 at the time the Koza reports were 

written. Data for this table were summarised from Koza reports to IMC (Grieve 2015a & Grieve 2015b). 
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Figure 8.4  Drillhole locations at Avoca (15-3850 series) 

 

Geophysics since 2016 
Koza completed a ground magnetic survey across both prospecting licences in the Avoca Block (Grieve, 2015b). 
A map showing the coverage and magnetic values reduced to pole is presented in Figure 8.5, below. 
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Figure 8.5  Overview of magnetic surveying carried out on the Avoca Block 

Figure taken from the Koza November 2015 Report (Grieve, 2015b). A legend was not supplied with the 
map. It is assumed, based on standard practice, that red indicates relatively high magnetic values and blue, 

low. 
 

Shallow Soil Geochemical Surveying 
Koza conducted a detailed shallow soil geochemical survey on both of the Avoca PLs.  Highlights of the sampling 
include: 

 up to 0.57 ppm Au, southeast and northeast of the historic mine workings (see Figure 8.6); 

 up to 2360 ppm Cu, southeast of the historic mine workings; and 

up to 13,900 ppm Pb, southeast and north of the historic mine workings.
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Figure 8.6  Shallow soil geochemical results at the Avoca Block (Au) 
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Waste Pile Sampling 
The sampling of the waste piles at Avoca returned significant values for both gold (up to 5.1g/t Au) and lead (up 
to 3.8% Pb). It is worth noting that the samples were all subjective ‘grab samples’ and the waste piles were not 
sampled at depth.  
IMC believes that due to weathering and leaching, there is potential for increased gold values in the lowermost 
parts of the waste piles. IMC intends to conduct a follow-up sampling programme which will sample the waste 
piles at depth (3-5m). See Figure 8.7 and Table 8.4 for details of the waste pile sampling. 

 

Figure 8.7  Avoca Waste Piles Sample Locations 
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Table 8.4  Assay results for Avoca Waste Pile Sampling 

SAMPLE No X_ING Y_ING Au g/t Cu % Pb % 

EA01 320726 183069 0.2 0.1 0.2 

EA02 320699 183017 1.7 0.1 0.6 

EA03 320631 182962 0.2 0.0 1.0 

EA04 320569 182899 0.1 0.0 0.2 

EA05 320532 182867 0.1 0.0 0.2 

EA06 320541 182857 0.1 0.0 0.1 

EA07 320436 182894 0.2 0.0 0.2 

EA08 320473 182938 0.2 0.0 0.2 

EA09 320569 182986 0.2 0.0 0.2 

EA10 320619 183022 0.1 0.0 0.6 

EA11 320688 183056 1.0 0.1 0.5 

EA12 320701 183076 0.5 0.2 0.2 

EA13 320735 183045 1.8 0.3 0.7 

EA14 320027 182500 4.2 0.3 3.6 

EA15 320051 182511 5.1 0.2 3.8 

EA16 320058 182520 1.8 0.1 0.9 

EA17 320101 182510 0.4 0.2 0.5 

EA18 320123 182548 0.3 3.8 0.2 

EA19 320134 182588 0.2 0.1 0.3 

EA20 320158 182596 0.4 0.1 0.1 

EA21 320181 182593 0.1 0.0 0.1 

WA01 319399 181649 0.3 0.1 0.1 

WA02 319432 181696 0.5 0.1 0.1 

WA3 319303 181466 0.3 0.1 0.3 

WA4 319434 181357 0.4 0.1 0.4 
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8.3 The Goldmines River Block – PLs 2239 & 3857 

The Goldmines River Block (see Figure 8.8), consisting of PLs 2239 and 3857, is located wholly in Co. Wicklow. 
The licences cover some of the areas of historic alluvial gold production in Ireland.  Historical records indicate 
that up to 9,600 ounces of gold were extracted in the late nineteenth century from the East and West Gold Mines 
Rivers (EMD, 2003).  
Since the SLR 2016 CPR, IMC has completed a programme of shallow soil geochemical sampling, for a total of 
122 samples. The block was included in the (now set-aside) Koza joint-venture project. 
In the opinion of IMC, the licences have untested potential for primary gold mineralisation.   

 

Figure 8.8  Geology of the Goldmines River Block 

The Goldmines River block is contiguous with, and immediately to the south of, the Avoca Block. The geology of 
the block is the same as that of the Avoca Block and is described in Section 8.2.1, above. 

8.3.1 Goldmines River Block Mineralisation – IMC Work Highlights 

The shallow soil geochemical survey returned gold values up to 0.003ppm Au (see Figure 8.9).  
Since the SLR CPR of 2016, there has been a comprehensive review of work carried out on the licence by 
geological consultant Robert Healy, of Orr Geo Consulting, Australia (Healy, 2017). The review indicates that 
while the geological setting appears favourable, shallow soil geochemical surveying to date has not returned 
particularly significant gold values. An electron microprobe study on gold nuggets found in the valley is 
recommended, to determine whether the gold is orogenic in nature. If the gold is demonstrated to have an 
orogenic signature, further exploration would likely be warranted (Healy, 2017). 
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Figure 8.9  Au results from shallow soil geochemical sampling on PL 3857 

Figure taken from Koza Report (Grieve, 2015a). 

2km 
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8.4 The Kilmichael Licence – PL 2551 

PL 2551 (Figure 8.10) is located in north Co. Wexford, 4km west of Gorey town and some 10km southwest of the 
Avoca block.  Following assessment of historic data, it was apparent to IMC that the licence clearly had untested 
potential for primary gold mineralisation.  Drilling and float sampling indicates that the Kilmichael area contains 
significant gold grades in a structurally complex setting (Deevy, 2002).  IMC has completed six drillholes with 
highly positive results. 
Since the SLR CPR of 2016, there has been a comprehensive review of work carried out on the licence by 
geological consultant Robert Healy, of Orr Geo Consulting, Australia (Healy, 2017). 

 

Figure 8.10: Geology of the Kilmichael Licence 

8.4.1 Kilmichael Licence Geology/Structure 

The licences are underlain mainly by the Ribband Group metasediments of Tremadoc Arenig age (Lower 
Ordovician).  The Group is named after the ribbon-like banding which can be seen in many outcrops on the 
property.  The banding is intensely folded and crenulated in many of the outcrops and in drill core.  The Ribband 
Group (Middle Cambrian – Llandeilo) consists of a succession of distal turbidites, mainly siltstones with minor 
intermediate and basic volcanics.  Several subdivisions of the Ribband Group are present on the licence.   
The regional trend is the northeast/southwest Caledonian trend, with the rocks younging to the southeast and the 
Leinster Granite lying to the west of the project area.   

8.4.2 Kilmichael Licence Mineralisation 

Mineralisation in the licence is described as follows: 

 previous operators completed three drillholes, totalling approximately 275m at Kilmichael (Deevy, 2002); 

 sampling at Kilmichael demonstrated values at surface following the discovery of a mineralised quartz vein 
0.6m in width, which graded 18.24g/t Au (Irish Marine Oil, 1999); 

 drilling (DDH 2551-1) intersected a quartz vein with visible gold at 26m depth which assayed 35.04g/t Au 
over 0.7m (Deevy, 2002); 
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 DDH 2551-2 intersected a shallow (15.6m – 16.3m) quartz vein, assaying 3.81g/t Au over 1.3m (Deevy, 
2002); and 

 an earlier drillhole (BGD-1) drilled in the Ballygarrett area reported an intersection (117.45m – 118.17m) of 
10gmAu/t over 0.72m (Tear, 1992). 

8.4.3 Kilmichael Licence Mineralisation – IMC Work Highlights 

The highlights of work carried out to date are: 

 prospecting located samples assaying up to 76.8g/t Au, from grab samples in late 2011; 

 a study by Brighton University determined range of sizes and angularity of abundant gold grains recovered 
in the lower reaches of the Ballygarret Stream, suggesting a nearby upstream bedrock source of gold-
bearing vein type rather than disseminated bedrock gold mineralization. In contrast, grains from an 
upstream site have a similar size range, but are angular to sub-angular, indicating a longer transport 
distance; 

 gold grains recovered from the Ballygarrett Stream suggest a range of transport distances supporting 
interpretation that the Ballygarrett Stream appears to cut across multiple sources of gold; and 

 Healy (2017) identifies three significant prospects within the licence, named as Target Area 2, Boley and 
Knockbrandon: 

o Target Area 2 is described as a ‘high tenor geochem footprint with elevated Au, Sb and As with 
accompanying advanced phyllic alteration’; 

o the Boley Prospect is ‘interpreted as a zone of high K hydrothermal alteration, possibly 
associated with intersection of NE-SW gold trend and NW-SE trending regional faults’. The 
prospect contains well-developed phyllic alteration; and 

o the Knockbrandon prospect is described as being low-priority. Surface geophysical surveys are 
recommended, with magnetics and radiometrics the preferred methods. 

 
IMC has completed six drillholes on the Kilmichael licence. No drilling has been carried out since the SLR CPR of 
2016. Drilling to date is summarised below: 

 drillhole 1 intersected 2.85m averaging 1.68g/t Au, including a 1.05m section at 3.09g/t Au; 

 drillhole 2 intersected 5.80m averaging 1.08g/t Au, including 1.15m at 1.37g/t, 0.74m at 2.49g/t and 1.00m at 
2.38g/t. In addition to this a 4.50m interval at a deeper level in the same hole has intersected base metal and 
associated 0.18g/t Au; 

 drillhole 3 intersected 0.25m at 9.64g/t Au and 3.7g/t Ag; 

 drillhole 12-2551-04 intersected 354g/t Au from 11.50 to 13.00m. Core from this interval comprises vuggy 
vein quartz and oxidized siltstone;  

 Further work identified three mineralised zones in drillhole 12-2551-04 
o Zone 1: 4.50m (10.00m-14.50m), including 1.50m grading 354g/t Au; 1.50m grading 2.32g/t Au and 

1.50m grading 1.13g/t Au.  
o Zone 2: 5.00m (18.50m-23.50m), including 0.50m grading 6.16g/t Au and 1.50m grading 2.97g/t Au.  
o Zone 3: 7.10m (149.60m-156.70m),  

including 0.80m grading 2.39 g/t Au and 1.00m grading 1.63g/t Au; 

 drillhole 12-2551-05 intersected a maximum value of 0.69 g/t Au; and 

 drillhole 12-2551-06 intersected a 6.80m interval (52.20m - 59.00m) grading 2.05m @ 0.23g/t Au, 0.50m @ 
6.43g/t Au and 1.00m @ 0.23g/t Au. 

 
It is SLR’s opinion that IMC’s work has significantly upgraded the gold potential of the licence.  It is considered 
that there is strong support for the presence of a zone of major gold mineralization trending NE to ENE through 
the townlands of Boley, Ballygarret and Kilmichael. 
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8.5 The Tulla Licence - PL 3729 

PL 3729
 
is located in southeast Co. Clare, in the south-western part of the Slieve Aughty Mountains, about 2.5km 

northeast of Tulla and on the northern margin of the East Clare Syncline (Figure 11).  It lies on the north-eastern 
margin of a block of licences that have produced significant exploration results by other operators. The Kilbricken 
deposit, c. 15 km to the southwest and held by Hannon Metals, has an NI 43-101-compliant resource of 2.7Mt at 
8.8% zinc equivalent (indicated) and 1.7Mt at 8.2% zinc equivalent

7
 (inferred). 

Since the 2016 SLR CPR, IMC has drilled one drillhole (17-3729-05) on the licence, for a total of 161m. 

 

Figure 8.11: Geology of the Tulla Licence 

8.5.1 Tulla Licence Lithostratigraphy 
The mapped geology, younging to the south, shows Old Red Sandstone, Lower Limestone Shales, Sub-

Waulsortian (ABL) and Waulsortian (Emo, 2001). 
A simplified geological succession is as follows (Emo, 2001): 

Waulsortian   250-300m; 
Ballysteen Limestone  130m; 
Lower Limestone Shale  85m; 
Old Red Sandstone  250m. 

8.5.2 Tulla Licence Structure 

 PL 3729 lies within a regional zone of ENE striking structures.  An ENE striking structure has been reported 
as associated with occurrences of lead, barite and silver. 

 A previous structural study used geological mapping and geophysical data including the following: 
Gravity (Dias); 
Huntings Aeromagnetic Data (GSI); 
Geotem and Magnetics (Geoterrex); 
SMARTem/IP (GPX Australia). 

 The structural study identified a structural target zone on the southern part of the PL 3729 (Emo, 2005). This 
zone remains untested. 

 It is IMC’s opinion that a marked structural swing observed in the geophysical data together with a discreet 
break in gravity data to the north suggests major structural interactions in the vicinity of PL 3729. 

                                                           
7
 www.hannanmetals.com 
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8.5.3 Tulla Licence Mineralisation, Alteration and Lithogeochemistry 

 An ore genesis study that included the relogging of four drillholes across the East Clare Syncline 
concluded that the style of mineralisation present was extremely rare in Ireland and thought to indicate 
proximity to a potentially economic sulphide body (Belmore Resources).   

 The local association between the mineralisation and large calcite veins in the area was thought to 
indicate some similarities with other prospects elsewhere in the Irish Base Metal Province. 

 The base of the Waulsortian is the most likely horizon to contain significant Zn-Pb mineralisation similar to that at 
Milltown and the Lower Limestone Shale has the potential to contain significant copper showings like that present at 
Ballyvergin, 7km to the west. 

 

8.5.4 Tulla Licence Mineralisation – IMC Work Highlights 

IMC drilled a total of four drillholes in the licence as a result of encouraging indications from drillhole 11-3729-01, 
drilling three more holes (12-3729-02, -03 and -04) in order to further understand and confirm this area's 
exploration potential).  The style of alteration encountered is recognised as often associated with mineralising 
systems in the Irish Base Metal Province. 
The basal part of the Waulsortian in 11-3729-01 has brecciation and replacive pyrite (c. 25% in places). The 
breccias are interpreted as similar to those associated with some of the Irish base metal deposits. 
Dr J. Kelly PGeo EurGeol of SLR reported (Kelly, 2012) that, "In addition to the hydrothermal dolomitic breccias 
intersected in drill- hole 11-3729-01, drill-holes 12-3729-03 and 12-3729-04 intersected significant haematisation 
of Waulsortian limestones and alteration of sub-Waulsortian shales from black/grey to green. Such 
haematisation and shale alteration has been recorded as being associated with base-metal mineralisation at the 
Tynagh, Silvermines, Lisheen and Crinkill base-metal deposits." 
In his conclusion, Dr. Kelly stated, "The presence of haematisation in Waulsortian limestones in drillholes 12-
3729-03 and 12-3729-04, in conjunction with the hydrothermal breccias intersected in drillhole 11-3729-01, 
confirms the presence of a potential base-metal bearing hydrothermal system and enhances the prospectivity of 
licences in the Tulla area." 

Drilling since January 2016 
Drillhole 17-3529-05 was drilled as a step-out from drillhole 11-3529-01 (see Figure 8.12). The drillhole did 
not intersect significant mineralisation or brecciation, although it is noted that there is an unusually thick 
transition from the Waulsortian to the underlying shales. The drillhole also appears to have intersected a 
reverse fault just above the base of the hole. 
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Figure 8.12  Tulla licence drillhole locations 
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8.6 The Shannon Licence - PL 3644 

PL 3644 is situated in south Co. Clare (Figure 8.13).  Shannon Airport is located on the southern part of the 
licence area.   

 
Figure 8.13: Geology of the Shannon Licence. 

8.6.1 Shannon Licence Lithostratigraphy 

PL 3644 is underlain by the prospective Waulsortian limestone in the northern half and Courceyan the sub 
Waulsortian Argillaceous Bioclastic Limestone (ABL) in the southern half. Both Shannon town and Shannon 
airport are underlain by the ABL.  The prospective area of Waulsortian limestones lies to the north of Shannon 
airport. 

8.6.2 Shannon Licence Structure 

The PL lies adjacent to the intersection of the Fergus and Quin Shear Zones (Coller, 1984). The ENE trending, 
‘Quin Shear Zone’ has been interpreted as a dextral structure (Coller 1984). The NNE trending 'Fergus Shear 
Zone' extends from the Fergus estuary and is interpreted as a sinistral structure to the west of PL 3644. Both 
'shear zones' are up to 1km in width. 
PL 3644 lies 15km to the southwest of Silvermines along strike on the SW projection of the ENE trending 
Silvermines Fault. This highly prospective ENE striking structure would have been dilatational and may represent 
a structure acting as a favourable conduit for mineralising fluids at the time of mineralisation. 
Based on structural modelling by IMC, the NNE trending Fergus Shear Zone, together with the prospective ENE 
striking Silvermines Fault, is similar to the regional configuration proposed for the structural setting of deposits in 
the Rathdowney Trend (Lisheen and Galmoy) and is considered an important control in that area. 

8.6.3 Shannon licence Mineralisation, Alteration and Lithogeochemistry 

The mineralisation, alteration and lithogeochemical results on the Shannon licence are summarised as follows: 

 the base of Waulsortian within PL 3644 is haematised and slightly chloritized; 

 the most intense areas of alteration are in the west of PL 3644 where minor disseminated pyrite appears to 
be associated with the haematisation; 

 in the upper part of the ABL in PL 3644 disseminated pyrite and calcite-pyrite-filled vugs are present; 

 there is a general trend for the intensity of alteration to decease stratigraphically upwards from the 
Waulsortian-ABL contact; 

Trend of Fergus Shear 

Trend of Quin Shear 
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 this coherent area of alteration is similar in style to that seen at Crinkill, Tynagh and Ballinasloe where the 

haematisation is interpreted to be related to hydrothermal activity; 

 in the opinion of IMC, the distribution of the alteration may be spatially related to the presence and number of 
potential feeder structures; and 

 IMC drilled one drillhole (12-3644-01) in the Shannon block. 
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 Glossary and Abbreviations 10.0

% Weight percent  

ABL 
Argillaceous bioclastic limestone, a rock unit containing clay, carbonate and 
fossil debris. Lies stratigraphically below the Waulsortian  

Alteration The conversion of the mineralogy of a rock unit. 

Arenite Sedimentary rocks with particle size between 0.06 and 2mm diameter 

Argillaceous A rock or sediment containing clay minerals 

Arsenopyrite An iron arsenic sulphide, FeAsS. 

Arundian  A period of time within the Lower Carboniferous which post-dates the Chadian. 

Auriferous Contains gold 

Barite  The ore bearing mineral of Barium 

Basin 
In geological terms, a regional scale topographical depression filled with 
sediments 

Basinal 
Pertaining to a Basin 

Biomicrite A micrite containing fossil fragments. 

Black Matrix Breccia 
Often termed "BMB" Broken rock units containing fine grained dolomite between 
the rock fragments. Often intimately associated with base metal mineralisation. 

c. Circa (approximately) 

Calp   Fine-grained bedded limestone of Lower Carboniferous age. 

Carbonate A rock or sediment containing carbonate minerals  

Chadian   A period of time within the Lower Carboniferous which post-dates the 
Courceyan. 

Chalcopyrite An ore bearing mineral of copper 

Chert Very fine grained silica forming layers or nodules within a rock unit. 

Cu The chemical symbol for copper 

Dextral Movement on a fault in which the opposite side of the fault has moved to the 
right. 

Diamond drill  Annular drill faced with boart diamonds and used for rock boring 

Dinantian European term for the Lower Carboniferous time period 

Dipole- dipole  A type of IP survey 

Dolomite A mineral containing magnesium and carbonate 

Dolomitsation 
The conversion to dolomite of other carbonate minerals in rock units. Often 
associated with base metal mineralisation 

facies  (sedimentary) The aspects of a rock unit reflecting the conditions of its origin. 

facies (metamorphic)  The aspects of a rock unit reflecting the conditions of its metamorphic history. 

Fault 
A planar fracture or discontinuity in a volume of rock, along which there has 
been movement 

Float Boulders on surface likely to have moved from their bedrock source 

Fluid 
In this report, the term fluid refers to hydrothermal fluid, a deep seated fluid 
which has flowed through rocks and can often form metal deposits 

g/t  grammes per tonne 

Galena The ore bearing mineral of Lead 

Geochemistry 
the study of the earth's chemical properties and of the chemical processes 
acting upon, above, and within the earth 

Geophysics 
the study of the earth's physical properties and of the physical processes acting 
upon, above, and within the earth 

Grab Samples Rock samples taken without relationship to a grid  
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Gradient Array A type of IP survey 

Greywacke Immature arenaceous rock mostly found in turbidites 

Gravity 
In this report, the term gravity refers to a type of geophysical survey which 
measures the gravitational signature of the geology in an area. 

Greenshist facies 
A type of metamorphism which has been caused by low temperatures and 
pressures. 

Haematisation 
To change exiting minerals within a rock unit into Iron Oxide minerals, or to 
introduce Iron oxide minerals. 

Horizon A specific level in the stratigraphy. 

Hydrotheral  Of, relating to, or denoting the action of heated water in the earth's crust. 

Igneous 
Rocks formed from magma (molten rock below the earths surface) or lava 
(molten rock above the earths surface) 

Inlier An area of rock formations surrounded by rock formations of a younger age. 

IP 
"Induced polarisation" A type of geophysical survey which measures the 
conductivity and chargeabillity of rock units. 

Linear A lineation interpreted from geophysical surveys 

Lithogeochemical 
 Pertaining to the chemical composition of rock. 

Lithostratigrphy The order and relative position of rock units. 

Lower Carboniferous 
Belonging to, or denoting a geologic division of the Paleozoic Era following the 
Devonian and preceding the Permian, including the Dinantian Period. 

Lower Palaozoic rocks 
Denoting, or relating to an era of geological time that began 600 million years 
ago with the Cambrian period and lasted until the Devonian period. 

m metres 

Mt Million tonnes 

Magnetic 
In this report, the term magnetic refers to a type of geophysical survey which 
measures the magnetic signature of the geology in an area. 

Metamorphism Alteration of the composition or structure of a rock 

Metasedimentary Sedimentary rocks which have experienced mineralogy changes 

Metavolcanic Volcanic rocks which have experience mineralogy changes 

Micrite 
A limestone constituent formed of calcareous particles formed by the 
recrystallisation of lime mud. 

Mineralisation 
The formation of minerals, in this report the term mineralisation refers to the 
formation of base metal, and iron bearing minerals, and of free gold.  

Mt Million Tonnes 

Navan Group The sequence of rocks which host the Navan deposit 

Ordovician 

Belonging to the geologic time, system of rocks, or sedimentary deposits of the 
second period of the Paleozoic Era, characterized by the appearance of 
primitive fishes. 

Oz Ounce 

Pb The chemical symbol for lead 

PL Prospecting Licence 

Pyrite 
A mineral formed from Iron and Sulphur, often related to base metal 
mineralisation 

Primary gold 
mineralisation Gold in bedrock 

Reef See Waulsortian 

regional dolomite 
The conversion to dolomite of other carbonate minerals in a rock unit over a 
large area.  
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Shear Fracturing and deformation of rock due to the movement of adjacent rock units. 

Shelf   A gently sloping shallow-water marine platform. 

Silicification To convert into or to impregnate with silica 

Sinistral Movement on a fault or shear-zone, in which the opposite side of the structure 
has moved to the left. 

Sphalerite The ore bearing mineral of Zinc, formed from zinc and sulphur 

Stibnite Antimony sulphide ore  

Sulphide   A metallic compound of sulphur. 

Stratigraphy 
The branch of geology concerned with the order and relative position of strata 
and their relationship to the geological time scale. 

Structure 
Layers of sedimentary rocks which have been displaced from their normal 
horizontal position by the forces of nature into folds, fractures and faults 

Throw The displacement along a fault 

Trend A postulated alignment of mineral deposits.  

Tuff  rock formed from volcanic ash 

Turbidite 
Sedimentary rocks formed by deposition from rapidly moving turbidity currents 
resulting in thick graded sequences of arenaceous and argillaceous rocks  

VMS 
Volcanogenic Massive Sulphide. A type of base metal deposit associated with 
Volcanic rocks. 

Waulsortian 

Mud mounds of carbonate material, and associated sediments, formed during 
the upper Courceyan period. This formation hosts the majority of the Irish Type 
base metal deposits. 

Zn The chemical symbol for Zinc 
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  Closure 11.0

This report has been prepared by SLR Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Limited (SLR) with all reasonable skill, care and 
diligence, and taking account of the manpower and resources devoted to it by agreement with the client.  Information 
reported herein is based on the interpretation of data collected and has been accepted in good faith as being accurate and 
valid.   
 
This report is for the exclusive use of IMC Exploration Group PLC; no warranties or guarantees are expressed or should be 
inferred by any third parties.  This report may not be relied upon by other parties without written consent from SLR. 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 
 

 

 

Chairman’s Statement       

                                                                                                                                                

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

 

The directors of IMC Exploration Group plc are pleased to present the Financial Results for ('IMC') for the 

twelve months to 30th June 2015.  

 

Further to our announcement in March 2015, in which we signed an agreement with Koza Limited, a subsidiary 

of Koza Altin Isletmeleri A.S., we have recently signed the final Joint Venture agreement on IMC’s precious 

metal exploration licences in Wicklow and Wexford whereby Koza will fully fund the works programme on 

these licence areas with investment of EUR3.4 million for a 75% interest in these licences.  

 

It is agreed Koza will fully fund the works programme on these licence areas with investment of €3.4 million for 

a 75% interest in these licences. The JV agreement was approved by the Minister for Communications, Minerals 

and Natural Resources and formally signed by both parties. 

 

Koza is the leading Turkish international mining company with 4 operating mines.  In 2014 they produced 317 

thousand oz of gold and have gold reserves of 4.2 million ounces.  Koza Gold is capable of carrying out all 

processes from the stage of exploration to production. 

 

In tandem with the Koza / IMC precious metal programme, IMC itself is committed to a works programme on 

the 10 base metal licence areas and is currently in discussions with interested parties to progress this. 

 

Furthermore, in order to fulfil its stock market potential, IMC is seeking a standard listing on the main market of 

the London Stock Exchange.  Advisors, Keith Bayley Rogers have already commenced this process and have 

indicated this can be achieved within the final quarter of 2015.  The London Stock Exchange is one of the 

world’s foremost markets for admission and trading of equity and includes many of the world’s most successful 

and dynamic companies. 

 

The commencement of the works programme on our precious metal licences and the advancement of our base 

metal licences will ensure a regular, continuous, positive news flow.   

 

We look forward to the coming weeks and months with enthusiasm for the exploration and corporate 

developments within the company. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________ 

Liam McGrattan  

Chairman  

 

 

 
 
 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Directors’ Report 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

 

  

The Directors present their Annual Report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 

June 2015 for IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company (“the Company”) and its subsidiary 

(collectively “the Group”). 

 

 

Principal Activity 

The Group’s main activity is the exploration for gold, zinc and other minerals in Ireland.  The Directors have 

reviewed the financial position of the Group and are satisfied that the Group will continue to operate at its 

projected level of activity for the foreseeable future. 

 

 

Review of Business and Future Developments 

A detailed review of activities for the year and future prospects of the Group is contained in the Chairman’s 

Statement and Review of Activities. 

 

 

Principal Risk and Uncertainties 

The Group’s activities are carried out principally in the Republic of Ireland.  Accordingly the principal risks and 

uncertainties are considered to be the following: 

 

 

Exploration Risk 

Exploration and development activities may be delayed or adversely affected by factors outside the Group’s 

control, in particular: climatic conditions, existence of commercial deposits of gold, zinc and other minerals, 

unknown geological conditions; remoteness of locations; actions of governments or other regulatory authorities 

(relating to, inter alia, the grant, maintenance or renewal of any required authorisations, environmental 

regulations or changes in law). 

 

 

Commodity Price Risk 

The demand for, and price of gold, zinc and other minerals is dependent on global and local supply and demand, 

actions of governments or cartels and general global economic and political developments. 

 

 

Financial Risk 

Financial risk is addressed in Note 24 to these financial statements. 

 

 

Share Price 

The company shares are quoted on ISDX markets. Share price movement in the year ranged from a low of 

Stg£0.015 to a high of Stg£0.04.  The share price at the year end was Stg£0.015. 

 

 

Results and Dividends 

The loss for the year after providing for depreciation and taxation amounted to €440,741 (2014 : €223,122).  All 

exploration and development costs to date have been deferred, no transfers to distributable reserves or dividends 

are recommended. 

 

 

Future Developments 

A review of future developments of the business is included in the Chairman’s Statement and review of 

operations. 
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Directors and Secretary and their Interests 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Nial Ring retires from the board by rotation in accordance with 

Article 94 of the Articles of Association. 

 

The Directors and secretary who held office at the year end had no interest, either direct or beneficial, other than 

those shown below, in the shares of the Company. 

 

 

 Ordinary Shares  A Ordinary Shares 

 07 Sep 2015 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

Directors 

Andrew Laz Fleming 1,615,001 1,615,001 3,615,001 - - 

Glenn Millar 1,600,001 1,600,001 3,600,001 - - 

Nial Ring 1,733,334 1,733,334 3,733,334 - - 

Liam McGrattan 4,757,091 4,757,091 4,252,985 38,093 38,093 

 

Secretary 

Nial Ring 1,733,334 1,733,334 3,733,334 

 

During the year each of the directors shareholding in the Company reduced by two million shares. 

   

 

Transactions Involving Directors 

There have been no contract or arrangements of significance during the year in which Directors of the Company 

were interested other than as disclosed in Notes 18, 20 and 21 to the financial statements. 

 

 

Significant Shareholders 

The Company has been informed that, in additional to the interest of the Directors, at 30 June 2015 and the date 

of this report, the following shareholders own 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company: 

 

   Percentage of Issued share 

capital 

   07 Sep 2015 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

 

Lisa McDonnell   5.52% 6.15% 6.60% 

Global Resources Investment Trust   19.32% 21.53% 23.09% 

European Investment Management Ltd.   6.04% 0.00% 0.00% 

W.B. Nominees Ltd.   3.02% 0.00% 0.00% 

 

The Directors are not aware of any other holding of 3% or more of the share capital of the Company. 

 

 

 

Group undertakings 

Details of the Company’s subsidiary are set out in Note 12 to the financial statements. 

 

Political donations 

The Company did not make any political donations during the year (2014 : € Nil). 
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Going Concern 

The future of the Group is dependent on the successful future outcome of its exploration interests.  The 

Directors have carried out a review of budgets and cash flows for the twelve months after the date of this report 

and on the basis of that review, consider that the Group and the Company, based on current exploration activity, 

will have adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future.  As exploration 

activity is expanded, further funding will be required. 

 

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have taken into account all information 

that could reasonably be expected to be available.  On this basis, they consider that it is appropriate to prepare 

the financial statements on the going concern basis. 

 

 

Important events after the reporting date 

There have been no important events after the reporting date other than as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial 

statements. 

 

 

Corporate Governance 

The Directors are committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance commensurate with 

the size, stage of development and financial status of the Group. 

 

 

The Board 

The Board is responsible for the supervision and control of the Company and is accountable to the shareholders.  

The Board has reserved decision-making on a variety of matters, including determining strategy for the Group, 

reviewing and monitoring executive management performance and monitoring risks and controls. 

 

The Board currently has four Directors, comprising three executive Directors and one non-executive Director.  

The Board met formally nine times during the year ended 30
th

 June 2015.  An agenda and supporting 

documentation was circulated in advance of each meeting.  All the Directors bring independent judgement to 

bear on issues affecting the Group and all have full and timely access to information necessary to enable them to 

discharge their duties.  The Directors have a wide and varying array of experiences in the industry. 
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Audit and Remuneration Committees 

The Audit Committee comprises Nial Ring (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming.  It may examine any matters 

relating to the financial affairs of the Group and the Group’s audits.  This includes reviews of the annual 

financial statements and announcements, internal control procedures, accounting procedures, accounting 

policies, the appointment, independence, objectivity, terms of reference and fees of external auditors and such 

other related functions as the Board may require. 

 

The Remuneration Committee comprises Glenn Millar (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming.  It determines the 

terms and conditions of employment and annual remuneration of the executive directors.  It consults with the 

Chief Executive Officer, takes into consideration external data and comparative third party remuneration and 

has access to professional advice outside the Company.   

 

The key policy objectives of the Remuneration Committee in respect of the Company’s executive directors are: 

- To ensure that individuals are fairly rewarded for their personal contribution to the Company’s overall 

performance; and 

- To act as the independent committee ensuring that due regard is given to the interest of the Company’s 

shareholders and to the financial and commercial health of the Company 

 

Directors’ Remuneration, including employer’s PRSI, during the year ended 30 June 2015 was as follows: 

 

    2015 2014 

    Total Total 

    € € 

 

Remuneration and other emoluments – Executive Directors   - 9,266 

Remuneration and other emoluments – Non-Executive Directors  - 704 

    _______ ______ 

 

    - 9,970 

    ======== ======= 

 

Nomination Committee 

At present, as the Board is small, no formal nomination committee has been established.  The authority to 

nominate new Directors for appointment vests in the Board of Directors.  All Directors co-opted to the Board 

during any financial period are subject to election by shareholders at the first opportunity following their 

appointment.  Consideration to setting up a nomination committee is under continuous review. 

 

Statement of Director’s Responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements 

in accordance with applicable Irish Law and regulations. 

 

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each 

financial year.  As permitted by company law, the Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IRFSs) as adopted by the EU (EU IFRS) and have 

elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with EU IFRS, as applied in accordance with 

the provisions of Companies Acts, 1963 to 2014. 

 

The Group and Company financial statements are required by law and EU IFRS to present fairly the position 

and performance of the Group; the Companies Acts provide, in relation to such financial statements, that 

reference in the relevant part of the Acts to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to 

their achieving a fair presentation. 
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In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

 

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

 

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 

- disclose and explain any material departures from applicable accounting standards; 

 

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume the 

Company, and the Group as a whole, will continue in business. 

 

The directors confirm that they have completed with the above requirements in preparing the financial 

statements. 

 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Company and Group and which enable them to ensure that the financial 

statements are prepared in accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in Ireland, and comply with 

the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2014, the European Communities (Companies; Group Accounts) Regulations 1992 

and all regulations to be construed as one with those Acts. 

 

They are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 

included on the Company’s website.  Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and 

dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

Accounting records 

The measures taken by the Directors to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 202, Companies Act 

1990, regarding proper books of accounts are the implementation of necessary policies and procedures for 

recording transactions, the employment of competent accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and the 

provision of adequate resources to the finance function. The books of accounts of the Company are maintained 

at 70 Ballybough Road, Ballybough, Dublin 3. 

 

Auditors 

The auditors, Clifford Desmond & Associates, have indicated their willingness to continue in office in 

accordance with the provisions of Section 160(2) of the Companies Act, 1963. 

 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

 

 

_____________________  ___________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director  Director 

Date:    07
th

 September 2015 
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of IMC Explorations Public Limited Company 

 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

 

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of IMC Exploration 

Group Public Limited Company for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 which comprise of the Consolidated 

Statements of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement of 

Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Financial Position, 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Company Statement of Cash Flows and notes thereon.    These financial 

statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out on pages 19-23. 

 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 193 of the 

Companies Act 1990.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members 

those matters that we are required to state to them in the audit report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 

extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company or the 

Company’s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.  

 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
The Directors responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) are 

set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on pages 7-8. 

 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 

requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2014.  We also report to you to whether, in 

our opinion; proper books of accounts have been kept by the Company; whether at the Statement of Financial 

Position date, there exists a financial situation requiring the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of 

the Company; and whether the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial 

statements.  In addition, we state whether we have obtained all the information and explanations necessary for 

the purposes of our audit and whether the Company’s financial positon is in agreement with the books of 

account. 

 

We report to the shareholders if, in our opinion, any information specified by law or the listing rules of the 

ISDX markets regarding Directors’ remuneration and Directors’ transactions is not given and, where 

practicable, include such information in our report. 

 

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the 

audited financial statements.  This other information comprises only the “Chairman’s Statement and Review of 

Activities”.  We consider the implications for our audit report if we become aware of any apparent misstatement 

or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other 

information. 

 

Basis of opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and 

Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.  An audit includes examination, on a test 

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  It also 

includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the 

preparation of the financial statements, and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 
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We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In 

forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 

statements. 
 

Opinion                                                                                                                                                                                                         
In our opinion: 

 

- the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS’s as adopted by the 

EU, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 30 June 2015 and of its loss for the year then ended; 

 

- the Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 

the EU and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2013, of the 

state of the Company’s affairs as at 30 June 2015; and 

 

- the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 

2014. 

 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit. In 

our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Company. The Company Statement of Financial 

Position is in agreement with the books of account. 

 

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report on pages 4 – 8 is consistent with the financial 

statements. 

 

The net assets of the Company, as at the financial position date, are less than half of the amount of its called up 

share capital and, in our opinion, on that basis there did exist at 30 June 2015 a financial situation which under 

section 40(1) of the Companies (Amendment) Act 1983 may require the convening of an extraordinary general 

meeting of the Company. 

 

Emphasis of Matter – Going concern and carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets                                                                         

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we considered: 

 

(a) the adequacy of disclosures made in Note 10 to the financial statements in relation to the Directors’ 

assessment of the carrying value of the Group’s deferred exploration costs amounting to €524,724. 

 

(b) the adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 1 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. The Group incurred a net loss of €440,741 for the year ended 30 

June 2015. 

 

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that 

would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern. 

 

------------------------------------------------------ 

Maurice Clifford For and on behalf of 

 

Clifford Desmond & Associates 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 

185 Rathmines Road Lower, Dublin 6, Ireland. 

Date: 07
th

 September 2015 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

 

Continuing Operations 

 

 

  Notes  2015 2014 

 

Administrative expenses    (221,084) (122,954) 

 

Operating Loss for the period  4.  (221,084) (122,954) 

 

Finance Income    - 1,017 

Loss on sale of investment    (135,164) - 

Amount written off investment  5.  (83,400) (106,593) 

    __________ _________ 

 

Loss for period before tax    (439,648) (228,530) 

  

Income tax expenses  8.  (1,093) 5,408 

    _________ _________ 

Total comprehensive loss for the period    (440,741) (223,122)  

    ========= ========= 

 

Loss attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company    (440,741) (223,122) 

    ========= ========= 

 

Total Comprehensive Loss attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company    (440,741) (223,122) 

    ========= ========= 

Earnings per share 

From continuing operations 

Basic and Diluted loss per share (cent)    0.01 0.01 

    ========= ========= 

 

All activities derived from continuing operations. All losses and total comprehensive losses for the period are 

attributable to the owners of the Company. 

 

The Company has no recognised gains or losses other than those dealt with in the statement of comprehensive 

income. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The Financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 07
th

 September 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________   __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan   Nial Ring   

Director   Director   

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

 

 Share Share Retained 

 Capital Premium Losses Total 

 € € € € 
 

Balance at 30 June 2013 91,402 1,308,102 (744,086) 655,418 

 __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Total comprehensive income for the period  

Loss for the period  - - (223,122) (223,122) 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (223,122) (223,122) 

         ----------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity  

contributions by and distributions to owners 

Shares issued  16,000 368,675 - 384,675 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Total transactions with owners  - - - -  

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

 

Balance at 30 June 2014 107,402 1,676,777 (967,208) 816,971 

 __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period  

Loss for the period  - - (440,741) (440,741) 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (440,741) (440,741) 

  -------------------- --------------------- -------------------- ---------------- 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity  

contributions by and distributions to owners 

Shares issued  5,008 62,992 - 68,000 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Balance at 30 June 2015  112,410 1,739,769 (1,407,949) 444,230 

 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

 

Net equity is attributable to the holder of the ordinary shares in the Group. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of Directors on 07
th

 September 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director Director 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Company Statement of Changes in equity  

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

 

 

   

   Share Share Retained  

   Capital Premium Losses Total 

   € € € € 

 

Balance at 30 June 2013  91,402 1,308,102 (477,779) 921,725 

   ______ ______ _______ ________ 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Loss for the year  - - (134,201) (134,201) 

   ------------- ------------ -------------- -------------- 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - (134,201) (134,201) 

   ------------ ------------- -------------- --------------- 

 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Shares issued  16,000 368,675 - 384,675 

Shares issue costs  - - - - 

   ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Total transactions with owners  16,000 368,675 - 384,675 

   ------------ ------------ ------------ ----------- 

 

Balance at 30 June 2014  107,402 1,676,777 (611,980) 1,172,199 

   _______ _______ ______ _____ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Loss for the year  - - (423,829) (423,829) 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - (423,829) (423,829) 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Shares issued  5,008 62,992 - 68,000 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

Total transactions with owners  5,008 62,992 - 68,000 

   _______ _______ ______ ________ 

 

Balance at 30 June 2015  112,410 1,739,769 (1,035,809) 816,370 

   ======== ======= ======= ======== 

 

Net equity is attributable to the holders of the ordinary shares in the Company. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 - 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 07
th

 September 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

________________________  ____________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director  Director 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

 

 

  Notes  2015 2014 

 

Assets 

Intangible assets  10  524,724 524,724 

Property, plant and equipment  11  1,465 2,690 

Investments  12  - 281,818 

    __________ __________ 

Total Non-Current Assets    526,189 809,232 

    __________ __________ 

 

Current Assets 

Trade and other receivables  13  111,671 111,403 

Cash and cash equivalents    (26,685) (32,304) 

    __________ __________ 

Total Current Assets    84,986 79,099 

    __________ __________ 

 

Total Assets    611,175 888,331 

    ========= ========= 

 

Equity 

Share Capital  15  112,410 107,402 

Share premium  15  1,739,769 1,676,777 

Retained deficit  16  (1,407,949) (967,208) 

    __________ _________ 

Attributable to owners of the Company  17  444,230 816,971 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity    444,230 816,971 

    __________ __________ 

 

Liabilities – Current 

Trade and other payables    155,954 61,462 

Current tax liabilities    10,991 9,898 

    __________ __________ 

Total Liabilities  14  166,945 71,360 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity and Liabilities    611,175 888,331 

    ========= ========= 
    

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form and integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The Financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 07
th

 September 2015 and singed by its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan                             Nial Ring 

Director                             Director 
 
 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Company Statement of Financial Position 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

 

 

  Notes  2015 2014 

 

Assets 

Non- Current Assets     
Financial Investments  12  30,365 312,183 

    __________ __________ 

Total Non-Current Assets    30,365 312,183 

    __________ __________ 

 

Current Assets 

Trade and other receivables  13  920,048 908,528 

Cash and cash equivalents    8,902 348 

    __________ __________ 

Total Current Assets    928,950 908,876 

    __________ __________ 

 

Total Assets    959,315 1,221,059 

    ========= ========= 

 

Equity 

Share Capital  15  112,410 107,402 

Share premium  15  1,739,769 1,676,777 

Retained loss  16  (1,035,809) (611,980) 

    __________ _________ 

Equity Attributable to equity shareholders   816,370 1,172,199 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity    816,370 1,172,199 

    __________ __________ 

 

Liabilities – Current 

Trade and other payables  14  131,954 38,962 

Current tax liabilities  14  10,991 9,898 

    __________ __________ 

Total Liabilities    142,945 48,860 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity and Liabilities    959,315 1,221,059 

    ========= ========= 
    

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form and integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 07
th

 September 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director Director 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

   

  Notes  2015 2014 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 

Loss for the year    (222,177) (117,546) 

 

Adjustments for: 

Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss   1,093 (5,408) 

Depreciation    1,225 1,225 

    ________ ________ 

 

Cash from operations before changes in working capital   (219,859) (121,729) 

 

Movement in trade and other receivables    (268) 42,630 

Movement in trade and other payables     94,492 (7,213) 

    _________ _______ 

 

Net cash flow from operating activities    (125,635) (86,312) 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Interest received  22  - 1,017 

Proceeds from sale of investments  22  63,254 - 

Taxation  22  - - 

Acquisitions and disposals  22  - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash (used in) investing activities    63,254 1,017 

    _________ ________ 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from the issue of new shares  22  68,000 - 

Finance income/(expense)    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash generated by financing activities   68,000 1,017 

    _________ ________ 

 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  23  5,619 (85,295) 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 23  (32,304) 52,991 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 23  (26,685) (32,304) 

    ========== ======== 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 – 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 07
th

 September 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

 

__________________________  ________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 
Director Director 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Company Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2015 

   

  Notes  2015 2014 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 

Loss for the year    (205,265) (28,625) 

 

Adjustments for: 

Income tax expenses recognised in profit and loss   1,093 (5,408) 

    ________ ________ 

 

Cash from operations before changes in working capital   (204,172) (34,033) 

 

Movement in trade and other receivables    (11,520) (32,120) 

Movement in trade and other payables    92,992 15,000 

    _________ _______ 

 

Cash generated from operations    (122,700) (51,153) 

Income tax received    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash flows from operating activities    (122,700) (51,153) 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of investments    63,254 - 

Interest received    - 1,017 

Taxation    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

    63,254 1,017 

    _________ ________ 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from the issue of new shares    68,000 - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash used in financing activities    68,000 - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents in the year   8,554 (50,136) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year   348 50,484 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year   8,902 348 

    ========== ========= 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 – 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 07
th

September 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

__________________________   ________________________ 

Liam McGrattan   Nial Ring 

Director Director 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

Notes to the Financial Statements                                                                                                                                                                       

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

 

1. Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS’s) as adopted by the EU. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The accounting policies have 

been applied consistently by Group entities. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that IMC 

Exploration Group Public Limited Company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future. 

The validity of this assumption depends on the raising of additional finance. 

The Directors intend to raise additional finance during 2015 and 2016. This additional funding will be 

used to continue the exploration programme and to fund the administrative expenses of the Company and 

the Group. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result if the additional capital is not 

raised. Whilst taking into consideration the uncertainties described above, the Directors believe that it is 

appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements   

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

……………. Continued 

 

2. Statement of Accounting Policies 

Accounting Convention 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company (“the Company”) is a company incorporated in 

Ireland. The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiary (together 

referred to as the “Group”). 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements and by all group entities. 

 

Statement of Compliance 

As permitted by the European Union, the Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) and their interpretations issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the EU (IFRS). The individual financial 

statements of the Company (“Company financial statements”) have been prepared in accordance with the 

IFRS’s as adopted by the EU and as applied in accordance with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2014 which 

permits a company that publishes its Company and Group financial statements together, to take 

advantage of the exemption in Section 148(8) of the Companies Act, 1963, from presenting to its 

members its Company Statement of Comprehensive Income and related notes that form part of the 

approved Company financial statements. 

 

The IFRS’s adopted by the EU as applied by the Company and the Group in the preparation of these 

financial statements are those that were effective on or before 30 June 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

……………. Continued 

 

 

 

Functional and Presentation Currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro (€), which is the Company’s functional 

currency. 

 

Use of Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

 

In particular, significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 

policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are in 

the following areas 

Note 10 – Intangible asset; measurement of impairment 

Note 8 – Deferred Tax; utilisation of tax losses 

 

Revenue Recognition – Interest revenue 

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 

interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 

 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of IMC Exploration Group 

Public Limited Company and its subsidiary undertaking for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly 

or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities. In assessing the control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 

taken into account. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that control commences until the 

date that control ceases. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains or losses or income or expenses arising from intragroup 

transactions are eliminated in preparing the Group financial statements. 

 

In the Company’s own balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provisions for any 

permanent diminution in value. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

……………. continued 

 

Intangible Assets 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets  

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 6 – Exploration for and Evaluation of 

Mineral Resources, the Group uses the cost method of recognition. Exploration costs include licence 

costs, survey, geophysical and geological analysis and evaluation costs, costs of drilling and project-

related overheads. 

 

Exploration expenditure in respect of properties and licences not in production is capitalised and is 

carried forward in the balance sheet under intangible assets in respect of each area of interest where: 

(i) the operations are ongoing in the area of interest and exploration or evaluation activities have 

not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 

economically recoverable reserves; or 

(ii) (ii) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of 

the area of interest or alternatively by its realisation. 

 

When the Directors decide that no further expenditure on an area of interest is worthwhile, the related 

expenditure is written off or down to an amount which it is considered represents the residual value of 

the Group’s interest therein. 

  

Impairment  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets are reviewed at 

each year end reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 

indication exists then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have 

indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each year end 

reporting date. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that is expected to 

generate cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-

generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units 

and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 

value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risk specific to the asset. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Plant and Equipment are stated at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation. Subsequent costs are 

included in an asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group. Depreciation is 

provided at rates calculated to write off the cost less residual value of each asset over its expected useful 

life, as follows: 

 

Fixtures and Fittings -   20% Straight Line 

 

The residual value of the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually and 

adjusted if appropriate at each statement of financial position date. 

 

On disposal of property, plant and equipment the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and 

impairments are removed from the financial statements and the net amount, less any proceeds, is taken to 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

……………. continued 

 

 

Income Tax Expense  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit and 

loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, in which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively. 

 

Current corporation tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 

previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 

recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 

investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences 

when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 

date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 

be realised. 

 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as 

the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised. 

 

Foreign Currencies 

Monetary assets and liabilities dominated in a foreign currency are translated into Euro at the exchange 

rate ruling at the balance sheet date, unless specifically covered by foreign exchange contracts 

whereupon the contract rate is used. Revenues, costs and non monetary assets are translated at the 

exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. All exchange differences are dealt with through 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Euro at the rates 

of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the restatement of 

the opening balance sheets of these subsidiary Companies are dealt with through reserves. The 

operating results of overseas subsidiary Companies are translated into Euro at the average rates 

applicable during the year. 

 

Share Capital 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised 

as a reduction in equity. 

 

Earnings Per Share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 

is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined 

by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

……………. continued 

 

Share based payments 

For such grants of share options, the fair value as at the date of grant is calculated, taking into account 

the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is 

adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are likely to vest, except where forfeiture is 

only due to market-based conditions not achieving the threshold for vesting. The corresponding credit 

is to a share based payment reserve. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand 

and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are 

repayable on demand and form part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of 

cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of Statement of Cash Flows. 

 

Trade and Other Receivables/Payables 

Trade and other receivables and payables are stated at cost less impairment, which approximates fair 

value given the short dated nature of these assets and liabilities. 

 

Finance Income 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and foreign currency gains. Interest 

income is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest rate method) to the net carrying 

amount of the financial asset. 

 

Segmental Information 

In accordance with IFRS 8: Operating Segments, the Group has one principle reportable segment, ie: 

Ireland, which represents the exploration for and the development of gold, zinc and other minerals in 

Ireland. 

 

Other operations ‘Corporate’ includes cash resources held by the Group, interest income earned and 

other operational expenditure incurred by the Group. These areas are not within the definition of an 

operating segment. 

 

Financial Assets – Investments in Subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost and are reviewed for impairment if there are indications 

that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

 

……… continued  

 

3.  Segment Information  

 

The group is engaged in one business segment only – exploration of mineral resource projects. Therefore only 

an analysis by geographical segment has been presented. The group has geographic segments in Ireland. 

 

The segment results for the periods are as follows:  

 

Segment Revenues and Results 

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable 

segment. 

 

 

 Segment Revenue  Segment Loss 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 € € € € 

Loss for period to 30 June 2015 - - (219,481) (120,389) 

 ________ ________ _________ __________ 

Total for continuing operations - - (219,481) (120,389) 

   ========= =========   

 

Investment Income   - 1,017 

 

Amount written off investments   (83,400)          (106,593) 

Loss on sale of investments   (135,164) - 

Finance costs   (1,603) (2,565) 

   _________  _______ 

Loss before tax (continuing operations)   (439,648)  (228,530)  

 

Income tax expense    (1,093)  5,408 

   _________  _______   

Segment loss for period   (440,741)  (223,122) 

 

   =========   ======= 

    

 

Segment assets and liabilities 

 

   2015 2014 

Segment Assets     € € 

Exploration – Ireland   611,175 888,331 

   _______ ______ 

 

Consolidated assets   611,175 888,331 

   ======= =======  

 

Segment Liabilities  

Exploration – Ireland    166,945  71,360 

   _______ _______  

Consolidated Liabilities    166,945 71,360 

 

   =======  ======= 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

……… continued  

 

Other segment information  

 

 Depreciation and   Additions to 

  Amortisation                           non-current 

assets 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 € € € € 

Exploration 1,225 1,225 - - 

                                                                          ======                 ======                 ======      ====== 

 

 

Revenue from major products and services 

The Group received revenue from the sale of shares in Global Resources Investment Trust (GRIT), an 

LSE quoted company. 

 

Geographical information  

The Group operates in one geographical area – Republic of Ireland. 

 

 

4.  Loss on ordinary activities before taxation 

 

Group   2015 2014 

   € € 

 

This is arrived at after charging: 

Depreciation of tangible assets    1,225 1,225 

Auditors’ remuneration   14,500 14,500 

Auditors’ remuneration from non-audit work   - 12,000 

                                                                                                                                 =======          ======   

 

   2015 2014 

Company    € € 

 

This is arrived at after charging: 

Auditors’ remuneration   13,000 14,500 

Auditors’ remuneration from non-audit work   - 12,000 

                                                                                                                                   ======           ====== 

 

 

As permitted by Section 148 (8) of the companies Act 1963, the company Statement of Comprehensive 

Income has not been separately disclosed in these financial statements.  

 

 

5.  Amounts written off investments    2015 2014 

   € € 

 

Amounts written off fixed asset 

investments:  

-diminution in value (see Note 12)   83,400 106,593   

   =======  ====== 
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6.     Interest receivable and similar income    2015 2014 

   € € 

 

Bank Interest    - 1,017 

                                                                                                                                              ======             =====  

 

 

7.  Employees     

 

Number of employees 

The average monthly numbers of employees  

(Including the directors) during the year were:   2015 2014 

   Number Number 

Directors    0 1 

Employee   0 0 

 

 

Employment costs (including directors)   2015 2014 

   € € 

 

Wages and salaries    - 9,516 

Social welfare costs    - 704 

   ______ _______ 

 

   - 10,220 

   ======= ======== 

 

 

7.1  Directors’ emoluments  

 

   2015 2014  

   € € 

 

Remuneration and other emoluments    - 9,970 

                                                                                                                                              ======  ====== 
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8. Income tax expense    2015  2014 

     € € 

 

 Current year taxation 

 Corporation tax expense in respect of the current year  - (5,408) 

 Corporation tax expense in respect of underprovision in prior years  1,093 - 

     _______ _______ 

 

 Total expense    1,093 (5,408) 

     ======= ======= 

 

 

 The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows: 

 

 Loss on ordinary activities before tax   (221,084) (121,937) 

     _______ _______ 

 Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by 

 standard rate of corporation tax of 12.5% (2014 – 12.5%)  (27,636) (15,242) 

 

     ======== ======== 

 

 

 The tax rate used for the year end reconciliations above is the corporate rate of 12.5% payable by 

corporate entities in Ireland on taxable profits under tax law in the jurisdiction of Ireland.  Income tax expense 

recognised relates to surcharges on directors loans. 
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9. Loss per share      

 

Basic earnings per share 

The basic and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 

are as follows: 

 

   2015 2014 

   € € 

Loss for the period attributable to equity holders of     (440,741) (223,122) 

The parent     

  

   ======== ========= 

 

Number of ordinary shares in issue – start of year   69,308,507 53,308,507 

 

Effect of shares issued during the year   5,008,212 16,000,000 

   ------------------ -------------------- 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes   74,316,719 69,308,507 

of basic earning per share 

   ========== ========== 

 

Basic Loss per ordinary share (cent)   (0.01) (0.01) 

 

 

10. Intangible assets – Group   2015 2014 

   € € 

    

Cost    524,724 524,724 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment    - - 

   ________ ________ 

   524,724 524,724 

   ======== ========= 

 

 

   Exploration and Total 

  Evaluation Assets 

   € € 

 

Cost  

Opening cost   524,724 524,724 

Additions    - - 

   ________ ________ 

   524,724 524,724 

   ======== ======== 

 

The Directors have considered expenditure on exploration and evaluation activities which have been capitalised 

at cost. No amortisation has been charged in the period. The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of the 

exploration and evaluation assets and consider it to be fairly stated and not impaired at 30 June 2015. The 

recoverability of the intangible assets is dependent on the future realisation or disposal of the copper, silver, gold 

and other mineral, resources.  
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11. Tangible assets  

         

 

 Fixtures & Total    

 fittings    

     

 € €  

Cost  

At 1 July 2014 6,125 6,125  

Additions  - - 

 ------------ ------------   

 6,125 6,125 

 ------------ ------------   

Depreciation 

At 1 July 2014 3,435 3,435  

Change for the year 1,225 1,225 

 ------------ ------------ 

At 30 June 2015 4,660 4,660 

 ------------ ------------ 

Net book values 

At 30 June 2015 1,465 1,465 

 ====== ====== 

At 30 June 2014 2,690 2,690 
      =====  =====  
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12. Financial assets - Company   Subsidiary   

    Undertakings Listed 

    Shares Investments Total 

    € € € 

 Group undertakings 

 Shares at cost 

 

 At 1 July 2014   30,365 423,413 453,778 

 Shares disposals during year   - (384,675) (384,675) 

    _____ ______ _____ 

 At 30 June 2015   30,365 38,738 69,103 

 

 Provisions for 

 Diminution in value: 

 At 1 July 2014   - 141,595 141,595 

 Movement   - 83,400 83,400 

 Share Disposals   - (186,257) (186,257) 

    _____ ______ _____ 

 At 30 June 2015   - 38,738 38,738 

 

 Net book values 

 At 30 June 2015   30,365 - 30,365 

    ======= ======= ======= 

 

 At 30 June 2014   30,365 281,818 312,183 

    ======= ======= ======= 

 

 At 30 June 2015 the Company had the following subsidiary undertaking: 

 

 Name Incorporated in   % shares 
 IMC Exploration Limited Ireland   100 

 

 The aggregate amount of capital and reserves and the results of these undertakings for the last relevant 

financial year were as follows: 

 

  Capital and reserves  Loss for Year 
   €  € 

 IMC Exploration Limited  (362,411)  (16,912) 

   ________  ______ 

 

 Listed Investments 

 On the 26
th

 March 2012 the company acquired 1,000,000 in Gold World Resources Inc at a cost price of 

CAD$0.05 per share.  The market price at 30 June 2015 was CAD$0.0000. 

  

On 07
th

 March 2014 the company issued 16,000,000 shares to Global Resources Investment Trust 

(GRIT), an LSE quoted company, in return for 320,000 shares (GBP£1 per share) in GRIT. On the 04
th

 

November 2014 the company disposed of 42,729 shares in GRIT for a price of GBP£0.25 per share. On 

25
th

 February 2015 the company disposed of 10,000 shares in GRIT for a price of GBP£0.1785 per share. 

On 17
th

 March 2015 the company disposed of 267,271 shares in GRIT for a price of GBP£0.13 per share. 

 

 The directors have provided for any diminution in value. 

 

 In the opinion of the Directors’ the carrying value of the investment is appropriate. 
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13. Trade and other receivables  Group Group Company Company 

   2015 2014 2015 2014 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts owed by group undertaking - - 818,372 818,372 

 Other receivables  39,139 38,871 29,144 17,624 

 Directors Accounts  43,962 43,962 43,962 43,962 

 Called up share capital not paid  28,570 28,570 28,570 28,570 

 Prepayments and accrued income  - - - - 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

   111,671 111,403 920,048 908,528 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 Amounts falling due after more than one year and included in debtors are: 

 

   Group Group Company Company 

   2015 2014 2015 2014 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts owed by group undertaking - - 818,372 818,372 

 Called up share capital not paid  28,570 28,570 28,570 28,570 

   _______ _______ ________ _______ 

   

   28,570 28,570 846,942 846,942 

   ======== ======== ========= ======== 

  

14. Trade and other payables  Group Group Company Company 

   2015 2014 2015 2014 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts falling due within one year 

 Corporation tax  10,991 9,898 10,991 9,898 

 Other taxes and social welfare costs - - - - 

 Other payables  79,160 3,000 79,160 3,000 

 Accruals and deferred income  76,794 58,462 52,794 35,962 

   ______ ______ ______ _____ 

 

   166,945 71,360 142,945 48,860 

   ======= ====== ====== ====== 

 

 Other taxes and social welfare costs: Group Group Company Company 

   2015 2014 2015 2014 

   € € € € 

 

 PAYE/PRSI  - - - - 

   ===== ===== ==== ==== 
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15. Share capital     2015 2014 

     € € 
 

 Authorised equity 

 200,000,000 Ordinary shares of €0.001 each   200,000 200,000 

 50,000 “A” Ordinary shares of €1 each   50,000 50,000 

     ______ ______ 

  

     250,000 250,000 

     ======= ======= 

 Issued Capital 

 Ordinary Shares fully paid up  Number of shares Share Capital Share Premium 

     € € 

 Balance at 1 July 2013   53,308,507 53,309 1,308,102 

 Shares Issued for Non-Cash   16,000,000 16,000 368,675 

    _________ ________ ________ 

 

 Balance at 30 June 2014   69,308,507 69,309 1,676,777 

    ========== ======== ========= 

 

 Balance at 1 July 2014   69,308,507 69,309 1,676,777 

 Shares Issued for Cash   5,008,212 5,008 62,992 

    _________ ________ ________ 

 

 Balance at 30 June 2015   74,316,719 74,317 1,739,769 

    ========== ======== ========= 

 

 Fully paid ordinary shares which have a par value of €0.001 carry one vote and carry a right to dividends. 

 

 A Ordinary Shares Partly Paid  Number of shares Share Capital Share Premium 

     € € 

 

 Balance at 1 July 2014   38,093 38,093 - 

    _______ _______ _______ 

 

 Balance 30 June 2015   38,093 38,093 - 

    ======== ======= ======== 

 

Partly paid “A” ordinary shares which have a par value of €1 carry no voting rights or rights to 

dividends. 

 

 Total Shares    Share Capital Share Premium 

     € € 

 Total at 1 July 2014    107,402 1,676,777 

 Shares Issued for Cash    5,008 62,992 

     ______ ________ 

 

 Total at 30 June 2015    112,410 1,739,769 

  =======  ====== 
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16. Retained Losses  Group Group Company Company 

   2015 2014 2015 2014 

   € € € € 

 

 Loss at beginning of year  (967,208) (744,086) (611,980) (477,779) 

 Loss for the year  (440,741) (223,122) (423,829) (134,201) 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

 Loss at end of year  (1,407,949) (967,208) (1,035,809) (611,980) 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 In accordance with the provisions of the Companies (Amendment) Act 1986, the Company has not 

  presented an Income Statement.   A Loss for the year of €423,829 (2014 – loss of €134,201) has been  

 dealt with in the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Company. 

 

 

17. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds   2015 2014 

     € € 

 

 Loss for the year    (440,741) (223,122) 

 Net proceeds of equity share issue    68,000 384,675 

 Other recognised gains or losses    - - 

     _______ _______ 

  

 Net deductions from/additional to shareholders funds   (372,741) 161,553 

 Opening shareholders funds    816,971 655,418 

     _______ _______ 

  

 Equity shareholders’ funds    444,230 816,971 

     ======== ======= 
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18. Transactions with directors 

 

 Loans to directors     Maximum 

   Opening  Closing Outstanding 

   Balance Movement Balance In Year 

   € € € € 

 Names of Director 

 Andrew Laz Fleming  4,124 - 4,124 4,124 

 Gareth V Jones (Resigned on 19
th

 December 2013) 8,952 - 8,952 8,952 

 Glenn Millar  6,957 - 6,957 6,957 

 Nial Ring  10,880 - 10,880 10,880 

 Liam McGrattan  6,454 - 6,454 6,454 

 Hugh Gibney (Resigned on 19
th

 December 2013) 6,595 - 6,595 6,595 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

 Amounts due by directors as at 30 June 2015 43,962 - 43,962 43,962 

   ======= ======   ======= ======= 

 

 The loans which are interest free are repayable on demand. 

 

  

 

 

19. Post Balance Sheet events. 

 

 Joint Venture Agreement with Koza Limited 

 On 31 July 2015 the Company completed a Joint Venture agreement with Koza Limited, a subsidiary of 

Koza Altin Isletmeleri A.S. which is a Turkish based exploration company. The Joint Venture agreement 

relates to the Company’s metal exploration licences in Wicklow and Wexford whereby Koza Limited 

will fully fund the work’s programme on these licence areas with investment of €3.4 million for a 75% 

interest in these licences. 

 

 Share Issue 

 Since 30 June 2015 the Company has issued 8.5 million shares to various investors for a price of 

GBP£0.01 per share. 
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20.          Share-based payments 

 

Share Options   

                                                                                                                                                                                                    

At the company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 18 June 2011 the shareholders approved the 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 2012 Share Option Scheme. 

 

Under this Share Option Scheme all of the directors and Lisa McDonnell and David Plunkett had an 

option to purchase 500,000 Ordinary Shares at a weighted average price of €1.35. This option expired 3 

years after the Plus Listing date of 12
th

 October 2011 on 12
th

 October 2014. 

 

There were no options exercised before this expiry date. 

 

On 27
th

 March 2015 the directors approved the IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 2015 

Share Option Scheme. 

 

Under this Share Option Scheme all of the directors (past and present) have an option to purchase 

200,000 shares at a weighted average price of GBP£0.10. The option expires on 26
th

March 2017. 

 

 

 

21.         Related Party Transactions 

                                                                                                                                                    

Details of subsidiary undertakings are shown in Note 12. In accordance with International Accounting 

Standard 24 – Related Party transactions between group entities have been eliminated on consolidation 

and are therefore not disclosed. 

 

Included in other payables (see Note 14) is a convertible loan amount of €76,160 owing to Wilhan 

Limited, a company controlled by director Mr. Liam McGrattan. The convertible loan can be converted 

at Wilhan Limited’s election into ordinary shares of GBP£0.02 at any time up to 05
th

March 2016. 
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22. Gross Cash Flows 

     2015 2014 

     € € 

 Returns on investment and servicing of finance 

 Interest received    - 1,017 

 Proceeds from sale of investments    63,254 - 

     _____ ______ 

 

     63,254 1,017 

     ===== ====== 

 

 Taxation 

 Corporation tax paid     - - 

     _____ ______ 

 

     - - 

     ====== ====== 

 

 Capital expenditure and financial investment 
 Payments to acquire intangible assets   - - 

 Payments to acquire tangible assets    - - 

 Payments to acquire investments    - - 

     ______ _______ 

  

     - - 

     ======= ======== 

 Financing  

 Issue of ordinary share capital    68,000 - 

 Issue costs    - - 

     ______ _______ 

     

     68,000 - 

     ======= ======= 

 

 

23. Analysis of changes in net funds  

    Opening  Cash Closing 

    Balance flows balance 

    € € € 

 

 Cash at bank and in hand   (32,304) 5,619 (26,685) 

    ______ ______ _____ 

   

    (32,304) 5,619 (26,685) 

    ------------ ------------ ----------- 

 

 Net Funds   (32,304) 5,619 (26,685) 

    ======== ======= ======= 
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24.         Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management  

                                                                                                                            

The Group and Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents. The 

main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group and Company’s 

operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as receivables and trade 

payables, which arise directly from its operations. 

 

It is, and has been throughout 2015 and 2014 the Group and Company’s policy that no trading on 

derivatives be undertaken. 

 

The main risks arising from the Group and Company’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, 

credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and capital risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for 

managing each of these risks which are summarised below. 

 

Foreign currency risk                                                                                                                                                                             

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign countries. Hence, exposures to 

exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy 

parameters utilising forward exchange contracts where appropriate. 

 

At the year ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014, the Group had no outstanding forward exchange 

contracts. 

 

Credit Risk                                                                                                                                                                                     
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 

financial loss to the Group. As the Group does not, as yet, have any sales to third parties, this risk is 

limited. 

 

The Group and Company’s financial assets comprise receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The 

credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with high 

credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. The Group and Company’s exposure to 

credit risk arise from default of its counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 

amount of cash and cash equivalents in its consolidated balance sheet. 

 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 

counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having similar 

characteristics if they are connected entities. 

 

Liquidity risk management                                                                                                                                                              

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not have sufficient funds to meet liabilities. Ultimate 

responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an 

appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group and Company’s 

short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages 

liquidity by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash 

flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Cash forecasts are regularly 

produced to identify the liquidity requirements of the Group. To date, the Group has relied on 

shareholder funding to finance its operations. The Group had no borrowing facilities at 30 June 2015. 

 

The Group and Company’s financial liabilities as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 were all payable 

on demand.  
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The expected maturity of the Group and Company’s financial assets (excluding prepayments) as at 30 

June 2015 and 30 June 2014 was less than one month. 

 

The Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows with an appropriate mix of 

funds and equity investments. The Group further mitigates liquidity risk by maintaining an insurance 

programme to minimise exposure to insurable losses. 

  

The group had no derivative financial instruments as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014. 

 

Interest rate risk                                                                                                                                                                                           

The Group and Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to 

the Group and Company’s holdings of cash and short term deposits. 

 

It is the Group and Company’s policy as part of its disciplined management of the budgetary process to 

place surplus funds on short-term deposit in order to maximise interest earned. 

 

Capital Risk Management                                                                                                                                                                                

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 

balance. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 

economic conditions. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Group may adjust or issue new 

shares or raise debt. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 

ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014. The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable 

to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained losses as disclosed in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

 

Fair values                                                                                                                                                                                                     

The carrying amount of the Group and Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities is a 

reasonable approximation of the fair value. 

 

Hedging                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

At the year ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014, the Group had no outstanding contracts designated 

as hedges. 

 

25.          Approval of financial statements 

                                                                                                                                                               

The financial statements were approved by the board on 07
th

 September 2015. 
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Chairman’s Statement       

                                                                                                                                                

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

 

The directors of IMC Exploration Group plc ('IMC') are pleased to present the Financial Results for IMC for 

twelve months to 30th June 2016.  

 

World developments in recent times have had an encouraging effect on the mining sector and IMC is in a  

position to benefit from these developments. The rising price of gold and zinc since the beginning of the year is 

very reassuring but we are also very mindful of, and encouraged by, the results of an Irish Government  

sponsored Tellus geological survey.  

  

Earlier this year, the Geological Survey of Ireland (GSI) released the Tellus Survey, revealing higher than expec

ted values of gold and platinum in the streams and rivers of Counties Wicklow and Wexford in south east  

Ireland.   

All five of IMC's precious metal prospecting licences in Wicklow and Wexford are sited centrally in the  

survey region, the very licence areas that we continue to explore with our joint venture partners, Koza Limited  

(a subsidiary of the gold mining major, Koza Altin Isletmeleri AS).  

  

We are delighted to report that The Tellus Survey confirms high levels of gold in streams near the Gold   Mine 

River an Avoca region of Wicklow.  This justifies, confirms and validates the current geological 

exploration programme underway with Koza Limited.  

 

IMC is currently evaluating a number of approaches from international mining companies in relation to its base 

metal licences.  These advances have come as a result of a resurgence of interest in the base metal sector in  

Ireland, leaving IMC well positioned to take advantage of this via our 10 base metal licences,  

through the mentation of our base metal Work's Programme.  

 

IMC continues to make excellent progress in its exploration and corporate activities.   We look forward to 

 the coming weeks and months with enthusiasm. This is a great time for gold and base metals and is an exciting  

time for IMC. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________ 

Liam McGrattan  

Chairman  
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The Directors present their Annual Report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 

June 2016 for IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company (“the Company”) and its subsidiary 

(collectively “the Group”). 

 

 

Principal Activity 

The Group’s main activity is the exploration for gold, zinc and other minerals in Ireland.  The Directors have 

reviewed the financial position of the Group and are satisfied that the Group will continue to operate at its 

projected level of activity for the foreseeable future. 

 

 

Review of Business and Future Developments 

A detailed review of activities for the year and future prospects of the Group is contained in the Chairman’s 

Statement and Review of Activities.  

On 31 July 2015 the Company completed a Joint Venture agreement with Koza Limited, a subsidiary of Koza 

Altin Isletmeleri A.S. which is a Turkish based exploration company. The Joint Venture agreement relates to the 

Company’s metal exploration licences in Wicklow and Wexford whereby Koza Limited will fully fund the 

work’s programme on these licence areas with investment of €3.4 million for a 75% interest in these licences. 

 

Principal Risk and Uncertainties 

The Group’s activities are carried out principally in the Republic of Ireland.  Accordingly the principal risks and 

uncertainties are considered to be the following: 

 

 

Exploration Risk 

Exploration and development activities may be delayed or adversely affected by factors outside the Group’s 

control, in particular: climatic conditions, existence of commercial deposits of gold, zinc and other minerals, 

unknown geological conditions; remoteness of locations; actions of governments or other regulatory authorities 

(relating to, inter alia, the grant, maintenance or renewal of any required authorisations, environmental 

regulations or changes in law). 

 

 

Commodity Price Risk 

The demand for, and price of gold, zinc and other minerals is dependent on global and local supply and demand, 

actions of governments or cartels and general global economic and political developments. 

 

 

Financial Risk 

Financial risk is addressed in Note 24 to these financial statements. 

 

 

Share Price 

The company shares are quoted on ISDX markets. Share price movement in the year ranged from a low of 

Stg£0.015 to a high of Stg£0.03.  The share price at the year end was Stg£0.02. 

 

 

Results and Dividends 

The loss for the year after providing for depreciation and taxation amounted to €410,007 (2015: €440,741).  All 

exploration and development costs to date have been deferred, no transfers to distributable reserves or dividends 

are recommended. 

 

 

Future Developments 

A review of future developments of the business is included in the Chairman’s Statement and review of 

operations. 
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Directors and Secretary and their Interests 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Nial Ring retires from the board by rotation in accordance with 

Article 94 of the Articles of Association. 

 

The Directors and secretary who held office at the year end had no interest, either direct or beneficial, other than 

those shown below, in the shares of the Company. 

 

 

 Ordinary Shares  A Ordinary Shares 

 16 Dec 2016 30 June 2016 30 June 2015 30 June 2016 30 June 2015 

Directors 

Andrew Laz Fleming 1,615,001 1,615,001 1,615,001 - - 

Glenn Millar 1,600,001 1,600,001 1,600,001 - - 

Nial Ring 1,733,334 1,733,334 1,733,334 - - 

Liam McGrattan 2,252,985 2,252,985 2,252,985 38,093 38,093 

 

Secretary 

Nial Ring 1,733,334 1,733,334 1,733,334 

 

 

   

Transactions Involving Directors 

There have been no contract or arrangements of significance during the year in which Directors of the Company 

were interested other than as disclosed in Notes 18, 20 and 21 to the financial statements. 

 

 

Significant Shareholders 

The Company has been informed that, in additional to the interest of the Directors, at 30 June 2016 and the date 

of this report, the following shareholders own 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company: 

 

   Percentage of Issued share 

capital 

   16 Dec 2016 30 June 2016 30 June 2015 

 

Lisa McDonnell   3.13% 3.13% 6.15% 

Global Resources Investment Trust   14.84% 14.84% 21.53% 

The Bank of New York (Nominees) Ltd.   4.64% 4.64% 0.00% 

Pershing Nominees Ltd.   4.64% 4.64% 0.00% 

Pershing International Nominees Ltd.   3.69% 3.69% 0.00% 

Mosetta Nominees Ltd.   3.53% 3.53% 0.00% 

 

 

The Directors are not aware of any other holding of 3% or more of the share capital of the Company. 

 

Group undertakings 

Details of the Company’s subsidiary are set out in Note 12 to the financial statements. 

 

Political donations 

The Company did not make any political donations during the year (2015 : € Nil). 
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Going Concern 

The future of the Group is dependent on the successful future outcome of its exploration interests.  The 

Directors have carried out a review of budgets and cash flows for the twelve months after the date of this report 

and on the basis of that review, consider that the Group and the Company, based on current exploration activity, 

will have adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future.  As exploration 

activity is expanded, further funding will be required. 

 

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have taken into account all information 

that could reasonably be expected to be available.  On this basis, they consider that it is appropriate to prepare 

the financial statements on the going concern basis. 

 

 

Important events after the reporting date 

There have been no important events after the reporting date other than as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial 

statements. 

 

 

Corporate Governance 

The Directors are committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance commensurate with 

the size, stage of development and financial status of the Group. 

 

 

The Board 

The Board is responsible for the supervision and control of the Company and is accountable to the shareholders.  

The Board has reserved decision-making on a variety of matters, including determining strategy for the Group, 

reviewing and monitoring executive management performance and monitoring risks and controls. 

 

The Board currently has four Directors, comprising three executive Directors and one non-executive Director.  

The Board met formally thirteen times during the year ended 30
th

 June 2016.  An agenda and supporting 

documentation was circulated in advance of each meeting.  All the Directors bring independent judgement to 

bear on issues affecting the Group and all have full and timely access to information necessary to enable them to 

discharge their duties.  The Directors have a wide and varying array of experiences in the industry. 
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Audit and Remuneration Committees 

The Audit Committee comprises Nial Ring (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming.  It may examine any matters 

relating to the financial affairs of the Group and the Group’s audits.  This includes reviews of the annual 

financial statements and announcements, internal control procedures, accounting procedures, accounting 

policies, the appointment, independence, objectivity, terms of reference and fees of external auditors and such 

other related functions as the Board may require. 

 

The Remuneration Committee comprises Glenn Millar (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming.  It determines the 

terms and conditions of employment and annual remuneration of the executive directors.  It consults with the 

Chief Executive Officer, takes into consideration external data and comparative third party remuneration and 

has access to professional advice outside the Company.   

 

The key policy objectives of the Remuneration Committee in respect of the Company’s executive directors are: 

- To ensure that individuals are fairly rewarded for their personal contribution to the Company’s overall   

performance; and 

- To act as the independent committee ensuring that due regard is given to the interest of the Company’s 

shareholders and to the financial and commercial health of the Company 

 

Directors’ Remuneration, including employer’s PRSI, during the year ended 30 June 2016 was as follows: 

    2016 2015 

    Total Total 

    € € 

 

Remuneration and other emoluments – Executive Directors   - - 

Remuneration and other emoluments – Non-Executive Directors  - - 

    _______ ______ 

 

    - - 

    ======== ======= 

 

Nomination Committee 

At present, as the Board is small, no formal nomination committee has been established.  The authority to 

nominate new Directors for appointment vests in the Board of Directors.  All Directors co-opted to the Board 

during any financial period are subject to election by shareholders at the first opportunity following their 

appointment.  Consideration to setting up a nomination committee is under continuous review. 

 

Statement of Director’s Responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements 

in accordance with applicable Irish Law and regulations. 

 

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each 

financial year.  As permitted by company law, the Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IRFSs) as adopted by the EU (EU IFRS) and have 

elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with EU IFRS, as applied in accordance with 

the provisions of Companies Act 2014. 

 

The Group and Company financial statements are required by law and EU IFRS to present fairly the position 

and performance of the Group; the Companies Acts provide, in relation to such financial statements, that 

reference in the relevant part of the Acts to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to 

their achieving a fair presentation. 
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In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

 

-  select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

 

-  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 

- disclose and explain any material departures from applicable accounting standards; 

 

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume the Company, 

and the Group as a whole, will continue in business. 

 

The directors confirm that they have completed with the above requirements in preparing the financial 

statements. 

 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Company and Group and which enable them to ensure that the financial 

statements are prepared in accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in Ireland, and comply with 

the Companies Act 2014, the European Communities (Companies; Group Accounts) Regulations 1992 and all 

regulations to be construed as one with those Acts. 

 

They are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 

included on the Company’s website.  Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and 

dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

Accounting records 

The measures taken by the Directors to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 282, Companies Act 

2014, regarding proper books of accounts are the implementation of necessary policies and procedures for 

recording transactions, the employment of competent accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and the 

provision of adequate resources to the finance function. The books of accounts of the Company are maintained 

at 70 Ballybough Road, Ballybough, Dublin 3. 

 

Auditors 

The auditors, O’Leary Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors, have indicated their willingness to 

continue in office in accordance with the provisions of Section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014. 

 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

 

 

_____________________  ___________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director  Director 

Date:    16
th

 December 2016 

 
 
 

 



 

 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of IMC Explorations Public Limited Company 

 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

 

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of IMC Exploration 

Group Public Limited Company for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 which comprise of the Consolidated 

Statements of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement of 

Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Financial Position, 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Company Statement of Cash Flows and notes thereon.    These financial 

statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out on pages 19-23. 

 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 336 of the 

Companies Act 2014.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members 

those matters that we are required to state to them in the audit report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 

extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company or the 

Company’s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.  

 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
The Directors responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) are 

set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on pages 7-8. 

 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 

requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.  We also report to you whether, in our opinion; 

proper books of accounts have been kept by the Company; whether at the Statement of Financial Position date, 

there exists a financial situation requiring the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the Company; 

and whether the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.  In 

addition, we state whether we have obtained all the information and explanations necessary for the purposes of 

our audit and whether the Company’s financial positon is in agreement with the books of account. 

 

We report to the shareholders if, in our opinion, any information specified by law or the listing rules of the 

ISDX markets regarding Directors’ remuneration and Directors’ transactions is not given and, where 

practicable, include such information in our report. 

 

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the 

audited financial statements.  This other information comprises only the “Chairman’s Statement and Review of 

Activities”.  We consider the implications for our audit report if we become aware of any apparent misstatement 

or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other 

information. 

 

Basis of opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and 

Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.  An audit includes examination, on a test 

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  It also 

includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the 

preparation of the financial statements, and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 
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……………. continued 

 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In 

forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 

statements. 
 

Opinion                                                                                                                                                                                                         
In our opinion: 

 

-  the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS’s as adopted by the EU, of 

the state of the Group’s affairs as at 30 June 2016 and of its loss for the year then ended; 

 

-  the Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU 

and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014, of the state of the Company’s 

affairs as at 30 June 2016; and 

 

-  the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014. 

 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit. In 

our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Company. The Company Statement of Financial 

Position is in agreement with the books of account. 

 

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report on pages 4 – 8 is consistent with the financial 

statements. 

 

Emphasis of Matter – Going concern and carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets                                                                         

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we considered: 

 

(a)  the adequacy of disclosures made in Note 10 to the financial statements in relation to the Directors’ 

assessment of the carrying value of the Group’s deferred exploration costs amounting to €587,665. 

 

(b) the adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 1 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. The Group incurred a net loss of €410,007 for the year ended 30 June 2016. 

 

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that 

would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern. 

 

 

------------------------------------------------------ 

Patrick O’Leary 

For and on behalf of 

 

O’Leary Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors 

 
 

Whitebeam, 9 Oakglade Crescent, Ballycullen, Dublin 24 

Date: 16
th

 December 2016 
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Continuing Operations 

 

 

  Notes  2016 2015 

 

Administrative expenses    (410.007) (221,084) 

 

Operating Loss for the period  4.  (410,007) (221,084) 

 

Finance Income    - - 

Loss on sale of investment    - (135,164) 

Amount written off investment  5.  - (83,400) 

    __________ _________ 

 

Loss for period before tax    (410,007) (439,648) 

  

Income tax expenses  8.  - (1,093) 

    _________ _________ 

Total comprehensive loss for the period    (410,007) (440,741)  

    ========= ========= 

 

Loss attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company    (410,007) (440,741) 

    ========= ========= 

 

Total Comprehensive Loss attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company    (410,007) (440,741) 

    ========= ========= 

Earnings per share 

From continuing operations 

Basic and Diluted loss per share (cent)    0.01 0.01 

    ========= ========= 

 

All activities derived from continuing operations. All losses and total comprehensive losses for the period are 

attributable to the owners of the Company. 

 

The Company has no recognised gains or losses other than those dealt with in the statement of comprehensive 

income. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The Financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16
th

 December 2016 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

_____________________________   __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan   Nial Ring   

Director    Director   
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

 

 Share Share Retained 

 Capital Premium Losses Total 

 € € € € 
 

Balance at 30 June 2014 107,402 1,676,777 (967,208) 816,971 

 __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Total comprehensive income for the period  

Loss for the period  - - (440,741) (440,741) 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (440,741) (440,741) 

         ----------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity  

contributions by and distributions to owners 

Shares issued  5,008 62,992 - 68,000 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Total transactions with owners  - - - -  

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

 

Balance at 30 June 2015 112,410 1,739,769 (1,407,949) 444,230 

 __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period  

Loss for the period  - - (410,007) (410,007) 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (410,007) (410,007) 

  -------------------- --------------------- -------------------- ---------------- 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity  

contributions by and distributions to owners 

Shares issued  33,500 497,646 - 531,146 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Balance at 30 June 2016  145,910 2,237,415 (1,817,956) 565,369 

 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

 

Net equity is attributable to the holder of the ordinary shares in the Group. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of Directors on 16
th

 December 2016 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director Director 

 

 



 

 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Company Statement of Changes in equity  

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

 

 

   

   Share Share Retained  

   Capital Premium Losses Total 

   € € € € 

 

Balance at 30 June 2014  107,402 1,676,777 (611,980) 1,172,199 

   ______ ______ _______ ________ 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Loss for the year  - - (423,829) (423,829) 

   ------------- ------------ -------------- -------------- 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - (423,829) (423,829) 

   ------------ ------------- -------------- --------------- 

 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Shares issued  5,008 62,992 - 68,000 

Shares issue costs  - - - - 

   ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Total transactions with owners  5,008 62,992 - 68,000 

   ------------ ------------ ------------ ----------- 

 

Balance at 30 June 2015  112,410 1,739,769 (1,035,809) 816,370 

   _______ _______ ______ _____ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Loss for the year  - - (407,042) (407,042) 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - (407,042) (407,042) 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Shares issued  33,500 497,646 - 531,146 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

Total transactions with owners  33,500 497,646 - 531,146 

   _______ _______ ______ ________ 

 

Balance at 30 June 2016  145,910 2,237,415 (1,442,851) 940,474 

   ======== ======= ======= ======== 

 

Net equity is attributable to the holders of the ordinary shares in the Company. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 - 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 16
th

 December 2016 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

________________________  ____________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director  Director 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

 

 

  Notes  2016 2015 

 

Assets 

Intangible assets  10  587,665 524,724 

Property, plant and equipment  11  - 1,465 

Investments  12  - - 

    __________ __________ 

Total Non-Current Assets    587,665 526,189 

    __________ __________ 

 

Current Assets 

Trade and other receivables  13  95,047 111,671 

Cash and cash equivalents    61,742 (26,685) 

    __________ __________ 

Total Current Assets    156,789 84,986 

    __________ __________ 

 

Total Assets    744,454 611,175 

    ========= ========= 

 

Equity 

Share Capital  15  145,910 112,410 

Share premium  15  2,237,415 1,739,769 

Retained deficit  16  (1,817,956) (1,407,949) 

    __________ _________ 

Attributable to owners of the Company  17  565,369 444,230 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity    565,369 444,230 

    __________ __________ 

 

Liabilities – Current 

Trade and other payables    168,094 155,954 

Current tax liabilities    10,991 10,991 

    __________ __________ 

Total Liabilities  14  179,085 166,945 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity and Liabilities    744,454 611,175 

    ========= ========= 
    

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form and integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The Financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16
th

 December 2016 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan                             Nial Ring 

Director                             Director 
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Company Statement of Financial Position 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

 

 

  Notes  2016 2015 

 

Assets 

Non- Current Assets     
Financial Investments  12  30,365 30,365 

    __________ __________ 

Total Non-Current Assets    30,365 30,365 

    __________ __________ 

 

Current Assets 

Trade and other receivables  13  972,865 920,048 

Cash and cash equivalents    97,329 8,902 

    __________ __________ 

Total Current Assets    1,070,194 928,950 

    __________ __________ 

 

Total Assets    1,100,559 959,315 

    ========= ========= 

 

Equity 

Share Capital  15  145,910 112,410 

Share premium  15  2,237,415 1,739,769 

Retained loss  16  (1,442,851) (1,035,809) 

    __________ _________ 

Equity Attributable to equity shareholders   940,474 816,370 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity    940,474 816,370 

    __________ __________ 

 

Liabilities – Current 

Trade and other payables  14  149,094 131,954 

Current tax liabilities  14  10,991 10,991 

    __________ __________ 

Total Liabilities    160,085 142,945 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity and Liabilities    1,100,559 959,315 

    ========= ========= 
    

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form and integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16
th

 December 2016 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director Director 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

   

  Notes  2016 2015 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 

Loss for the year    (410,007) (222,177) 

 

Adjustments for: 

Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss   - 1,093 

Depreciation    1,465 1,225 

    ________ ________ 

 

Cash from operations before changes in working capital   (408,542) (219,859) 

 

Movement in trade and other receivables    16,624 (268) 

Movement in trade and other payables     12,140 94,492 

    _________ _______ 

 

Net cash flow from operating activities    (379,778) (125,635) 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Interest received  22  - - 

Proceeds from sale of investments  22  - 63,254 

Taxation  22  - - 

Acquisitions and disposals  22  (62,941) - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash (used in) investing activities    (62,941) 63,254 

    _________ ________ 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from the issue of new shares  22  531,146 68,000 

Finance income/(expense)    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash generated by financing activities   531,146 68,000 

    _________ ________ 

 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  23  88,427 5,619 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 23  (26,685) (32,304) 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 23  61,742 (26,685) 

    ========== ======== 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 – 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16
th

 December 2016 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

 

__________________________  ________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 
Director Director 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Company Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

   

  Notes  2016 2015 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 

Loss for the year    (407,042) (205,265) 

 

Adjustments for: 

Income tax expenses recognised in profit and loss   - 1,093 

    ________ ________ 

 

Cash from operations before changes in working capital   (407,042) (204,172) 

 

Movement in trade and other receivables    (52,817) (11,520) 

Movement in trade and other payables    17,140 92,992 

    _________ _______ 

 

Cash generated from operations    (442,719) (122,700) 

Income tax received    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash flows from operating activities    (442,719) (122,700) 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of investments    - 63,254 

Interest received    - - 

Taxation    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

    - 63,254 

    _________ ________ 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from the issue of new shares    531,146 68,000 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash used in financing activities    531,146 68,000 

    _________ ________ 

 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents in the year   88,427 8,554 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year   8,902 348 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year   97,329 8,902 

    ========== ========= 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 – 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16
th 

December 2016 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

__________________________   ________________________ 

Liam McGrattan   Nial Ring 

Director Director 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

Notes to the Financial Statements                                                                                                                                                                       

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

 

3. Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS’s) as adopted by the EU. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The accounting policies have 

been applied consistently by Group entities. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that IMC 

Exploration Group Public Limited Company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future. 

The validity of this assumption depends on the continued funding by Koza Limited on the Compny’s 

exploration licences in Wicklow and Wexford. 

The Directors are satisfied that they have adequate funding to cover the administrative expenses of the 

Company and Group for the next 12 months. 

The Directors also intend to raise additional finance during 2016/2017 to fund further exploration 

programmes. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result if the additional capital is not 

raised. Whilst taking into consideration the uncertainties described above, the Directors believe that it is 

appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements   

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

……………. Continued 

 

4. Statement of Accounting Policies 

Accounting Convention 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company (“the Company”) is a company incorporated in 

Ireland. The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiary (together 

referred to as the “Group”). 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements and by all group entities. 

 

Statement of Compliance 

As permitted by the European Union, the Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) and their interpretations issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the EU (IFRS). The individual financial 

statements of the Company (“Company financial statements”) have been prepared in accordance with the 

IFRS’s as adopted by the EU and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2014 which permits a 

company that publishes its Company and Group financial statements together, to take advantage of the 

exemption in Section 297 of the Companies Act 2014, from presenting to its members its Company 

Statement of Comprehensive Income and related notes that form part of the approved Company financial 

statements. 

 

The IFRS’s adopted by the EU as applied by the Company and the Group in the preparation of these 

financial statements are those that were effective on or before 30 June 2016. 
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Functional and Presentation Currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro (€), which is the Company’s functional 

currency. 

 

Use of Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

 

In particular, significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 

policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are in 

the following areas 

Note 10 – Intangible asset; measurement of impairment 

Note 8 – Deferred Tax; utilisation of tax losses 

 

Revenue Recognition – Interest revenue 

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 

interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 

 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of IMC Exploration Group 

Public Limited Company and its subsidiary undertaking for the year ended 30 June 2016. 

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly 

or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities. In assessing the control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 

taken into account. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that control commences until the 

date that control ceases. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains or losses or income or expenses arising from intragroup 

transactions are eliminated in preparing the Group financial statements. 

 

In the Company’s own balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provisions for any 

permanent diminution in value. 
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Intangible Assets 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets  

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 6 – Exploration for and Evaluation of 

Mineral Resources, the Group uses the cost method of recognition. Exploration costs include licence 

costs, survey, geophysical and geological analysis and evaluation costs, costs of drilling and project-

related overheads. 

 

Exploration expenditure in respect of properties and licences not in production is capitalised and is 

carried forward in the balance sheet under intangible assets in respect of each area of interest where: 

(iii) the operations are ongoing in the area of interest and exploration or evaluation activities have 

not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 

economically recoverable reserves; or 

(iv) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of the 

area of interest or alternatively by its realisation. 

 

When the Directors decide that no further expenditure on an area of interest is worthwhile, the related 

expenditure is written off or down to an amount which it is considered represents the residual value of 

the Group’s interest therein. 

  

Impairment  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets are reviewed at 

each year end reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 

indication exists then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have 

indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each year end 

reporting date. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that is expected to 

generate cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-

generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units 

and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 

value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risk specific to the asset. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Plant and Equipment are stated at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation. Subsequent costs are 

included in an asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group. Depreciation is 

provided at rates calculated to write off the cost less residual value of each asset over its expected useful 

life, as follows: 

 

Fixtures and Fittings -   20% Straight Line 

 

The residual value of the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually and 

adjusted if appropriate at each statement of financial position date. 

 

On disposal of property, plant and equipment the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and 

impairments are removed from the financial statements and the net amount, less any proceeds, is taken to 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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Income Tax Expense  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit and 

loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, in which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively. 

 

Current corporation tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 

previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 

recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 

investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences 

when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 

date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 

be realised. 

 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as 

the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised. 

 

Foreign Currencies 

Monetary assets and liabilities dominated in a foreign currency are translated into Euro at the exchange 

rate ruling at the balance sheet date, unless specifically covered by foreign exchange contracts 

whereupon the contract rate is used. Revenues, costs and non monetary assets are translated at the 

exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. All exchange differences are dealt with through 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Euro at the rates 

of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the restatement of 

the opening balance sheets of these subsidiary Companies are dealt with through reserves. The 

operating results of overseas subsidiary Companies are translated into Euro at the average rates 

applicable during the year. 

 

Share Capital 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised 

as a reduction in equity. 

 

Earnings Per Share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 

is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined 

by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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Share based payments 

For such grants of share options, the fair value as at the date of grant is calculated, taking into account 

the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is 

adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are likely to vest, except where forfeiture is 

only due to market-based conditions not achieving the threshold for vesting. The corresponding credit 

is to a share based payment reserve. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand 

and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are 

repayable on demand and form part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of 

cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of Statement of Cash Flows. 

 

Trade and Other Receivables/Payables 

Trade and other receivables and payables are stated at cost less impairment, which approximates fair 

value given the short dated nature of these assets and liabilities. 

 

Finance Income 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and foreign currency gains. Interest 

income is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest rate method) to the net carrying 

amount of the financial asset. 

 

Segmental Information 

In accordance with IFRS 8: Operating Segments, the Group has one principle reportable segment, ie: 

Ireland, which represents the exploration for and the development of gold, zinc and other minerals in 

Ireland. 

 

Other operations ‘Corporate’ includes cash resources held by the Group, interest income earned and 

other operational expenditure incurred by the Group. These areas are not within the definition of an 

operating segment. 

 

Financial Assets – Investments in Subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost and are reviewed for impairment if there are indications 

that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
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3.  Segment Information  

 

The group is engaged in one business segment only – exploration of mineral resource projects. Therefore only 

an analysis by geographical segment has been presented. The group has geographic segments in Ireland. 

 

The segment results for the periods are as follows:  

 

Segment Revenues and Results 

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable 

segment. 

 

 

 Segment Revenue  Segment Loss 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

 € € € € 

Loss for period to 30 June 2016 - - (410,007) (219,481) 

 ________ ________ _________ __________ 

Total for continuing operations - - (410,007) (219,481) 

   ========= ==========   

 

Investment Income   - - 

 

Amount written off investments   -          (83,400) 

Loss on sale of investments   - (135,164) 

Finance costs   - (1,603) 

   _________  _______ 

Loss before tax (continuing operations)   (410,007)  (439,648)  

 

Income tax expense    -  (1,093) 

   _________  _______   

Segment loss for period   (410,007)  (440,741) 

 

   =========   ======= 

    

 

Segment assets and liabilities 

 

   2016 2015 

Segment Assets     € € 

Exploration – Ireland   744,454 611,175 

   _______ ______ 

 

Consolidated assets   744,454 611,175 

   ======= =======  

 

Segment Liabilities  

Exploration – Ireland    179,085  166,945 

   _______ _____-  

Consolidated Liabilities    179,085 166,945 

 

   =======  ======= 

 

 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

 

……… continued  

 

 

Other segment information  

 

 Depreciation and   Additions to 

  Amortisation                           non-current 

assets 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

 € € € € 

Exploration 1,465 1,225 62,941 - 

                                                                          ======                 ======          ======             ====== 

 

 

Revenue from major products and services 

The Group received revenue from the sale of shares in Global Resources Investment Trust (GRIT), an 

LSE quoted company. 

 

Geographical information  

The Group operates in one geographical area – Republic of Ireland. 

 

 

4.  Loss on ordinary activities before taxation 

 

Group   2016 2015 

   € € 

 

This is arrived at after charging: 

Depreciation of tangible assets    1,465 1,225 

Auditors’ remuneration   14,500 14,500 

Auditors’ remuneration from non-audit work   - - 

                                                                                                                              =======             ======   

 

   2016 2015 

Company    € € 

 

This is arrived at after charging: 

Auditors’ remuneration   13,000 13,000 

Auditors’ remuneration from non-audit work   - - 

                                                                                                                                   ======           ====== 

 

 

As permitted by Section 297 of the Companies Act 2014, the company Statement of Comprehensive 

Income has not been separately disclosed in these financial statements.  

 

 

5.  Amounts written off investments    2016 2015 

   € € 

 

Amounts written off fixed asset 

investments:  

-diminution in value (see Note 12)   - 83,400   

   =======  ====== 
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6.     Interest receivable and similar income    2016 2015 

   € € 

 

Bank Interest    - - 

                                                                                                                                                     ======     =====  

 

 

7.  Employees     

 

Number of employees 

The average monthly numbers of employees  

(Including the directors) during the year were:   2016 2015 

   Number Number 

Directors    0 0 

Employee   0 0 

 

 

Employment costs (including directors)   2016 2015 

   € € 

 

Wages and salaries    - - 

Social welfare costs    - - 

   ______ _______ 

 

   - - 

   ======= ======== 

 

 

7.1  Directors’ emoluments  

 

   2016 2015  

   € € 

 

Remuneration and other emoluments    - - 

                                                                                                                                              ======  ====== 
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8. Income tax expense    2016  2015 

     € € 

 

 Current year taxation 

 Corporation tax expense in respect of the current year  - - 

 Corporation tax expense in respect of underprovision in prior years  - 1,093 

     _______ _______ 

 

 Total expense    - 1,093 

     ======= ======= 

 

 

 The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows: 

 

 Loss on ordinary activities before tax   (410,007) (211,084) 

     _______ _______ 

 Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by 

 standard rate of corporation tax of 12.5% (2015 – 12.5%)  (51,251) (27,636) 

 

     ======== ======== 

 

 

The tax rate used for the year end reconciliations above is the corporate rate of 12.5% payable by 

corporate entities in Ireland on taxable profits under tax law in the jurisdiction of Ireland. 

 

 Income tax expense recognised relates to surcharges on directors loans. 
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9. Loss per share      

 

Basic earnings per share 

The basic and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 

are as follows: 

 

   2016 2015 

   € € 

Loss for the period attributable to equity holders of     (410,007) (440,741) 

The parent     

  

   ======== ========= 

 

Number of ordinary shares in issue – start of year   74,316,719 69,308,507 

 

Effect of shares issued during the year   33,500,000 5,008,212 

   ------------------ -------------------- 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes   107,816,719 74,316,719 

of basic earning per share 

   ========== ========== 

 

Basic Loss per ordinary share (cent)   (0.01) (0.01) 

 

 

10. Intangible assets – Group   2016 2015 

   € € 

    

Cost    587,665 524,724 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment    - - 

   ________ ________ 

   587,665 524,724 

   ======== ========= 

 

 

   Exploration and Total 

  Evaluation Assets 

   € € 

 

Cost  

Opening cost   524,724 524,724 

Additions    62,941 - 

   ________ ________ 

   587,665 524,724 

   ======== ======== 

 

The Directors have considered expenditure on exploration and evaluation activities which have been capitalised 

at cost. No amortisation has been charged in the period. The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of the 

exploration and evaluation assets and consider it to be fairly stated and not impaired at 30 June 2016. The 

recoverability of the intangible assets is dependent on the future realisation or disposal of the copper, silver, gold 

and other mineral, resources.  
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11. Tangible assets  

         

 

 Fixtures & Total    

 fittings    

     

 € €  

Cost  

At 1 July 2015 6,125 6,125  

Additions  - - 

 ------------ ------------   

 6,125 6,125 

 ------------ ------------   

Depreciation 

At 1 July 2015 4,660 4,660  

Change for the year 1,465 1,465 

 ------------ ------------ 

At 30 June 2016 6,125 6,125 

 ------------ ------------ 

Net book values 

At 30 June 2016 - - 

 ====== ====== 

At 30 June 2015 1,465 1,465 
      =====  =====  
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12. Financial assets - Company   Subsidiary   

    Undertakings Listed 

    Shares Investments Total 

    € € € 

 Group undertakings 

 Shares at cost 

 

 At 1 July 2015   30,365 38,738 69,103 

 Shares disposals during year   - - - 

    _____ ______ _____ 

 At 30 June 2016   30,365 38,738 69,103 

 

 Provisions for 

 Diminution in value: 

 At 1 July 2015   - 38,738 38,738 

 Movement   - - - 

 Share Disposals   - - - 

    _____ ______ _____ 

 At 30 June 2016   - 38,738 38,738 

 

 Net book values 

 At 30 June 2016   30,365 - 30,365 

    ======= ======= ======= 

 

 At 30 June 2015   30,365 - 30,365 

    ======= ======= ======= 

 

 At 30 June 2016 the Company had the following subsidiary undertaking: 

 

 Name Incorporated in   % shares 
 IMC Exploration Limited Ireland   100 

 

 The aggregate amount of capital and reserves and the results of these undertakings for the last relevant  

 financial year were as follows: 

 

  Capital and reserves  Loss for Year 
   €  € 

 IMC Exploration Limited  (365,376)  (2,965) 

   ________  ______ 

 

 Listed Investments 

 On the 26
th

 March 2012 the company acquired 1,000,000 in Gold World Resources Inc at a cost price of 

 CAD$0.05 per share.  The market price at 30 June 2016 was CAD$0.0000. 

  

 The directors have provided for any diminution in value. 

 

 In the opinion of the Directors’ the carrying value of the investment is appropriate. 
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13. Trade and other receivables  Group Group Company Company 

   2016 2015 2016 2015 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts owed by group undertaking - - 887,813 818,372 

 Other receivables  22,515 39,139 12,520 29,144 

 Directors Accounts  43,962 43,962 43,962 43,962 

 Called up share capital not paid  28,570 28,570 28,570 28,570 

 Prepayments and accrued income  - - - - 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

   95,047 111,671 972,865 920,048 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 Amounts falling due after more than one year and included in debtors are: 

 

   Group Group Company Company 

   2016 2015 2016 2015 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts owed by group undertaking - - 887,813 818,372 

 Called up share capital not paid  28,570 28,570 28,570 28,570 

   _______ _______ ________ _______ 

   

   28,570 28,570 916,383 846,942 

   ======== ======== ========= ======== 

  

14. Trade and other payables  Group Group Company Company 

   2016 2015 2016 2015 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts falling due within one year 

 Corporation tax  10,991 10,991 10,991 10,991 

 Other taxes and social welfare costs  - - - - 

 Other payables  107,958 79,160 107,958 79,160 

 Accruals and deferred income  60,136 76,794 41,136 52,794 

   ______ ______ ______ _____ 

 

   179,085 166,945 160,085 142,945 

   ======= ====== ====== ====== 

 

 Other taxes and social welfare costs: Group Group Company Company 

   2016 2015 2016 2015 

   € € € € 

 

 PAYE/PRSI  - - - - 

   ===== ===== ==== ==== 
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15. Share capital     2016 2015 

     € € 
 

 Authorised equity 

 200,000,000 Ordinary shares of €0.001 each   200,000 200,000 

 50,000 “A” Ordinary shares of €1 each   50,000 50,000 

     ______ ______ 

  

     250,000 250,000 

     ======= ======= 

 Issued Capital 

 Ordinary Shares fully paid up  Number of shares Share Capital Share Premium 

     € € 

 Balance at 1 July 2014   69,308,507 69,309 1,676,777 

 Shares Issued for Non-Cash   5,008,212 5,008 62,992 

    _________ ________ ________ 

 

 Balance at 30 June 2015   74,316,719 74,317 1,739,769 

    ========== ======== ========= 

 

 Balance at 1 July 2015   74,316,719 74,317 1,739,764 

 Shares Issued for Cash   33,500,000 33,500 497,646 

    _________ ________ ________ 

 

 Balance at 30 June 2016   107,816,719 107,817 2,237,415 

    ========== ======== ========= 

 

 Fully paid ordinary shares which have a par value of €0.001 carry one vote and carry a right to dividends. 

 

 A Ordinary Shares Partly Paid  Number of shares Share Capital Share Premium 

     € € 

 

 Balance at 1 July 2015   38,093 38,093 - 

    _______ _______ _______ 

 

 Balance 30 June 2016   38,093 38,093 - 

    ======== ======= ======== 

 

Partly paid “A” ordinary shares which have a par value of €1 carry no voting rights or rights to 

dividends. 

 

 Total Shares    Share Capital Share Premium 

       € € 

 Total at 1 July 2015    112,410 1,739,769 

 Shares Issued for Cash    33,500 497,646 

     ______ ________ 

 

 Total at 30 June 2016    145,910 2,237,415 

                   =======     ======== 
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16. Retained Losses  Group Group Company Company 

   2016 2015 2016 2015 

   € € € € 

 

 Loss at beginning of year  (1,407,949) (967,208) (1,035,809) (611,980) 

 Loss for the year  (410,007) (440,741) (407,042) (423,829) 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

 Loss at end of year  (1,817,956) (1,407,949) (1,442,851) (1,035,809) 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014, the Company has not 

  presented an Income Statement.   A Loss for the year of €415,112 (2015 – loss of €423,829) has been  

 dealt with in the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Company. 

 

 

17. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds   2016 2015 

     € € 

 

 Loss for the year    (410,007) (440,741) 

 Net proceeds of equity share issue    531,146 68,000 

 Other recognised gains or losses    - - 

     _______ _______ 

  

 Net deductions from/additional to shareholders funds   121,139 (372,741) 

 Opening shareholders funds    444,230 816,971 

     _______ _______ 

  

 Equity shareholders’ funds    565,369 444,230 

     ======== ======= 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements  

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2016 

 

……………continued 

   

18. Transactions with directors 

 

 Loans to directors     Maximum 

   Opening  Closing Outstanding 

   Balance Movement Balance In Year 

   € € € € 

 Names of Director 

 Andrew Laz Fleming  4,124 - 4,124 4,124 

 Gareth V Jones (Resigned on 19
th

 December 2013) 8,952 - 8,952 8,952 

 Glenn Millar  6,957 - 6,957 6,957 

 Nial Ring  10,880 - 10,880 10,880 

 Liam McGrattan  6,454 - 6,454 6,454 

 Hugh Gibney (Resigned on 19
th

 December 2013) 6,595 - 6,595 6,595 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

 Amounts due by directors as at 30 June 2016 43,962 - 43,962 43,962 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 The loans which are interest free are repayable on demand. 

 

  

 

 

19. Post Balance Sheet events. 

 

 There were no significant post balance sheet events. 
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20.          Share-based payments 

 

Share Options   

                                                                                                                                                                                                     

 

On 27
th

 March 2015 the directors approved the IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 2015 

Share Option Scheme. 

 

Under this Share Option Scheme all of the directors (past and present) have an option to purchase 

200,000 shares at a weighted average price of GBP£0.10. The option expires on 26
th

March 2017. 

 

 

 

21.         Related Party Transactions 

                                                                                                                                                    

Details of subsidiary undertakings are shown in Note 12. In accordance with International Accounting 

Standard 24 – Related Party transactions between group entities have been eliminated on consolidation 

and are therefore not disclosed. 
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22. Gross Cash Flows 

     2016 2015 

     € € 

 Returns on investment and servicing of finance 

 Interest received    - - 

 Proceeds from sale of investments    - 63,254 

     _____ ______ 

 

     - 63,254 

     ===== ====== 

 

 Taxation 

 Corporation tax paid     - - 

     _____ ______ 

 

     - - 

     ====== ====== 

 

 Capital expenditure and financial investment 
 Payments to acquire intangible assets   62,941 - 

 Payments to acquire tangible assets     - - 

 Payments to acquire investments    - - 

     ______ _______ 

  

     62,941 - 

     ======= ======== 

 Financing  

 Issue of ordinary share capital    531,146 68,000 

 Issue costs    - - 

     ______ _______ 

     

     531,146 68,000 

     ======= ======= 

 

 

23. Analysis of changes in net funds  

    Opening  Cash Closing 

    Balance flows balance 

    € € € 

 

 Cash at bank and in hand   (26,685) 88,427 61,742 

    ______ ______ _____ 

   

    (26,685) 88,427 61,742 

    ------------ ------------ ----------- 

 

 Net Funds   (26,685) 88,427 61,742 

    ======== ======= ======= 
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24.         Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management  

                                                                                                                            

The Group and Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents. The 

main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group and Company’s 

operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as receivables and trade 

payables, which arise directly from its operations. 

 

It is, and has been throughout 2016 and 2015 the Group and Company’s policy that no trading on 

derivatives be undertaken. 

 

The main risks arising from the Group and Company’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, 

credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and capital risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for 

managing each of these risks which are summarised below. 

 

Foreign currency risk                                                                                                                                                                             

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign countries. Hence, exposures to 

exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy 

parameters utilising forward exchange contracts where appropriate. 

 

At the year ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015, the Group had no outstanding forward exchange 

contracts. 

 

Credit Risk                                                                                                                                                                                     
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 

financial loss to the Group. As the Group does not, as yet, have any sales to third parties, this risk is 

limited. 

 

The Group and Company’s financial assets comprise receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The 

credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with high 

credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. The Group and Company’s exposure to 

credit risk arise from default of its counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 

amount of cash and cash equivalents in its consolidated balance sheet. 

 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 

counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having similar 

characteristics if they are connected entities. 

 

Liquidity risk management                                                                                                                                                              

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not have sufficient funds to meet liabilities. Ultimate 

responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an 

appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group and Company’s 

short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages 

liquidity by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash 

flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Cash forecasts are regularly 

produced to identify the liquidity requirements of the Group. To date, the Group has relied on 

shareholder funding to finance its operations. The Group had no borrowing facilities at 30 June 2016. 

 

The Group and Company’s financial liabilities as at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 were all payable 

on demand.  
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The expected maturity of the Group and Company’s financial assets (excluding prepayments) as at 30 

June 2016 and 30 June 2015 was less than one month. 

 

The Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows with an appropriate mix of 

funds and equity investments. The Group further mitigates liquidity risk by maintaining an insurance 

programme to minimise exposure to insurable losses. 

  

The group had no derivative financial instruments as at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015. 

 

Interest rate risk                                                                                                                                                                                           

The Group and Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to 

the Group and Company’s holdings of cash and short term deposits. 

 

It is the Group and Company’s policy as part of its disciplined management of the budgetary process to 

place surplus funds on short-term deposit in order to maximise interest earned. 

 

Capital Risk Management                                                                                                                                                                                

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 

balance. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 

economic conditions. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Group may adjust or issue new 

shares or raise debt. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 

ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015. The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable 

to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained losses as disclosed in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

 

Fair values                                                                                                                                                                                                     

The carrying amount of the Group and Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities is a 

reasonable approximation of the fair value. 

 

Hedging                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

At the year ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015, the Group had no outstanding contracts designated 

as hedges. 

 

25.          Approval of financial statements 

                                                                                                                                                               

The financial statements were approved by the board on 16
th

 December 2016. 
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Chairman’s Statement       

                                                                                                                                                

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

 

The directors of IMC are pleased to present the audited Financial Results for ('IMC') for the twelve months 

to 30th June 2017.  

 

The past twelve months have been remarkable for IMC.  Highlights include: 

 

• The completion of an outline study relating to the secondary processing of mine  

 material from the Avoca Mine in Co. Wicklow 

 

• The Koza report based on legacy data review and reconnaissance on exploration  

 targets in Wicklow and Wexford 

 

• The commencement of the drilling programme on zinc prospecting Licence 3729 in  

 Tulla Co. Clare 

 

Since March 2017, IMC has been engaged in exploration work in Avoca, Co Wicklow.  Work has included 

assay testing and data collation, petrographic, mineralogical and metallurgical testing, along with analysis 

of potential material handling, processing setup, product sale and transport and high-level cost analysis.  

An Irish government commissioned report indicates the spoilsfrom previous extractive activity contain 

significant concentrations of copper (56-11,344 milligrams per kilogram [mg/kg]), zinc (44-7,404 mg/kg), 

lead (112-41,353 mg/kg), and arsenic (18-3,903 mg/kg).   

 

Earlier this year the Koza team completed an exploration targeting report within PL2551, PL3857 and PL 

2239, based on the Koza legacy data review and reconnaissance mapping.  This is a very important and 

valuable report and has prioritised detailed follow-up exploration work on these licences.   

 

Post Balance Sheet events: 

 

In recent months IMC has commenced a drilling programme on PL 3729, Tulla, Co. Clare. This licence 

area adjoins the Kilbricken zinc deposit.  Hannan Metals Limited (‘Hannan’), a Toronto listed company 

acquired the Kilbricken zinc deposit formerly held by Lunden Mining.  In July 2017, Hannan announced 

their maiden mineral resource estimate which ranks it as one of the top ten base metal deposit discovered 

in Ireland.  IMC’s PL 3729 and PL 3644 (Shannon licence) is adjacent to the Hannan licence area.   

 

IMC has made great strides in its numerous exploration activities.  With the commencement of our 

feasibility study on PL 3850 in Avoca, Co. Wicklow, the implementation of the recommendations in the 

Koza report and further drilling on our licence area in Co Clare, it is hoped that significant value will be 

added to IMC over the coming weeks and months. 

 

Liam McGrattan 

Chairman 
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The Directors present their Annual Report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

30 June 2017 for IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company (“the Company”) and its subsidiary 

(collectively “the Group”). 

 

 

Principal Activity 

The Group’s main activity is the exploration for gold, zinc and other minerals in Ireland.  The Directors 

have reviewed the financial position of the Group and are satisfied that the Group will continue to operate 

at its projected level of activity for the foreseeable future. 

 

 

Review of Business and Future Developments 

A detailed review of activities for the year and future prospects of the Group is contained in the 

Chairman’s Statement and Review of Activities.  

IMC has made great strides in its numerous exploration activities.  With the commencement of our 

feasibility study on in Avoca, Co. Wicklow, the implementation of the recommendations in the Koza 

report and further drilling on our licences areas in Co Clare, is hoped that significant value will be added to 

IMC over the coming period. 

 

 

Principal Risk and Uncertainties 

The Group’s activities are carried out principally in the Republic of Ireland.  Accordingly the principal 

risks and uncertainties are considered to be the following: 

 

 

Exploration Risk 

Exploration and development activities may be delayed or adversely affected by factors outside the 

Group’s control, in particular: climatic conditions, existence of commercial deposits of gold, zinc and other 

minerals, unknown geological conditions; remoteness of locations; actions of governments or other 

regulatory authorities (relating to, inter alia, the grant, maintenance or renewal of any required 

authorisations, environmental regulations or changes in law). 

 

 

Commodity Price Risk 

The demand for, and price of gold, zinc and other minerals is dependent on global and local supply and 

demand, actions of governments or cartels and general global economic and political developments. 

 

 

Financial Risk 

Financial risk is addressed in Note 24 to these financial statements. 

 

 

Share Price 

The company shares are quoted on ISDX markets. Share price movement in the year ranged from a low of 

Stg£0.015 to a high of Stg£0.03.  The share price at the year end was Stg£0.02. 

 

 

Results and Dividends 

The loss for the year after providing for depreciation and taxation amounted to €267,507 (2016: €410,007).  

All exploration and development costs to date have been deferred, no transfers to distributable reserves or 

dividends are recommended. 

 

 

Future Developments 

A review of future developments of the business is included in the Chairman’s Statement and review of 

operations. 
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……………. continued 

 

 

Directors and Secretary and their Interests 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Nial Ring retires from the board by rotation in accordance 

with Article 94 of the Articles of Association. 

 

The Directors and secretary who held office at the year end had no interest, either direct or beneficial, 

other than those shown below, in the shares of the Company. 

 

 

 Ordinary Shares  A Ordinary Shares 

 29 Nov 2017 30 June 2017 30 June 2016 30 June 2017 30 June 2016 

Directors 

Andrew Laz Fleming 1,615,001 1,615,001 1,615,001 - - 

Glenn Millar 1,600,001 1,600,001 1,600,001 - - 

Nial Ring 4,233,334 4,233,334 1,733,334 - - 

Liam McGrattan 7,952,985 7,952,985 2,252,985 38,093 38,093 

 

Secretary 

Nial Ring 4,233,334 4,233,334 1,733,334 

 

 

   

Transactions Involving Directors 

There have been no contract or arrangements of significance during the year in which Directors of the 

Company were interested other than as disclosed in Notes 18, 20 and 21 to the financial statements. 

 

 

Significant Shareholders 

The Company has been informed that, in additional to the interest of the Directors, at 30 June 2017 and the 

date of this report, the following shareholders own 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company: 

 

   Percentage of Issued share 

capital 

   29 Nov 2017 30 June 2017 30 June 2016 

 

Lisa McDonnell   2.64% 2.64% 3.13% 

Global Resources Investment Trust   16.34% 16.34% 14.84% 

The Bank of New York (Nominees) Ltd.   3.89% 3.89% 4.64% 

Pershing Nominees Ltd.   3.89% 3.89% 4.64% 

Pershing International Nominees Ltd.   3.10% 3.10% 3.69% 

Mosetta Nominees Ltd.   2.96% 2.96% 3.53% 

 

 

The Directors are not aware of any other holding of 3% or more of the share capital of the Company. 

 

Group undertakings 

Details of the Company’s subsidiary are set out in Note 12 to the financial statements. 

 

Political donations 

The Company did not make any political donations during the year (2016 : € Nil). 
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Going Concern 

The future of the Group is dependent on the successful future outcome of its exploration interests.  The 

Directors have carried out a review of budgets and cash flows for the twelve months after the date of this 

report and on the basis of that review, consider that the Group and the Company, based on current 

exploration activity, will have adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable 

future.  As exploration activity is expanded, further funding will be required. 

 

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have taken into account all 

information that could reasonably be expected to be available.  On this basis, they consider that it is 

appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis. 

 

 

Important events after the reporting date 

There have been no important events after the reporting date other than as disclosed in Note 19 to the 

financial statements. 

 

 

Corporate Governance 

The Directors are committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance commensurate 

with the size, stage of development and financial status of the Group. 

 

 

The Board 

The Board is responsible for the supervision and control of the Company and is accountable to the 

shareholders.  The Board has reserved decision-making on a variety of matters, including determining 

strategy for the Group, reviewing and monitoring executive management performance and monitoring 

risks and controls. 

 

The Board currently has four Directors, comprising three executive Directors and one non-executive 

Director.  The Board met formally thirteen times during the year ended 30
th

 June 2017.  An agenda and 

supporting documentation was circulated in advance of each meeting.  All the Directors bring independent 

judgement to bear on issues affecting the Group and all have full and timely access to information 

necessary to enable them to discharge their duties.  The Directors have a wide and varying array of 

experiences in the industry. 
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Audit and Remuneration Committees 

The Audit Committee comprises Nial Ring (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming.  It may examine any 

matters relating to the financial affairs of the Group and the Group’s audits.  This includes reviews of the 

annual financial statements and announcements, internal control procedures, accounting procedures, 

accounting policies, the appointment, independence, objectivity, terms of reference and fees of external 

auditors and such other related functions as the Board may require. 

 

The Remuneration Committee comprises Glenn Millar (Chairman) and Andrew Laz Fleming.  It 

determines the terms and conditions of employment and annual remuneration of the executive directors.  It 

consults with the Chief Executive Officer, takes into consideration external data and comparative third 

party remuneration and has access to professional advice outside the Company.   

 

The key policy objectives of the Remuneration Committee in respect of the Company’s executive directors 

are: 

- To ensure that individuals are fairly rewarded for their personal contribution to the Company’s overall   

performance; and 

- To act as the independent committee ensuring that due regard is given to the interest of the Company’s 

shareholders and to the financial and commercial health of the Company 

Directors’ Remuneration, including employer’s PRSI, during the year ended 30 June 2017 was as follows: 

 

    2017 2016 

    Total Total 

    € € 

 

Remuneration and other emoluments – Executive Directors   - - 

Remuneration and other emoluments – Non-Executive Directors  - - 

    _______ ______ 

 

    - - 

    ======== ======= 

 

Nomination Committee 

At present, as the Board is small, no formal nomination committee has been established.  The authority to 

nominate new Directors for appointment vests in the Board of Directors.  All Directors co-opted to the 

Board during any financial period are subject to election by shareholders at the first opportunity following 

their appointment.  Consideration to setting up a nomination committee is under continuous review. 

 

Statement of Director’s Responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial 

statements in accordance with applicable Irish Law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each 

financial year.  As permitted by company law, the Directors have prepared the Group financial statements 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IRFSs) as adopted by the EU (EU IFRS) 

and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with EU IFRS, as applied in 

accordance with the provisions of Companies Act 2014. 

 

The Group and Company financial statements are required by law and EU IFRS to present fairly the 

position and performance of the Group; the Companies Acts provide, in relation to such financial 

statements, that reference in the relevant part of the Acts to financial statements giving a true and fair view 

are references to their achieving a fair presentation. 
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In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

 

-  select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

 

-  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 

- disclose and explain any material departures from applicable accounting standards; 

 

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume the 

Company, and the Group as a whole, will continue in business. 

 

The directors confirm that they have completed with the above requirements in preparing the financial 

statements. 

 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and Group and which enable them to ensure 

that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in 

Ireland, and comply with the Companies Act 2014, the European Communities (Companies; Group 

Accounts) Regulations 1992 and all regulations to be construed as one with those Acts. 

 

They are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 

included on the Company’s website.  Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and 

dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

Accounting records 

The measures taken by the Directors to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 282, 

Companies Act 2014, regarding proper books of accounts are the implementation of necessary policies and 

procedures for recording transactions, the employment of competent accounting personnel with 

appropriate expertise and the provision of adequate resources to the finance function. The books of 

accounts of the Company are maintained at 70 Ballybough Road, Ballybough, Dublin 3. 

 

Auditors 

The auditors, O’Leary Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors, have indicated their willingness to 

continue in office in accordance with the provisions of Section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014. 

 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

 

 

_____________________  ___________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director  Director 

Date:    29
th

 November 2017 
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We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of IMC 

Exploration Group Public Limited Company for the year ended 30
th

 June 2017 which comprise of the 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Company 

Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Company Statement of Cash 

Flows and notes thereon.    These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies 

set out on pages 19-23. 

 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 336 of the 

Companies Act 2014.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s 

members those matters that we are required to state to them in the audit report and for no other purpose.  

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

Company or the Company’s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we 

have formed. 

 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
The Directors responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance 

with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union 

(“IFRS”) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on pages 7-8. 

 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 

requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and have 

been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.  We also report to you whether, in 

our opinion; proper books of accounts have been kept by the Company; whether at the Statement of 

Financial Position date, there exists a financial situation requiring the convening of an extraordinary 

general meeting of the Company; and whether the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent 

with the financial statements.  In addition, we state whether we have obtained all the information and 

explanations necessary for the purposes of our audit and whether the Company’s financial positon is in 

agreement with the books of account. 

 

We report to the shareholders if, in our opinion, any information specified by law or the listing rules of the 

ISDX markets regarding Directors’ remuneration and Directors’ transactions is not given and, where 

practicable, include such information in our report. 

 

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with 

the audited financial statements.  This other information comprises only the “Chairman’s Statement and 

Review of Activities”.  We consider the implications for our audit report if we become aware of any 

apparent misstatement or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.  Our responsibilities do 

not extend to any other information. 

 

Basis of opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and 

Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.  An audit includes examination, on a test 

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  It 

also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the 

directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and whether the accounting 

policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed. 
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We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we 

considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or 

error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in 

the financial statements. 
 

Opinion                                                                                                                                                                                                         
In our opinion: 

 

-  the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS’s as adopted by the 

EU, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 30 June 2017 and of its loss for the year then ended; 

 

-  the Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

EU and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014, of the state of the 

Company’s affairs as at 30 June 2017; and 

 

-  the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014. 

 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Company. The Company Statement of 

Financial Position is in agreement with the books of account. 

 

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report on pages 4 – 8 is consistent with the financial 

statements. 

 

Emphasis of Matter – Going concern and carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets                                                                         

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we considered: 

 

(a)  the adequacy of disclosures made in Note 10 to the financial statements in relation to the Directors’ 

assessment of the carrying value of the Group’s deferred exploration costs amounting to €587,666. 

 

(b) the adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 1 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. The Group incurred a net loss of €267,507 for the year ended 30 

June 2017. 

 

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments 

that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern. 

 

 

------------------------------------------------------ 

Patrick O’Leary 

For and on behalf of 

 

O’Leary Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors 

 
 

Whitebeam, 9 Oakglade Crescent, Ballycullen, Dublin 24 

Date: 29
th

 November 2017 
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Continuing Operations 

 

 

  Notes  2017 2016 

 

Administrative expenses    (267,507) (410.007) 

 

Operating Loss for the period  4.  (267,507) (410,007) 

 

Finance Income    - - 

Loss on sale of investment    - - 

Amount written off investment  5.  - - 

    __________ _________ 

 

Loss for period before tax    (267,507)- (410,007) 

  

Income tax expenses  8.  - - 

    _________ _________ 

Total comprehensive loss for the period    (267,507) (410,007)  

    ========= ========= 

 

Loss attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company    (267,507) (410,007) 

    ========= ========= 

 

Total Comprehensive Loss attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company    (267,507) (410,007) 

    ========= ========= 

Earnings per share 

From continuing operations 

Basic and Diluted loss per share (cent)    0.002 0.004 

    ========= ========= 

 

All activities derived from continuing operations. All losses and total comprehensive losses for the period 

are attributable to the owners of the Company. 

 

The Company has no recognised gains or losses other than those dealt with in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The Financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29
th

 November 2017 and signed on 

its behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

_____________________________   __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan   Nial Ring   

Director    Director   
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 Share Share Retained 

 Capital Premium Losses Total 

 € € € € 
 

Balance at 30 June 2015 112,410 1,739,769 (1,407,949) 444,230 

 __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Total comprehensive income for the period  

Loss for the period  - - (410,007) (410,007) 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (410,007) (410,007) 

         ----------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity  

contributions by and distributions to owners 

Shares issued  33,500 497,646 - 531,146 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Total transactions with owners  - - - -  

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

 

Balance at 30 June 2016 145,910 2,237,415 (1,817,956) 565,369 
 __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period  

Loss for the period  - - (267,507) (267,507) 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (267,507) (267,507)  -------------------- --------------------- -------------------- ---------------- 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity  

contributions by and distributions to owners 

Shares issued  20,700 251,722 - 272,422 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

Balance at 30 June 2017  166,610 2,489,137 (2,085,462) 570,285 

 

  __________ ___________ __________ _________ 

 

 

Net equity is attributable to the holder of the ordinary shares in the Group. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of Directors on 29
th

 November 2017 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director Director 
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   Share Share Retained  

   Capital Premium Losses Total 

   € € € € 

 

Balance at 30 June 2015  112,410 1,739,769 (1,035,809) 816,370 

   ______ ______ _______ ________ 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Loss for the year  - - (407,042) (407,042) 

   ------------- ------------ -------------- -------------- 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - (407,042) (407,042) 

   ------------ ------------- -------------- --------------- 

 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Shares issued  33,500 497,646 - 531,146 

Shares issue costs  - - - - 

   ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Total transactions with owners  33,500 497,646 - 531,146 

   ------------ ------------ ------------ ----------- 

 

Balance at 30 June 2016  145,910 2,237,415 (1,442,851)  940,474 

   _______ _______ ______ _____ 

 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Loss for the year  - - (277,529) (277,529) 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - - 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Shares issued  20,700 251,722 - 272,422 

Share issue costs  - - - - 

   _______ _______ ______ ______ 

Total transactions with owners  20,700 251,722 - 272,422 

   _______ _______ ______ ________ 

 

Balance at 30 June 2017  166,610 2,489,137 (1,720,381) 935,366 

   ======== ======= ======= ======== 

 

Net equity is attributable to the holders of the ordinary shares in the Company. 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 - 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 29
th

 November 2017 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

________________________  ____________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director  Director 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2017 

 

 

  Notes  2017 2016 

 

Assets 

Intangible assets  10  587,665 587,665 

Property, plant and equipment  11  - - 

Investments  12  - - 

    __________ __________ 

Total Non-Current Assets    587,665 587,665 

    __________ __________ 

 

Current Assets 

Trade and other receivables  13  81,018 95,047 

Cash and cash equivalents    (19,464) 61,742 

    __________ __________ 

Total Current Assets    61,553 156,789 

    __________ __________ 

 

Total Assets    649,219 744,454 

    ========= ========= 

 

Equity 

Share Capital  15  166,610 145,910 

Share premium  15  2,489,137 2,237,415 

Retained deficit  16  (2,085,462) (1,817,956) 

    __________ _________ 

Attributable to owners of the Company  17  570,285 565,369 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity    570,285 565,369 

    __________ __________ 

 

Liabilities – Current 

Trade and other payables    67,943 168,094 

Current tax liabilities    10,991 10,991 

    __________ __________ 

Total Liabilities  14  78,934 179,085 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity and Liabilities    649,219 744,454 

    ========= ========= 
    

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form and integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The Financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29
th

 November 2017 and signed on 

its behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan                             Nial Ring 

Director                             Director 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Company Statement of Financial Position 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2017 

 

 

  Notes  2017 2016 

 

Assets 

Non- Current Assets     
Financial Investments  12  30,365 30,365 

    __________ __________ 

Total Non-Current Assets    30,365 30,365 

    __________ __________ 

 

Current Assets 

Trade and other receivables  13  958,836 972,865 

Cash and cash equivalents    16,100 97,329 

    __________ __________ 

Total Current Assets    974,935 1,070,194 

    __________ __________ 

 

Total Assets    1,005,300 1,100,559 

    ========= ========= 

 

Equity 

Share Capital  15  166,610 145,910 

Share premium  15  2,489,137 2,237,415 

Retained loss  16  (1,720,381) (1,442,851) 

    __________ _________ 

Equity Attributable to equity shareholders   935,366 940,474 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity    935,366 940,474 

    __________ __________ 

 

Liabilities – Current 

Trade and other payables  14  58,943 149,094 

Current tax liabilities  14  10,991 10,991 

    __________ __________ 

Total Liabilities    69,934 160,085 

    __________ __________ 

Total Equity and Liabilities    1,005,300 1,100,559 

    ========= ========= 
    

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18-38 form and integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29
th

 November 2017 and signed on 

its behalf by: 

 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

_____________________________  __________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 

Director Director 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2017 

   

  Notes  2017 2016 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 

Loss for the year    (267,507) (410,007) 

 

Adjustments for: 

Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss   - - 

Depreciation    - 1,465 

    ________ ________ 

 

Cash from operations before changes in working capital   (267,507) (408,542) 

 

Movement in trade and other receivables    14,029 16,624 

Movement in trade and other payables     (100,151) 12,140 

    _________ _______ 

 

Net cash flow from operating activities    (353,629) (379,778) 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Interest received  22  - - 

Proceeds from sale of investments  22  - - 

Taxation  22  - - 

Acquisitions and disposals  22  - (62,941) 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash (used in) investing activities    - (62,941) 

    _________ ________ 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from the issue of new shares  22  272,422 531,146 

Finance income/(expense)    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash generated by financing activities   272,422 531,146 

    _________ ________ 

 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  23  (81,207) 88,427 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 23  61,742 (26,685) 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 23  (19,464) 61,742 

    ========== ======== 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 – 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29
th

 November 2017 and signed on 

its behalf by: 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

 

__________________________  ________________________ 

Liam McGrattan  Nial Ring 
Director Director 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Company Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30
th

 June 2017 

   

  Notes  2017 2016 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 

Loss for the year    (277,529) (407,042) 

 

Adjustments for: 

Income tax expenses recognised in profit and loss   - -    ________ ________ 

 

Cash from operations before changes in working capital   (277,529) (407,042) 

 

Movement in trade and other receivables    14,029  (52,817) 

Movement in trade and other payables    (90,151) 17,140 

    _________ _______ 

 

Cash generated from operations    (353,651) (442,719) 

Income tax received    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash flows from operating activities    (353,651) (442,719) 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of investments    - - 

Interest received    - - 

Taxation    - - 

    _________ ________ 

 

    - - 

    _________ ________ 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from the issue of new shares    272,422 531,146 

    _________ ________ 

 

Net cash used in financing activities    272,422 531,146 

    _________ ________ 

 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents in the year   (81,229) 88,427 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year   97,329 8,902 

    _________ ________ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year   16,100 97,329 

    ========== ========= 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 – 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29
th 

November 2017 and signed on 

its behalf by: 

 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

__________________________   ________________________ 

Liam McGrattan   Nial Ring 

Director Director 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

Notes to the Financial Statements                                                                                                                                                                       

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

 

5. Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS’s) as adopted by the EU. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The accounting policies 

have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that IMC 

Exploration Group Public Limited Company will continue in operational existence for the 

foreseeable future. 

The Directors are satisfied that they have adequate funding to cover the administrative expenses of 

the Company and Group for the next 12 months. 

The Directors also intend to raise additional finance during 2017/2018 to fund further exploration 

programmes. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result if the additional capital is 

not raised. Whilst taking into consideration the uncertainties described above, the Directors believe 

that it is appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis. 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements   

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

……………. Continued 

 

6. Statement of Accounting Policies 

Accounting Convention 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. 

 

IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company (“the Company”) is a company incorporated in 

Ireland. The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiary 

(together referred to as the “Group”). 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these consolidated financial statements and by all group entities. 

 

Statement of Compliance 

As permitted by the European Union, the Group financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) and their interpretations 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the EU (IFRS). The 

individual financial statements of the Company (“Company financial statements”) have been 

prepared in accordance with the IFRS’s as adopted by the EU and as applied in accordance with the 

Companies Act 2014 which permits a company that publishes its Company and Group financial 

statements together, to take advantage of the exemption in Section 297 of the Companies Act 2014, 

from presenting to its members its Company Statement of Comprehensive Income and related notes 

that form part of the approved Company financial statements. 

 

The IFRS’s adopted by the EU as applied by the Company and the Group in the preparation of 

these financial statements are those that were effective on or before 30 June 2017. 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

……………. Continued 

 

 

 

Functional and Presentation Currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro (€), which is the Company’s functional 

currency. 

 

Use of Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

 

In particular, significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial 

statements are in the following areas 

Note 10 – Intangible asset; measurement of impairment 

Note 8 – Deferred Tax; utilisation of tax losses 

 

Revenue Recognition – Interest revenue 

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 

 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of IMC Exploration Group 

Public Limited Company and its subsidiary undertaking for the year ended 30 June 2017. 

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, 

directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities. In assessing the control, potential voting rights that are currently 

exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 

that control commences until the date that control ceases. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 

been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains or losses or income or expenses arising from 

intragroup transactions are eliminated in preparing the Group financial statements. 

 

In the Company’s own balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provisions 

for any permanent diminution in value. 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

……………. continued 

 

Intangible Assets 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets  

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 6 – Exploration for and Evaluation 

of Mineral Resources, the Group uses the cost method of recognition. Exploration costs include 

licence costs, survey, geophysical and geological analysis and evaluation costs, costs of drilling and 

project-related overheads. 

 

Exploration expenditure in respect of properties and licences not in production is capitalised and is 

carried forward in the balance sheet under intangible assets in respect of each area of interest where: 

(v) the operations are ongoing in the area of interest and exploration or evaluation activities 

have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or 

otherwise of economically recoverable reserves; or 

(vi) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of 

the area of interest or alternatively by its realisation. 

 

When the Directors decide that no further expenditure on an area of interest is worthwhile, the 

related expenditure is written off or down to an amount which it is considered represents the 

residual value of the Group’s interest therein. 

  

Impairment  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each year end reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 

impairment. If any such indication exists then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. For 

intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount 

is estimated at each year end reporting date. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 

exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that 

is expected to generate cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. 

Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Impairment losses 

recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 

any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 

unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its 

fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 

to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Plant and Equipment are stated at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation. Subsequent 

costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 

Group. Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost less residual value of each 

asset over its expected useful life, as follows: 

 

Fixtures and Fittings -   20% Straight Line 

 

The residual value of the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually 

and adjusted if appropriate at each statement of financial position date. 

 

On disposal of property, plant and equipment the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and 

impairments are removed from the financial statements and the net amount, less any proceeds, is 

taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

……………. continued 

 

 

Income Tax Expense  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in 

profit and loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity, in which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 

income or equity respectively. 

 

Current corporation tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 

respect of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 

amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary 

differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable 

profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will 

not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to 

be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 

each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 

benefit will be realised. 

 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same 

time as the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised. 

 

Foreign Currencies 

Monetary assets and liabilities dominated in a foreign currency are translated into Euro at the 

exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date, unless specifically covered by foreign exchange 

contracts whereupon the contract rate is used. Revenues, costs and non monetary assets are 

translated at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. All exchange differences 

are dealt with through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Euro at the 

rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the 

restatement of the opening balance sheets of these subsidiary Companies are dealt with through 

reserves. The operating results of overseas subsidiary Companies are translated into Euro at the 

average rates applicable during the year. 

 

Share Capital 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 

recognised as a reduction in equity. 

 

Earnings Per Share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic 

EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 

potential ordinary shares. 
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……………. continued 

 

Share based payments 

For such grants of share options, the fair value as at the date of grant is calculated, taking into 

account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as 

an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are likely to vest, except 

where forfeiture is only due to market-based conditions not achieving the threshold for vesting. 

The corresponding credit is to a share based payment reserve. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in 

hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts 

that are repayable on demand and form part of the Group’s cash management are included as a 

component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of Statement of Cash Flows. 

 

Trade and Other Receivables/Payables 

Trade and other receivables and payables are stated at cost less impairment, which approximates 

fair value given the short dated nature of these assets and liabilities. 

 

Finance Income 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and foreign currency gains. Interest 

income is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest rate method) to the net 

carrying amount of the financial asset. 

 

Segmental Information 

In accordance with IFRS 8: Operating Segments, the Group has one principle reportable segment, 

ie: Ireland, which represents the exploration for and the development of gold, zinc and other 

minerals in Ireland. 

 

Other operations ‘Corporate’ includes cash resources held by the Group, interest income earned 

and other operational expenditure incurred by the Group. These areas are not within the definition 

of an operating segment. 

 

Financial Assets – Investments in Subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost and are reviewed for impairment if there are 

indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
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……… continued  

 

3.  Segment Information  

 

The group is engaged in one business segment only – exploration of mineral resource projects. Therefore 

only an analysis by geographical segment has been presented. The group has geographic segments in 

Ireland. 

 

The segment results for the periods are as follows:  

 

Segment Revenues and Results 

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable 

segment. 

 

 

 Segment Revenue  Segment Loss 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 € € € € 

Loss for period to 30 June 2017 - - (267,507) (410,007) 

 ________ ________ _________ __________ 

Total for continuing operations - - (267,507)  (410,007) 

          =========     ======  

 

Investment Income   - - 

 

Amount written off investments   -          - 

Loss on sale of investments   - - 

Finance costs   - - 

   _________  _______ 

Loss before tax (continuing operations)   (267,507)  (410,007) 

 

Income tax expense    -  - 

   _________  _______   

Segment loss for period   (267,507) (410,007) 

 

   =========   ======= 

    

 

Segment assets and liabilities 

 

   2017 2016 

Segment Assets     € € 

Exploration – Ireland   649,219 744,454 

   _______ ______ 

 

Consolidated assets   649,219 744,454 

   ======= =======  

 

Segment Liabilities  

Exploration – Ireland    78,934  179,085 

                 _______              

_____-  

Consolidated Liabilities    78,934 179,085 

 

   =======  ======= 
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……… continued  

 

 

Other segment information  

 

 Depreciation and   Additions to 

  Amortisation                           non-

current assets 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 € € € € 

Exploration - 1,465 - 62,941 

                                                                          ======                 ======               ======   ===== 

 

 

Revenue from major products and services 

The Group received revenue from the sale of shares in Global Resources Investment Trust (GRIT), 

an LSE quoted company. 

 

Geographical information  

The Group operates in one geographical area – Republic of Ireland. 

 

 

4.  Loss on ordinary activities before taxation 

 

Group   2017 2016 

   € € 

 

This is arrived at after charging: 

Depreciation of tangible assets    - 1,465 

Auditors’ remuneration   15,000 15,500 

Auditors’ remuneration from non-audit work   - - 

                                                                                                                                 =======   ======   

 

   2017 2016 

Company    € € 

 

This is arrived at after charging: 

Auditors’ remuneration   15,000 14,000 

Auditors’ remuneration from non-audit work   - - 

                                                                                                                                   ======   ====== 

 

 

As permitted by Section 297 of the Companies Act 2014, the company Statement of 

Comprehensive Income has not been separately disclosed in these financial statements.  

 

 

5.  Amounts written off investments    2017 2016 

   € € 

 

Amounts written off fixed asset 

investments:  

-diminution in value (see Note 12)   - -   

   =======  ====== 
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6.     Interest receivable and similar income    2017 2016 

   € € 

 

Bank Interest    - - 

                                                                                                                                              ======      =====  

 

 

7.  Employees     

 

Number of employees 

The average monthly numbers of employees  

(Including the directors) during the year were:   2017 2016 

   Number Number 

Directors    0 0 

Employee   0 0 

 

 

Employment costs (including directors)   2017 2016 

   € € 

 

Wages and salaries    - - 

Social welfare costs    - - 

   ______ _______ 

 

   - - 

   ======= ======== 

 

 

7.1  Directors’ emoluments  

 

   2017 2016  

   € € 

 

Remuneration and other emoluments    - - 

                                                                                                                                              ======  ====== 
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8. Income tax expense    2017  2016 

     € € 

 

 Current year taxation 

 Corporation tax expense in respect of the current year  - - 

 Corporation tax expense in respect of underprovision in prior years  - - 

     _______ _______ 

 

 Total expense    - - 

     ======= ======= 

 

 

 The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows: 

 

 Loss on ordinary activities before tax   (267,507) (410,007)     _______ _______ 

 Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by 

 standard rate of corporation tax of 12.5% (2016 – 12.5%)  (33,438) (51,251) 

 

     ======== ======== 

 

 

 The tax rate used for the year end reconciliations above is the corporate rate of 12.5% payable by 

corporate entities in Ireland on taxable profits under tax law in the jurisdiction of Ireland. Income tax 

expense recognised relates to surcharges on directors loans. 
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9. Loss per share      

 

Basic earnings per share 

The basic and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per 

share are as follows: 

 

   2017 2016 

   € € 

Loss for the period attributable to equity holders of     (267,507) (410,007) 

The parent     

  

   ======== ========= 

 

Number of ordinary shares in issue – start of year   107,816,719 74,316,719 

 

Effect of shares issued during the year   20,700,000 33,500,000 

   ------------------ -------------------- 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes   128,516,719 107,816,719 

of basic earning per share 

   ========== ========== 

 

Basic Loss per ordinary share (cent)   - (0.01) 

 

 

10. Intangible assets – Group   2017 2016 

   € € 

    

Cost    587,665 587,665 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment    - - 

   ________ ________ 

   587,665 587,665 

   ======== ========= 

 

 

   Exploration and Total 

  Evaluation Assets 

   € € 

 

Cost  

Opening cost   587,665 587,665 

Additions    -  

   ________ ________ 

   587,665 587,665 

   ======== ======== 

 

The Directors have considered expenditure on exploration and evaluation activities which have been 

capitalised at cost. No amortisation has been charged in the period. The Directors have reviewed the 

carrying value of the exploration and evaluation assets and consider it to be fairly stated and not impaired 

at 30 June 2017. The recoverability of the intangible assets is dependent on the future realisation or 

disposal of the copper, silver, gold and other mineral, resources.  
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11. Tangible assets  

         

 

 Fixtures & Total    

 fittings    

     

 € €  

Cost  

At 1 July 2016 6,125 6,125  

Additions  - - 

 ------------ ------------   

 6,125 6,125 

 ------------ ------------   

Depreciation 

At 1 July 2016 6,125 6,125  

Change for the year - - 

 ------------ ------------ 

At 30 June 2017 6,125 6,125 

 ------------ ------------ 

Net book values 

At 30 June 2016 - - 

 ====== ====== 

At 30 June 2017 - - 
      =====  =====  
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12. Financial assets - Company   Subsidiary   

    Undertakings Listed 

    Shares Investments Total 

    € € € 

 Group undertakings 

 Shares at cost 

 

 At 1 July 2016   30,365 38,738 69,103 

 Shares disposals during year   - - - 

    _____ ______ _____ 

 At 30 June 2017   30,365 38,738 69,103 

 

 Provisions for 

 Diminution in value: 

 At 1 July 2016   - 38,738 38,738 

 Movement   - - - 

 Share Disposals   - - - 

    _____ ______ _____ 

 At 30 June 2017   - 38,738 38,738 

 

 Net book values 

 At 30 June 2017   30,365 - 30,365 

    ======= ======= ======= 

 

 At 30 June 2016   30,365 - 30,365 

    ======= ======= ======= 

 

 At 30 June 2017 the Company had the following subsidiary undertaking: 

 

 Name Incorporated in   % shares 
 IMC Exploration Limited Ireland   100 

 

 The aggregate amount of capital and reserves and the results of these undertakings for the last    

relevant financial year were as follows: 

 

  Capital and reserves  Profit for Year 
   €  € 

 IMC Exploration Limited  (355,353)  10,023 

   ________  ______ 
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for the year ended 30
th

 June 2017 

 

……………continued 

   

13. Trade and other receivables  Group Group Company Company 

   2017 2016 2017 2016 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts owed by group undertaking - - 881,878 887,813 

 Other receivables  8,485 22,515 4,425 12,520 

 Directors Accounts  43,962 43,962 43,962 43,962 

 Called up share capital not paid  28,570 28,570 28,570 28,570 

 Prepayments and accrued income  - - - - 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

   81,018 95,047 958,836 972,865 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 Amounts falling due after more than one year and included in debtors are: 

 

   Group Group Company Company 

   2017 2016 2017 2016 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts owed by group undertaking - - 881,878 887,813 

 Called up share capital not paid  28,570 28,570 28,570 28,570 

   _______ _______ ________ _______ 

   

   28,570 28,570 910,448 916,383 

   ======== ======== ========= ======== 

  

14. Trade and other payables  Group Group Company Company 

   2017 2016 2017 2016 

   € € € € 

 

 Amounts falling due within one year 

 Corporation tax  10,991 10,991 10,991 10,991 

 Other taxes and social welfare costs  - - - - 

 Other payables  3,008 107,958 3,008 107,958 

 Accruals and deferred income  64,935 60,136 55,935 41,136 

   ______ ______ ______ _____ 

 

   78,934 179,085 69,934 179,088 

   ======= ====== ====== ====== 

 

 Other taxes and social welfare costs: Group Group Company Company 

   2017 2016 2017 2016 

   € € € € 

 

 PAYE/PRSI  - - - - 

   ===== ===== ==== ==== 
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……………continued 

   

15. Share capital     2017 2016 

     € € 
 

 Authorised equity 

 400,000,000 Ordinary shares of €0.001 each   400,000 200,000 

 50,000 “A” Ordinary shares of €1 each   50,000 50,000 

     ______ ______ 

  

     450,000 250,000 

     ======= ======= 

 Issued Capital 

 Ordinary Shares fully paid up  Number of shares Share Capital Share Premium 

     € € 

 Balance at 1 July 2015   74,316,719 74,317 1,739,764 

 

 Shares Issued for-Cash   33,500,000 33,500 497,646 

    _________ ________ ________ 

 

 Balance at 30 June 2016   107,816,719 107,817 2,237,415 

    ========== ======== ========= 

 

 Balance at 1 July 2016   107,816,719 107,817 2,237,415 

 Shares Issued for Cash    15,000,000 15,000 152,179 

Shares Issued for Non Cash    5,700,000 5,700 99,953 

    _________ ________ ________ 

 

 Balance at 30 June 2017   128,516,719 128,517 2,489,137 

    ========== ======== ========= 

 

Fully paid ordinary shares which have a par value of €0.001 carry one vote and carry a right to 

dividends. 

 

 A Ordinary Shares Partly Paid  Number of shares Share Capital Share Premium 

     € € 

 

 Balance at 1 July 2016   38,093 38,093 - 

    _______ _______ _______ 

 

 Balance 30 June 2017   38,093 38,093 - 

    ======== ======= ======== 

 

Partly paid “A” ordinary shares which have a par value of €1 carry no voting rights or rights to 

dividends. 

 

 Total Shares    Share Capital Share Premium 

       € € 

 Total at 1 July 2016    145,910 2,237,415 

 Shares Issued    20,700 152,179 

     ______ ________ 

 

 Total at 30 June 2017    166,610 2,489,137 

                             ========== ===== 
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 June 2017 

 

 

……………continued 

   

16. Retained Losses  Group Group Company Company 

   2017 2016 2017 2016 

   € € € € 

 

 Loss at beginning of year  (1,817,956) (1,817,956) (1,442,851) (1,035,809) 

 Loss for the year  (267,507) (410,007) (277,529) (407,042) 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

 Loss at end of year  (2,085,462) (1,817,956) (1,720,381) (1,442,851) 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014, the Company has not 

  presented an Income Statement.   A Loss for the year of €277,529 (2016 – loss of €407,042) has 

been  

 dealt with in the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Company. 

 

 

17. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds  2017 2016 

     € € 

 

 Loss for the year    (267,507) (410,007) 

 Net proceeds of equity share issue    272,422 531,146 

 Other recognised gains or losses    - - 

     _______ _______ 

  

 Net deductions from/additional to shareholders funds . 4,915 121,139 

 Opening shareholders funds    565,369 444,230 

     _______ _______ 

  

 Equity shareholders’ funds    570,285 565,369 

     ======== ======= 
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……………continued 

   

18. Transactions with Directors 

 

 Loans to Directors     Maximum 

   Opening  Closing Outstanding 

   Balance Movement Balance In Year 

   € € € € 

 Names of Director 

 Andrew Laz Fleming  4,124 - 4,124 4,124 

 Gareth V Jones (Resigned on 19
th

 December 2013) 8,952 - 8,952 8,952 

 Glenn Millar  6,957 - 6,957 6,957 

 Nial Ring  10,880 - 10,880 10,880 

 Liam McGrattan  6,454 - 6,454 6,454 

 Hugh Gibney (Resigned on 19
th

 December 2013) 6,595 - 6,595 6,595 

   ______ _____ _______ ______ 

  

 Amounts due by Directors as at 30 June 2017 43,962 - 43,962 43,962 

   ======= ====== ======= ======= 

 

 The loans which are interest free are repayable on demand. 

 

  

 

 

19. Post Balance Sheet events. 

 

 There were no significant post balance sheet events. 
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20.          Share-based payments 

 

Share Options   

                                                                                                                                                                                                     

 

On 27
th

 March 2015 the Directors approved the IMC Exploration Group Public Limited Company 

2015 Share Option Scheme. 

 

Under this Share Option Scheme all of the Directors (past and present) have an option to purchase 

200,000 shares at a weighted average price of GBP£0.10. The option expired on 26
th

March 2017. 

 

 

 

21.         Related Party Transactions 

                                                                                                                                                    

Details of subsidiary undertakings are shown in Note 12. In accordance with International 

Accounting Standard 24 – Related Party transactions between group entities have been eliminated 

on consolidation and are therefore not disclosed. 
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……………continued 

 

   

22. Gross Cash Flows 

     2017 2016 

     € € 

 Returns on investment and servicing of finance 

 Interest received    - - 

 Proceeds from sale of investments    - - 

     _____ ______ 

 

     - - 

     ===== ====== 

 

 Taxation 

 Corporation tax paid     - - 

     _____ ______ 

 

     - - 

     ====== ====== 

 

 Capital expenditure and financial investment 
 Payments to acquire intangible assets   - 62,941 

 Payments to acquire tangible assets     - - 

 Payments to acquire investments    - - 

     ______ _______ 

  

     - 62,941 

     ======= ======== 

 Financing  

 Issue of ordinary share capital    272,422 531,146 

 Issue costs    - - 

     ______ _______ 

     

     272,422 531,146 

     ======= ======= 

 

 

23. Analysis of changes in net funds  

    Opening  Cash Closing 

    Balance flows balance 

    € € € 

 

 Cash at bank and in hand   61,742 (81,206) (19,464) 

    ______ ______ _____ 

   

    61,742 (81,206) (19,464) 

    ------------ ------------ ----------- 

 

 Net Funds   61,742 (81,206) (19,464) 

    ======== ======= ======= 
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24.         Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management  

                                                                                                                            

The Group and Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents. 

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group and 

Company’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as 

receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. 

 

It is, and has been throughout 2017 and 2016 the Group and Company’s policy that no trading on 

derivatives be undertaken. 

 

The main risks arising from the Group and Company’s financial instruments are foreign currency 

risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and capital risk. The board reviews and agrees 

policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below. 

 

Foreign currency risk                                                                                                                                                                             

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign countries. Hence, exposures to 

exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy 

parameters utilising forward exchange contracts where appropriate. 

 

At the year ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, the Group had no outstanding forward 

exchange contracts. 

 

Credit Risk                                                                                                                                                                                     
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 

in financial loss to the Group. As the Group does not, as yet, have any sales to third parties, this 

risk is limited. 

 

The Group and Company’s financial assets comprise receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with 

high credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. The Group and Company’s 

exposure to credit risk arise from default of its counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to 

the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents in its consolidated balance sheet. 

 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 

group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having 

similar characteristics if they are connected entities. 

 

Liquidity risk management                                                                                                                                                              

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not have sufficient funds to meet liabilities. Ultimate 

responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an 

appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group and 

Company’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The 

Group manages liquidity by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring 

forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 

liabilities. Cash forecasts are regularly produced to identify the liquidity requirements of the 

Group. To date, the Group has relied on shareholder funding to finance its operations. The Group 

had no borrowing facilities at 30 June 2017. 

 

The Group and Company’s financial liabilities as at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 were all 

payable on demand.  
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The expected maturity of the Group and Company’s financial assets (excluding prepayments) as 

at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 was less than one month. 

 

The Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows with an appropriate 

mix of funds and equity investments. The Group further mitigates liquidity risk by maintaining an 

insurance programme to minimise exposure to insurable losses. 

  

The group had no derivative financial instruments as at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016. 

 

Interest rate risk                                                                                                                                                                                           

The Group and Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates 

primarily to the Group and Company’s holdings of cash and short term deposits. 

 

It is the Group and Company’s policy as part of its disciplined management of the budgetary 

process to place surplus funds on short-term deposit in order to maximise interest earned. 

 

Capital Risk Management                                                                                                                                                                                

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 

going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt 

and equity balance. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light 

of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Group may 

adjust or issue new shares or raise debt. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 

processes during the years ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016. The capital structure of the 

Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, 

reserves and retained losses as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

 

Fair values                                                                                                                                                                                                     

The carrying amount of the Group and Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities is a 

reasonable approximation of the fair value. 

 

Hedging                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

At the year ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, the Group had no outstanding contracts 

designated as hedges. 

 

25.          Approval of financial statements 

                                                                                                                                                               

The financial statements were approved by the board on 29
th

 November 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



IMC EXPLORATION GROUP PLC  
 
 

 
 

 

INTERIM FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

Chairman’s Statement. 
 
Financial Results for IMC Exploration Group PLC ('IMC' or ‘the Company’) for the year ended 31st December 2017 
 
 
Dear Shareholder,  
The Directors of IMC Exploration Group plc are pleased to present the Interim Financial  
Results for ('IMC') for the six months to 31st December 2017.  
  
Over the past number of months IMC has been engaged in a strategic review of all its projects.   It was decided IMC 
would concentrate on its three main projects: Tailings and Spoils project in Avoca, Co. Wicklow, North Wexford Gold 
Project and IMC’s Zinc Project in Tulla, Co. Clare. 
 
IMC’s feasibility study on its flagship project in Avoca, Co. Wicklow is continuing and to that end the Company has 
signed a Heads of Agreement with Trove Metals Limited which is expected to lead to a joint venture agreement, 
subject to the approval of the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment.   
 
Following an assessment of IMC’s highly prospective north Wexford gold project, it is apparent to IMC that the 
licence clearly has untested potential for primary gold mineralisation. Drilling and float sampling indicates that the 
Kilmichael area contains significant gold grades in a structurally complex setting (CPR 2018).  To date, IMC has 
completed six drillholes with highly positive results. 
 
IMC’s Zinc Project lies adjacent to the Kilbricken zinc deposit in Tulla, Co. Clare and Shannon, Co. Clare.  It is on the 
north-eastern margin of a block of licences that have produced significant exploration results by other operators. The 
Kilbricken deposit, c. 15 km to the southwest and held by Hannon Metals, has an NI 43-101-compliant resource of 
2.7Mt at 8.8% zinc equivalent (indicated) and 1.7Mt at 8.2% zinc equivalent7 (inferred). IMC recently has drilled on 
the licence area. 
 
We are in on-going positive discussions regarding Koza’s role in IMC.  IMC has enjoyed a good working relationship 
with Koza over several years and, by mutual agreement, the current IMC/Koza Joint Venture has been set aside.  We 
are assured of, and look forward to, their contribution to the future of IMC.  
 
Following our indepth this strategic review it was decided IMC has requested permission from the Exploration and 
Mining Division (“EMD”) of the Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment to relinquish a 
number of base metal licences, so that we could concentrate on the three main projects described above.  
 
Your Directors believe the conclusions of this review to be positive and constructive. Concentrating on completion of 
our works’ programme on our main projects will, in the opinion of your Board, accelerate progress to realising the 
potential of IMC’s projects to the benefit of all shareholders.   
 
 
______________________ 
LIAM MCGRATTAN 
CHAIRMAN 
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Unaudited Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period ended 31 December 2017 
   

        

        

   

Six Months 
 

Six Months 
 

Year Ended 

 
Notes 

 
31-Dec-17 

 
31-Dec-16 

 
30-Jun-17 

        

     

Euro 
 

Euro 

Continuing Operations 
       Revenue 
  

- 
 

- 
 

- 

Other Income / (Expense) 
  

0 
 

0 
 

0 

        Administrative Expenses 
  

(74,680) 
 

(98,919) 
 

(267,507) 

        (Loss) before tax 
  

(74,680) 
 

(98,919) 
 

(267,507) 

        Income tax expense 
  

0 
 

0 
 

0 

        (Loss) for period from continuing operations 
  

(74,680) 
 

(98,919) 
 

(267,507) 

        Other Comprehensive income 
    

- 
 

- 

        
Loss for the period and total comprehensive loss for the period 

 
(74,680) 

 
(98,919) 

 
(267,507) 

        Earning per share (all continuing) 
       Loss per ordinary share - basic & diluted 1 

 
(0.001) 

 
(0.001) 

 
(0.002) 
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Unaudited Consolidated Statement of Financial Position As at 31 
December 2017 

   

Six Months 
 

Six Months 
 

Year Ended 

 
Notes 

 
31-Dec-17 

 
31-Dec-16 

 
30-Jun-17 

        Non Current Assets 2 
 

587,666 
 

587,666 
 

587,666 

        Current assets 
       Debtors 
  

78,747 
 

88,688 
 

81,018 

Cash and cash equivalents 
  

(35,362) 
 

300 
 

(19,464) 

        
Total assets 

  

631,050 
 

676,654 
 

649,219 

        

        Equity and liabilities 
       

        Equity 
       "A" Ordinary Share Capital 
  

38,093 
 

38,093 
 

38,093 

Ordinary Share Capital 
  

136,017 
 

107,817 
 

128,517 

Share Premium - Ord Shares 
  

2,554,409 
 

2,237,415 
 

2,489,137 

Retained Earnings 
  

(2,160,143) 
 

(1,916,874) 
 

(2,085,462) 

        Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 
  

568,376 
 

466,451 
 

570,285 

        Current Liabilities 
       Trade & Other Payables 
  

62,674 
 

210,203 
 

78,934 

        Total liabilities 
  

62,674 
 

210,203 
 

78,934 

        
Total equity and liabilities 

  

631,050 
 

676,654 
 

649,219 
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Unaudited Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the period ended 31 December 2017 

   

"A" 
 

Share 
  

   

Ordinary Ordinary Premium 
  

   

Share  Share  Ordinary Retained 
 

   

Capital Capital Shares Losses Total 

   

Euro Euro Euro Euro Euro 

        Balance at 30 June 2016 
  

38,093 107,817 2,237,415 (1,817,956) 565,369 

        Loss for the Period 
     

(267,507) (267,507) 
Other Comprehensive loss for the 
period 

  

        - 

        Issue of share capital 
   

20,700 251,722 
 

272,422 

Share Issue Costs 
  

        - 

        Balance at 30 June 2017 
  

38,093 128,517 2,489,137 (2,085,462) 570,285 

        Loss for the Period 
     

(74,680) (74,680) 
Other Comprehensive loss for the 
period 

  

        - 

        Issue of share capital 
   

7,500 65,272 
 

72,772 

Share Issue Costs 
  

        - 

        Balance at 31 December 2017 
  

38,093 136,017 2,554,409 (2,160,143) 568,376 
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Accounting Policies 
       

        Basis of Preparation 
       

        The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 
      The financial statements are presented in Euro. 

       

        1. Statement of Compliance 
       

        

The consolidated year end financial statements of IMC Exploration Group PLC and its subsidiary have been not reviewed by the 
auditor and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union (EU). In addition to complying with its legal obligation to comply with IFRS as adopted for use in the EU, the Group has also 
complied with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
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Notes to and forming part of the annual financial statements 
      

        1.   Loss per Share 
       

        
Basic loss per Ordinary Share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss for the period attributable to ordinary  
equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the period. 

        Basic earnings per share 
       The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows: 

  

        

   

Six Months 
 

Six Months 
 

Year Ended 

   

31-Dec-17 
 

31-Dec-16 
 

30-Jun-17 

        Loss for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent 
 

74,680 
 

98,919 
 

267,507 

        Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic 
earning per share 136,016,719 

 
128,516,719 

 
128,516,719 

        Basic (loss) per ordinary share 
  

(0.001) 
 

(0.001) 
 

(0.002) 
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2.   Non Current Assets 
       

    

Exploration  Plant and Financial 
 

    

Expenditure Equipment Assets Total 

    

Euro Euro Euro Euro 

Cost 
       At 30 June 2016 
   

587,665 6,125 38,738 632,528 

Additions/Disposals 
   

- - - 0 

At 30 June 2017 
   

587,665 6,125 38,738 632,528 

Additions/Disposals 
   

- - 0 0 

At 31 December 2017 
   

587,665 6,125 38,738 632,528 

        Provision for diminution in value 
       At 30 June 2016 
   

- (6,125) (38,738) (44,863) 

Charge for period 
   

- 0 - 0 

Disposal 
   

- 0 - 0 

At 30 June 2017 
   

- (6,125) (38,738) (44,863) 

Charge for period 
   

- - 0 0 

At 31 December 2017 
   

- (6,125) (38,738) (44,863) 

        Net book value 
       

At 31 December 2017 
   

587,665 0 0 587,665 

        

        Expenditure on exploration activities is deferred on areas of interest until a reasonable 
assessment can be determined of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves. No amortisation has been charged in the period. The Directors have reviewed the 
carrying value of the exploration and evaluation assets and consider it to be fairly stated and 
not impaired at 31 December 2017. The recoverability of the exploration and evaluation 
assets is dependent on the successful development of the group's licence areas. 
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3.   Share capital - Group and Company 
       

   

31-Dec-17 
 

31-Dec-16 
 

30-Jun-
17 

   

Euro 
 

Euro 
 

Euro 

        200,000,000 Ordinary shares of Euro 0.001 each 
  

400,000 
 

200,000 
 

400,000 

50,000 "A" Ordinary shares of One Euro each 
  

50,000 
 

50,000 
 

50,000 

   

450,000 
 

250,000 
 

450,000 

        Issued, called up and fully paid 
       

     

Number of Share Share 

     

shares Capital Premium 

      

Euro Euro 

Euro 0.001 Ordinary Shares 
       At 30 June 2016 
    

107,816,719 107,817 2,237,415 

Issued in period 
    

20,700,000 20,700 251,722 

At 30 June 2017 
    

128,516,719 128,517 2,489,137 

Issued in period 
    

7,500,000 7,500 65,272 

At 31 December 2017 
    

136,016,719 136,017 2,554,409 

        Issued, called up and partly paid 
       

     

Number of Share Share 

     

shares Capital Premium 

      

Euro Euro 

One Euro A Ordinary Shares 
       At 30 June 2016 
    

38,093 38,093 - 

Issued in period 
    

- - - 

At 30 June 2017 
    

38,093 38,093 - 

Issued in period 
    

- - - 

At 31 December 2017 
    

38,093 38,093 - 

        "A" Ordinary Shares have the right to receive notice of and attend but not to vote at general 
meetings, no right to a dividend, right to return of capital but no further right to participate in 
a distribution of assets of the company. 
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The Directors of the issuer accept responsibility for this announcement. 
     

        

        Contact Details: 
       

        IMC Exploration Group PLC 
       Mr. Liam McGrattan 
       Tel.  Ireland +353 872745427 
       

        

        This announcement is distributed by PR Newswire on behalf of the company. 

        
The issuer of this announcement warrants that they are solely responsible for the content, accuracy and originality of the information 
contained therein. 
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